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THE NATIONAL DRUGS ADVISORY BOARD 

The National Drugs Advisory Board was established by the Minister for Health in 1966 by the National Drugs 

AdviSOry Board (Establishment) Order 1966 (S.I. No. 163 of 1966) under the Health (Corporate Bodies) Act 1961. 

The functions of the Board are set out in Article 4 of this Order as amended by the National Drugs Advisory 

Board (Establishment) Order 1966 (Amendment) Order 1974 (S.I. No. 178 of 1974) and the National Drugs 

AdviSOry Board (Establishment) Order 1966 (Amendment) Order 1985 (S.I. No. 220 of 1985) and are as follows:-

(a) to organise and administer a service for obtaining and assessing information as regards the safety of 

new and reformulated drugs and in particular, their toxicity and other adverse effects. 

(bl to organise and administer a service for obtaining and assessing reports on-the adverse effects of drugs 
in use in the State. . 

leI to advise the Minister and others concerned as to the precautions or restrictions, if any, subject to which 
drugs may be marketed or continued in use in the State. 

(d) if requested by the Minister, consider and report to him on the arrangements to be made for the quality 
control of drugs, for the registration and inspection of the premises of drug manufacturers, importers 
and wholesalers, and for sampling and testings of drugs. 

Ie) if requested by the Minister, to advise on the licensing of the manufacture, importation, distribution and 
sale of drugs, on the standards of manufacturing practice (including quality control) of manufacturers of 
drugs and on the certification for export purposes or for any other purposes of drugs. 

(f) 

(g) 

if requested by the Minister and subject to such conditions as he may approve, to arrange for the 
collection and dissemination. of information in respect of drugs, their pharmacological classification and 
therapeutic efficacy and in respect of economies in prescribing. 

if requested by the Minister, to make recommendations regarding standards for the composition, purity 
and strength of drugs and for the methods of testing drugs. 

(hI to consider and report to the Minister on such general or particular matters in regard to drugs as he may 
refer to the Board for advice. 

(i) to exercise such powers as a competent authority or otherwise for the purposes of the implementation 
of the Directive No. 81/851/EEC (a) of the Council of the European Communities as may be assigned to 
the Board by the Minister in pursuance of the European Communities Act, 1972 (No. 27 of 1972). 

Note: 

Iii Official Journal of the European Communities No. 23176/1111981 (Pages 1-15). 

(ii) Under the terms of the Control of Clinical Trials Act 1987 the Board was assigned responsibilities for the 
scientific assessment of clinical trial applications. 
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IlIIrodllctioll by the Chairmall 

The past four years have seen events with considerable 
implications-for the Board. The volume of work has contin
ued to grow in the established areas of authorisation and 

monitoring of human and veterinary medicines, licensing 
and monitoring of manufacturing facilities and in the area of 

clinical trials. In addition however. the Board's responsibili
ties in relation to European product harmonisation have 
greatly increased. Restriction on the Board's ability to 
increase its staff complement means that overall staff num
bers are practically unchanged from those contained in our 
1991 report. Since European matters have required a pro

gressive increase in the proportion of staff time devoted to 
this area, there has been a corresponding and unfortunate 
reduction in staff resources available for purely national 
activities. 

The retirement in 1992. of Dr. Allene Scott, Medical Director 
of the National Drugs Advisory Board since its establishment 
in 1966, was a major landmark and removed a person who 

worked almost constantly at the Board's activities over that 
period. It is with regret that I also have to note her untimely 

death shortly after retirement. 

The:establishment of a central agency for Europe, the 

European Medicines Evaluation Agency, is a major step 

towardS harmonisation of medicinal products'throughout the 

European Union. The progressive moves towards mutual 
recognition, resulting in proposed full recognition in 1998 

have important implications for the availability of medicines 

throughout Europe and will have a major impact on regulato
ry processes. 

Applications 
Received On file, Clinical 

Dec 31 Trials 

1985 641 2154 
1986 711 2374 
1987 687 2137 
1988 592 2008 
1989 659 2037 210 
1990 842 2491 240 
1991 840 2853 178 
1992 589 2860 205 
1993 651 2416 213 
1994 679 2477 252 

Renewals Manu
Pending fecturers 

49 
54 
51 
70 

1870 78 
1074 76 
1045 80 
1548 85 
1814 90 
2049 91 

Whole
Salers 

82 
84 
81 
79 

132 
136 
135 
128 
132 
136 

The consolidated reports presented in this volume detail the 

Board's activities during the period 1991 - 1994. It is of inter

est in this context to review various trends for human 

medicines over the ten years 1985 - 1994 inclusive. On aver

age, 689 applications per year were made with a significant 
increase to well over 800 for each of the years 1990 and 

1991. The yearly average number of pending applications 

over the decade was 2477 with a significantly greater figure 
of well over 2800 for each of the years 1991 and 1992, follow

ing the larger number of applications. This figure deserves 
further comment to place it in context. Up until the end of 

1994, an aggregate of 15,522 applications has been received 
by the Board. This resulted in completed assessments and 
recommendations for licensing to the Department of Health 
in 10,416 cases, or 67%. Formal withdrawals, suspensions 
and lapsed authorisations were 2,629. or 17%. The remaining 
2,477 included those under active considerati,on, those held 
awaiting further information and a residue of files for which 

assessment is complete but for one of a number of reasons 
have not been removed from statistical evaluation. These 
reasons include, information requested but never received, 
products for which a licence was refused but whose,formal 
withdrawal or rejection has not taken place, or time-expired 
or superseded applications. 

J 

Over the decade, the amount of work involved in processing 

each application has considerably grown and new applica

tions now can span dozens of volumes of information requir

ing exhaustive evaluation and are typically three times the 

size of those received ten years ago. In the most recent six 
years, an average of 1567 renewals of product authorisations 
has been awaiting issue at year end. This numtjer has shown 

an upward trend in the most recent period. At present this 
area is receiving priority attention and at time of writing. 
every file up to 1st January 1995 has been examined and 
appropriate action taken. As a result, of the 2049 renewals 
files classified as pending at the end of 1994, all but approxi
mately 100 have now been dealt with. 

As a further step, outstanding applications, including those 
referred to above will receive attention with a view to a ratio
nalisaflon and reduction by the end of 1995. During 1994 a 
"fast track" system has been introduced for Novel Chemical 

Entities (NCE's) which has reduced approval times (assuming 
satisfactory submissions) to a few months. 

In the period since the introduction of legislation concerning 

control of clinical trials, the Board has received on average, 

more than 200 applications per year to conduct clinical trials. 
Attention to good study design, to appropriate inclusion and 

exclusion criteria and to practices which minimise the need 

for amendment applications will avoid undue delays in con
sideration of protocols. 

Also shown are the numbers of manufacturing and whole-, 

sale licenses at the end of each year during the decade. The 

increase in the numbers of manufacturers reflect the consid
erable expansion of the pharmaceutical industry in Ireland 

over that time. In addition the majority of individual manu
facturers have increased'in size and complexity. This has 

resulted in considerable increases in requirements for 

inspection activities, a trend likely to continue. 

Information Technology has progressively assumed a more 
important role in the Board's activities and will be vital to 

future operating procedures. Computer facilities are available 
to all staff and we have seen the installation of the Swedis 

system and access to various informatio~ databases. Projects 

for the near future include CD-Rom based systems for infor
mation retrieval. 

This is a time of change for the Board. The appointment of a 
new Chief Executive Officer coincides with the Board becom

ing the competent authority for licensing of human 

medicines, a responsibility which it already discharges for 

veterinary medicines. The expansion'of the Board's activities 
will take place alongside the major changes in European reg

ulatory affairs and will afford an opportunity for the Board to 
enhance its high standing. 

A huge debt of gratitude is owed to the members of the 

Board and its Expert Committees. Their generous contribu

tion of time and expertise has been of inestimable value to 
those who receive medicines and those who prescribe and 

administer them. Lastly, but by no means least. the contribu

tion of each staff member of the Board deserves recognition 
for a willing and professional attitude to an activity carrying 
much responsibility. 

.9?eoUI/ CJ'Jfj{tllfYj 
, Chairman. 
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I.GENERAL MATTERS 

The names of the members of the Board, its Comminees and 

its officers on the 31st December, 1991 afe listed in the 
following-section. 

On the 23rd,January, 1991, the Minister for Health re-appointed 

Mr. T.A. McGuinn, Professor R.E Timoney. Professor M.G.T. 
Webb, Professor J. Feely. Dr. J. Strange and Dr. K. Connolly to 
membership of the Board for the period ending 30th June, 
1991. On the 12th July, 1991, the Minister appointed Dr. D. 
Poole,and re-appointed Mr. T.A. McGuinn, Professor R.F. 
Timoney, Professor M.G.T. Webb, Professor J. Feely. Dr. J. 
Strange and Dr. K. Connolly to the Board for the period ending 
30th June. 1992. 

On the 25th September, 1991, the Minister for Health-re

appointed Mr. M.e. Gaynor, and Mr. P.E Nowlan to membership 
of the Board for the periods ending 30th July, 1992 and 31st 
Aug.ust 1992 respectively. 

On the 18th December, 1991, the Minister fer Health appointed 
Mr. M. Mclaene, Mr. l. Dunbar and D.M. Wiley to membership 

of the Board for the period ending 31st December, 1994. 

BOARD 
K. O'MALLEY M:D., Ph.D., D.Sc., F.R.C.P.I., F.R.C.P. 

(Ed .1, 

Registrar and Professor of Clinical Pharmacology, Royal 
College of Surgeons, Dublin· CHAIRMAN. 

K. CONNOLLY M.B., F.R.C.P.I., D.C.H., Consultant 
Paediatrician, Portiuncla Hospital, Ballinasloe, Co. Galway. 

L. DUNBAR 

Chief Executive Officer, St. James Hospital. 

J. FEELY B.Sc., M.A., M.D., F.R.C.P.I., F.R.C.P.(Ed.I, 

Professor of Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 

University of Dublin. 

G.R. FITZGERALD M.B., B.Ch., F.R.C.P., 

Consultant Physician, Ardkeen Regional Hospital, Waterford. 

M.C. GAYNOR M.V.B., B.L., M.A., M.Sc., 
Dip.A.H.Dip.E.L., M.R.C.V.S., 

Superintending Veterinary Inspector, 

Department of Agriculture and Food, Kildare Street, 
Dublin 2. 

K. McGARRY M.B., B.Ch., F.R.C.P.I., D.C.H., 

Consultant Physician, Our Lady's Hospital, Navan, 

Co. Meath. 

T.A. McGUINN B.Sc.(Pharm.I, F.P.S,I., 

Chief Pharmacist, Department of Health, Dublin. 

M. MCLOONE 

Chief Executive Officer, Beaumont Hospital. 

A. MEADE M.B., B.Ch., D.P.H., 

Stillorgan, Co. Dublin. 

• 

In January, 1991, Dr. G. Bury, M.B., D.Ch., M.R.C:P.I., 
M.R.C.G.?, Dept of General Practice, 

Mercer's Health Centre. Dublin and D.O. Fitzgerald M.D., 
F.R.C.P., M.R.C.P., 
Consultant Physician, St.Vincent's Consultants Private 
Clinic, Dublin accepted the Board's invitation to serve on 
the Comminee for Drug Usage and Adverse Reactions. 

The Board noted with regret the deaths during the year 
of two former Board Members, Dr. Maura O'Dwyer and 
Dr. Thomas"Hanratty. 

Two members of the Veterinary Comminee, .. Mr. J. Barrett 
and Mr. M.J. Hope-Cawdery, resigned during the year. The 
Boar9 recorded its appreciation of their contributions 
during their membership of the Committee. 

Dr. D. Poole accep"ted the Board's invitation to serve on the 

Veterinary Committee on September 1st. 

Ms. C. Kloos and Mr. E. Bourke took up their posts as 
Pharmacists to the Board in March 1991. 

* Lale 

P.F. NOWLAN M.V.B., M.Sc.(Tox.I, M.R.C.V.S., 

Lecturer in Laboratory Animal Science and Manager, 

Bio-Resources Centre, University of Dublin. 

T.V. O'DWYER M.B., F.F.C.M.I., D.C.H., L.M., 
D.Obst.(R.C.O.G.I, 

Deputy Chief Medical Officer, Department of Health, 
Dublin 2. 

D.P. O'MAHONY M.D., 

Department of Pharmacology, University College, Cork. 

D. POOLE M.Sc., Ph.D., M.R.C.V.S., 

Lucan, Co. Dublin. 

G.G. SHAW B.Pharm., M.A., Ph.D., M.R.Pharm.S., 

Professor of Pharmacology. School of Pharmacy, 

University of Dublin. 

J. STRONGE M.B., B.Ch., M.A.O., F.R.C.O.G., 

Master; National Maternity Hospital, Holies Street. 

Dublin. 

R.F. TIMONEY Ph.D., M.Sc., F.P.S.I., F.R.S.C., 

Foxrock, Dublin 18. 

M.G.T. WEBB M.B., M.PHIL., F.R.C.P.I., F.R.C. Psych., 

Professor of Psychiatry, University of Dublin. 

M. WILEY 

Senior Research Officer, 

The Economic and Social Research Institute. 



COMMfITEE ON EVALUA'nON AND TOXICITY 

• PROFESSOR R.F. TIMONEY Chairman. 

M.L. CONALTY 

Dublin. 

TD, FEELEY 

MD .. ERC.Path .. D.P.H .. M.R.I.A .. 

M.Sc .. Ph.D .. M.Chem.A .. ER.I.C .. 

Public Analyst. Public Analyst's 
Laboratory, Regional Hospital, Galway. 

LB. HILLARY MD .. F.R.C.P.! .. F.R.C.Path .. D.P.H .• 

D.C.H., Associated Professor Medical Microbiology 
(Virology),University College Dublin. 

B. LEONARO B.Sc .• Ph.D .• D.Sc .• M.R.I.A .. 

Professor of Pharmacology, University College, Galway. 

• TA. MC GUINN 

• D.I' O'MAHONY 

• G.G. SHAW 

III lJenfJIt' ... member oj 'h~ Hoard 

COMMITTEE ON DRUG USAGE AND ADVERSE 
REACTIONS 

• PROFESSOR J. FEELY 

G.P. BURY 

Chairman. 

M.B .. D.Ch .• M.RC.P.I.. M.R.C.G.P .• 

Department of General Practice, Mercer's Health Centre. Dublin. 

D.N, CARNEY M.D .. Ph.D .• ERC.I'I.. 

Consultant Medical Oncologist. Mater Hospital, Dublin 7. 

• DR. K. CONNOLLY 

• DR. G,R. FITZGERALD 

O. FITZGERALD M.D .. ER.C.P .. M.R.C.P .• 
Consultant Physician. St. Vincent's Consultants Private Clinic. 

PROFESSOR D. GILL M.B .• ERC.P.I.. B.Sc .. D.C.H .. 

Professor of Paediatrics, Royal College of Surgeons. Dublin. 

• DR. K. MCGARRY 

• DR. T.V. O'DWYER 

• DR. J. STRONGE M.B .• B.Ch .• MAO .• ER.C.O.G .. 
Consultant Obstetrician. National Maternity Hospital. 

• PROFESSOR M.G.T WEBB M.B .. M.Phil .. ER.C.P.I., 

F.R.C.Psych .• 

Professor Psychiatry, University of Dublin. 

'" Dellole,'- member lif the Board 

VETERINARY COMMITTEE 

• MR. P.E NOWLAN 

M.A. GARGAN 

Chairman. 

B.Ag.Sc .. 

Agricultural Inspector, Department of Agriculture and Food. 

Kildare Street. Dublin 2. 

• M.C. GAYNOR 

M.B.T LAMBERT 

EI.C.I.. 

B.Sc .• M.A .. Ph.D .. F.R.S,C .• C.Chem .. 

Professor of Equine Forensic Research, University of Dublin. 

G. LANE M.V.B .. M.R.C.V.S .. 

Abbeyville Veterinary Hospital, Togher Road. Cork. 

D.P, LEADON 
F.RC.V.S .. 

M.A .. M.V.B .. M.Sc .• 

Irish Equine Centre. Johnstown, Co. Kildare. 

P.J. O'CONNOR M.V.B .. D.V.S.M .. M.RC.V.S .. 

Senior Research Officer, Veterinary Research Laboratory, 
Abbotstown. Castleknock, Co. Dublin. 

• D. POOLE 

'" I)e/l"'f'\- memher of the Board 
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COMMITTEE ON CLINICAL TRIALS 

• Dr. G.R FITZGERALD 

Dr. L.T. BANNAN 

Chairman. 

M.B .. B.Ch .. 

Consultant Physician. letterkenny General Hospital, 

Co. Donegal. 

Dr. T.G. DINAN M.A .. M.D .. M.R.C.Psych .. 

Consultant/Senior Lecturer, Sl. James's Hospital, Dublin 8. 

• DR K. MCGARRY 

• DR. T.V. O'DWYER 

Dr. I'A. SULLIVAN M.B .• BCh .. M.RC.P.. ERC.P'I .. 

Consultant Physician. General Hospital. Mallow, Co. Cork. 

• PROFESSOR G.G. SHAW 

" f)enlll(''1 memher "I"u' Huard 

OFfiCERS OF THE BOARD 

Medical Director 

ALLENE I. scon 
Deputv Medical Director 

MARIE T BURNS 

Medical Assessors 

MARY McCARTHY 

ANTHONY A.J. O'BRIEN 

MARY E. TEELING 

Senior Veterinary Officer 

CYRIL O'SULLIVAN 

Veterinary Officer 

J. GABRIEL BEECHINOR 

M.D .• F.R.C.P .. F.R.C,P.II). 

M.B.. D.A .• F.EA.R.C.S.1. 

M.B .. Ch.B .. M.Sc. 

M.B .• B.Ch .• BAO .• B.A .. 
M,R.C.P.1. 

M.D .. B.Ch .. BAO .. B.Sc .. 

M.RC.P.1. 

M.V.B .. M.Sc .. M.R.C.V.S. 

M.V.B .. M.V.M .. M.R.C.V.S .. 

Certified Diploma in Accounting and Finance. 

Senior Pharmacist 

J. MICHAEL MORRIS 

Pharmacists 

EDDIE BOURKE 

EUGENIE B. CANAVAN 

B.Sc.{Pharm.), Ph.D .. 

M.R.Pharm.S .• M.P,S.1. 

B.Sc.IPharm.1. M.Sc .. M'p.S.1. 

B.Sc.iPharm.J. M.Sc .. M.P'S.I.. 

Diploma in Business and Financial Studies for Graduates 

IU.CD.J 

CAITRIONA M. FISHER 

BEATRICE HUGHES 

VINCENT IRWIN 

B.Sc.iPharm.1. PhD .• M.P.S.1. 

B.Sc.iPharm.1. M.Sc .• M.P.S.1. 

B.Sc.IPharm.l. Ph.D .. M.P.S.I .. 

Diploma in Statistics. Graduate Diploma in Industrial 

Chemistry. 

CHRISTL KLOOS 

DEIRDRE T. MANNION 

VINCENT MORLEY 

Dip.Chern.Eng. 

B.Sc.IPharm.1. M.P.S.1. 

B.Sc.IPharm.1. Ph.D .• M.I'S.1. 

B.A .. B.Sc.IPharm.J. M.P.S.I.. 

Senior Adverse Reactions Officer 

Niamh C. Arthur 

Senior Inspector 

JOHN LYNCH 

Inspector 

DAVID HAYES 

Secretary 

BRENDAN MURPHY 

Assistant Secretary 

MICHAEL CASEY 

R.G.N .. R.M .. Dip.Pharmacology. 

B.Sc.IPharm.1. M.Sc .. M.P.S.1. 

B.Sc.IPharm.J, M.I'S.1. 



2. HUMAN MEDICINES 

2.1 Introduction 
This year marked the second year of evaluating clinical trial 

applicatfons under the terms of the Control of Clinical Trials Act 
(1987). With increasing use of the system, the processes of 
evaluation and approval became progressively smoother. It is 

still worth noting however, that a relatively large proportion of 
applications required referral to the applicant and subsequent 
modification. In many cases these modifications were minor 
and could have been avoided to the advantage of the applicant 
by referring to the appropriate guidelines, available from the 
Board. 

2.2 Licensing Activities 
During 1991 the Board received'S40 applications for product 

authorisations to market medicinal preparations. As a result of 
the Board's assessment activities. 393 products were recom

mended for licensing. Eighty five applications were withdrawn 
following assessment. At year end there were a total of 2.853 

product applici'llion files for which no recommendations for 

licensing had been made. These included files under assess
ment and awaiting assessment, files awaiting responses to 

questions and files where a recommendation to license had not 

been granted but where no formal withdrawal had been made 
or formal rejection issued. 

In the case of existing authorised products. 517 authorisations 

were renewed. 313 authorisations were withdrawn or cancelled 

and 1.045 products were awaiting issue of renewals at year 
end. There were an estimated 7.221 products carrying product 

authorisations at year end. 

The Board received 2,128 applications for amendments for 

changes in the terms of product authorisatil?ns. A total of 1.825 

amendments were approved. There were 1,843 amendments 
awaiting assessment for which approval had not been given al 
year end. 

2.3 European Community 

The Board's staH continued to be heavily involved in the 
Committee for Proprietary Medicinal Products (CPMP) and its 

various Working Parties. The Board was represented on the 

following Working Parties - Safety of Medicines. Efficacy of 
Medicines, Operations, Quality of Medicines, 

Biotechnology/Pharmacy and Pharmacovigilance. The first 

International Conference on Harmonisation of Technical 
requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human 

Use (lCH) took place in Brussels in November 1991. 

2.3.1 CPMP Working Party on Safety of 
Medicines 

This'Working Party melon two occasions in 1991. Drafting of 

the following guidelines progressed:- categorisation of medici
nal products in pr€!gnancy, stereoisomerism, reproduction taxi· 

city, recommendations for the development of pre-clinical test
ing strategy. Use of ethylene oxide in the manufacture of 

medicinal products was also discussed. Other topics included: 
Limits of solvent impurities in medicinal products and pharma· 
cokinetics in carcinogenicity studies. Work continued on defin· 
ing recommended formats for the Summary of Product 
Characteristics, toxicological inclusions and assessment 
reports. 

2.3.2 CPMP Working Party on Efficacy 

Discussions continued in this group on the following:· form 

and content of the Summary of Product Characteristics of ben
zodiazepines used as anxiolytics or hypnotics. statements relat
ing to use of medicinal products in pregnancy and investiga
tion of chiral active substances. The guidelines on investigation 

of bioavailability and bioequivalence were finalised and adopt
ed by the CPMP. 

" 

2.3.3 CPMP Working Party on Pharmacovigilance 

This Working Party continued to meel at the same time as 
the CPMP Plenary meeting throughout the year. The main 

task of the group was to draw up guidelines for the 

harmonisation of pharmacovigilance systems within the 
member states. A system for harmonising causality assoss
ment in all member states was agreed. The group met with 
Dr Ralph Edwards, Medical Director of the WHO ProgramTfle 

on International Drug Monitorin9 to discuss the possibility of 
closer co-operation between the WHO and EC in 
pharmacovigilance matters. The WHO definitions on 

Adverse Drug Reaction (ADRJ reporting were discussed. 
The Working Pany also finalised a report on the association 
between the use of L-tryptophan and the development of 
eosinophilia myalgia syndrome (EMS), This report was 
adopted by the CPMP. 

2.3.4 CPMP Operations Working Party 

This Working Party continued to work on the drawing up of 
procedures for increased harmonisation in drug regulatory 

activity between the Member States. The following 

guidelines were completed by the group and formally 

adopted by the CPMP:- Guidelines on Abridged Applications. 
Guidelines on Summary of Product Characteristics, 

Definition of a new active substance. Discussions continued 

on the following:- new format of the Part IA form, the role 

of the rapporteur in the multistate anti concertation 
procedures, the revision of the Notice to Applicants and the 

format of the assessment report. 

2.3.5 CPMP Working Party on Quality of 
Medicines 

The Quality Working Party of the CPMP met on four 
occasions during 1991. Guidelines on specification and 

control tests on finished products were finalised. Guideli~es 
on excipients, plastic packaging, materials, manufacture of 
the dose form. ionising radiation, ethylene oxide were under 

preparation. Ireland acted as rapporteur for a guideline on 
quality of prolonged release preparations. Work continued 

on implementation of the European Drug Master File proce
dure, while the European Pharmacopoeia began its own 

Monograph Certification scheme for drug substances. 

Preparatory work of the first International Conference on 
Harmonisation inctuded the drafting of a new stability 
guideline. 

2.3.6 Working Party on Biotechnology/Pharmacy 

The Working Party met six times during 1991 and 

considered applications through the Concertation Procedure 

(Directive 87/221 for a number of products. Work was 
undertaken on the guidelines for validation of virus removal 

and requirements for blood products. There was significant 

discussion also relating to products of bovine origin and a 
guideline on issues relating to bovine spongiform 

encephalopathy and medicinal products was developed 
and implemented by CPMP. 



2.4 Pharmacovigilance 

2.4. 1 Adverse Drug Reactions 

The Board received 1,197 reports of adverse drug reactions. 

General practitioners provided the largest source of these 
(34.3%) followed by pharmaceutical companies (21.2%). hospi· 
tal monitoring studies (18.7%) and hospital doctors (16.3%). 

There were 42 deaths recorded in association with drug use. Of 
these 27 were related to the primary illness. 

There were 20 reports of drug interactions. Many of these may 
be attributed to a pharmacological mechanism. 

Detailed tabulations-and descriptions of the above have been 
published in a separate report. (Reports of Side Effects 

Associated with the Use of Drugs, 1991). 

2.4.2 Comments on Specific Drugs 

Bela Carolene 

The Committee on Drug Usage and Adverse Reactions consid

ered requirements of total Vitamin A intake and made recom
mendations on the limits which should be applied to OTC vita

min preparations. It was recommended that Beta Carotene in 

doses greater than 10 mg should limited to prescription avail

ability only. 

Diuretics 

A significant number of side-effects associated with the use of 
diuretics has been reported. a number of which have been sus

pected as due to a combination of products. Practitioners are 

reminded to review patients medication regularly to avoid com

plications resulting from add-on therapy. 

FllIl'oxamine 

A special post-marketing su rveillance of Fluvoxamine was dis

continued in the'latter part of 1991. The majority of side-effects 
reported were of a stimulant nature as would be expected for 

this type of antidepressant drug. 

Lamo/rigine 

Special post-marketing monitoring was carried out on this 

novel antiepileptic drug used in the treatment of refractory 
epilepsy. Most of the side·effects reported fell into the catego

ry of the type 'expected' for the product. One case of acute 
manic behaviour progressing to psychosis was reported in a 26 

year old woman who also had pronounced insomnia while on 

treatment. Insomnia persisted on reduced treatment and all 

symptoms subsided on discontinuing therapy. 

l..ora/adille 

Few reports of adverse drug reactions were received for this 

novel antihistamine drug. Only one case of sedation was 
reported in Ireland and international data seems to indicate a 

low incidence of such"effects. 

Mercurochrome and Gentian Violet 

The Board considered applications for products containing 
these weak antiseptic substances and could not recommend 

their authorisation. Mercurials have long been known to have 
toxic effects and such products could not demonstrate ade
quate safety in regard to their efficacy. In relation to "gentian 
violet (crystal violet> and other triphenylmethane dyes. these 
substances have been shown to interact with DN.A of living 
cells. Since the antimicrobial efficacy of these substances is 
low, the Board could not recommend authorisation for crystal 
violet preparations. 

NOll Sieroidal Allli-illflammalory Drugs 

Reports of adverse drug reactions associated with this category 
of drugs continue to be among those most frequently submit· 

ted to the Board. Of particular concern are reports suspected 
as due to additive effects associated with the use of concurrent 

medication including non-prescribed drugs such as 

II 

aspirin/paracetarpo[ and combination cough/cold remedies 

mainly comprising these ingredients. 

Phellothiazi lies 

Following a review of reports of a possible association 
between promethazine and Sudden Infant Death Syndrome 
documented in the medical literature the Board 
recommended that use of such products should be 
contraindicated in children under 2 years of age and should 
be available only on prescription in children under 12 years 

of age. 

Terodi/il/e 

A number of reports of adverse drug reactions including 
cardiac rate and rhythm disturbances associated with 
terodiline were reported to the Board in 1991. The majority 

of these reports were notified to the Board following a 
warning letter issued to doctors and pharmacists in August 
1991 which outlined risk factors for the development of such 

effects. Throughout the world 36 cases of ventricular 
tachycardia, 14 cases of bradyarrhythmia and 8 deaths were 

reported where a possible association between drug and 

effect were susp~cted. The majority of cases occurred in 
the U.K. In September 1991 the product was withdrawn by 

the company from all marketsworldwide. 

[.-tryplophall 

Numerous reports of the development of a syndrome 
characterised by eosinophilia myalgia, arthralgia, breathless

ness and pulmonary infiltrates (EMS) in patients taking oral 

tryptophan products, outside Ireland, were notified to the 

Board, throughout 1990. Most of the products involved 
were sold as health foods but a few were prescription 

medicines for use in the management of depression, 

insomnia etc" 

It was not known whether the cause was related to the 
tryptophan itself or a contaminant from the manufacturing 

process. Although there were no reports of this syndrome 

in Ireland, the Board recommended that until all factors 
relating to the development of EMS had been clarified. oral 

prescription tryptophan-containing products should only be 
available to named patients already on the medication. 

2.5. Clinical Trials 
The Board considered 178 applications to conduct clinical 

trials. Of these 20 (11%) were in category 1 
(authorised products within the te~_ms of the authorisation). 

31 (17%) were in Category 2 (new use of an authorised 

product) and 127 (71%) were in category 3 (new active 

ingredients, new formulations of established active 
ingredients Or studies with a placebo limb). Modifications 

of the protocol were required in 10% of applications. Two 

prOlocols were refused permission. 

3. VETERINARY MEDICINES 

3.1 Introduction 
Significant progress was made with the review of 
veterinary medicines. However, poor Quality dossiers and 
delays in replying to questions raised"continued to erode 
into the time available for assessment of review applications. 
This was viewed as a cause for concern in view of the 
number of applications awaiting assessment and the 
resources available to meet the statutory duties of the 

Board. 

The adverse drug reaction recording scheme continued to 
operate satisfactorily although it was noted that there was 
still a relatively small number of veterinary practitioners 

participating in this scheme. This most important aspect of 

a licensing scheme will continue to be actively promoted. 



In some cases, companies felt that where no medicinal claim 

was made for a product then it was outside the scope of a 

licensing scheme. It was emphasised that this was not neces

sarily the case and companies were advised to consult the 
Board's officers for direction in this area. Likewise it was noted 

that products-described as containing natural substances or 
ingredients might come within the scope of the licensing 
scheme. The fact that a substance is of natural origin does not 
mean that it is without toxic or other undesirable side effects. 

When it became obvious that some products which were used 
infrequently and in very low quantities in veterinary therapeu

tics might be put at risk because of the requirements of product 
registration and might, in the future, cease to be available, 
efforts were ma,de to identify such products. Regretfully the 
responses were few and of little assistance in identifying these. 

It was noted that medicines used in intensive husbandry sys

tems, - pig, poultry and fish products - must be authorised in 
the usual manner. Companies supplying such medicines were 

reminded of the responsibilities under national and EC legisla
tion and of the need to have such products authorised. 

Combination products continued to be of concern. It was 

emphasised that the rationale for such formulations must be 
clearly stated and justified scientifically. An area of particular 

concern was that of mastitis therapy where a number of prod

ucts contained three,or more antibacterials and where insuffi
cient scientific justification for the choice or dosage of the 

ingredients was provided. 

3.2 Licensing Activities 

During the year 362 applications for veterinary product authori

sation were received by the Board. Authorisations to market 58 

products were issued during that period. Five applications were 
rejected and 26 applications were withdrawn during the year. 

The Board received 27 applications for amendments and varia
tions to veterinary production authorisations. All were approved. 

At year end there were a total of 1,163 files under assessment, 

awaiting assessment, awaiting resolution of queries or for which 
approval had not been given but which had not been formally 

withdrawn or licensed. 

3.3. European Community 

3.3.1 Council Regulation 2377/90 

This regulation, which was adop~ed on 26th June 1990 and 

comes into effect on 1st January 1992, lays down a Community 

procedure to establish maximum residue limits (MRLs) for all 

active compounds currently authorised for use in food producing 
animals over the five year period 1992 - 1996. Furthermore, from 

January'1, 1992 Member States will not be permitted to autho

rise any new compound intended for use in food-producing ani

mais unless a MRL has been set by the Community.The regula
tion has obvious implications for the veterinary pharmaceutical 

industry requiring the provision of toxicological data on existing 

compounds and in applying for marketing authorisations for 
new compounds. 

3.3.2 Committee for Veterinary Medicinal 
Products (CVMP) 

The Committee met six times during the year. Significant time 
was given to the consideration of the future system for veteri
nary medicinal products in the EC. A central agency with the 
responsibility for both veterinary and proprietary medicines 
was proposed. Amendments to Directives 81/851/EEC and 
81/852/EEC were considered and some changes proposed. The 
need to simplify the Multistate procedure was recognised and 

it was proposed that the number of states involved in this pro
cedure be reduced. The assessment of two bovine somatropin 
applications continued. An opinion covering a list of hormones 

which may be used for technical purposes was adopted by the 

Committee. 

I.l 

3.3.3 Working Group on the Safety of Residues 

This group which met on.three occasions during 1990, 

continued its safety evaluation of compounds used in-food 
animals. In respect of chloramphenicol the group noted that 

in some countries of the EC, including Ireland. the use of 
this compound in food producing animals is prohibited. 

The group spent considerable time in developing a 
comprehensive guideline on the safety evaluation of com
pounds used in veterinary medicines and in elaboration of 
the procedures for the'establishm~ilt of legally binding 
maximum residue limits for veterinary medicines as 
required by Council Regulation 2377/90. 

3.3.4 Working Group on Efficacy 

Three meetings of this group took place in 1990. During 
the year, six guidelines were sent out for consultation 

covering efficacy and the conduct of clinical trials, 
preparation of veterinary clinical expert reports, fixed 

combination products, demonstration of secondary 
pharmacodynamic actions, antimicrobials, anthelmintics for 

the bovine and ovine species and performance enhancers. 

3.3.5 Working Group on Pharmacovigilance 

This group met a number of times durir)g the year. The 

main aim was to promote Pharmacovigilance in all of the 
Member States and to develop an efficient mechanism for 

the sharing of adverse drug reaction and quality defect 

reports with a view to co-ordinating regular decisions and 
actions. 

3.3.6 Working Party on IVMPs 

The group continued with its work on drafting a ~roposed 
text for Directive 92/18/EEC to accommodate IVMPs, on 

drafting guidelines, on considering applications for IVMPs 
which fall within the scope of Directive 87122/EEC and on 
various ancillary matters referred to it, including the role of 
Genetically Modified Organisms as IVMPs. 

3.4 Pharmacovigilance 

During 1990,32 reports of suspected adverse drug reactions, 

involving over 131 animals were notified to the Board. In 

many of the reports investigated, it appeared that the 
products were not administered ·according to the recomme

ndations of the company or according to the product 

authorisation. Users of. veterinary medicines must take care 

to read the label'a~d package inserts of the product and to 
follow instructions carefully. Occasionally, adverse effecls in 

humans may occur following use in animals of a veterinary 
medicine. 

The reporting of such effects to the Board will help greatly 
and ensure that adequate information is presented on 

product literature to allow for safer use of the product. The 

expansion of the reporting system duriflg 1990 to include 
reports from pharmacists was intended to help in this area. 

However, doctors should also report suspected reactions in 
their patiems by using their existing prepaid reporting forms. 
The value of such reports cannot be over-emphasised. 



3.5 Other Activities 

3.5.1 International Co·Operation 

While the Board gained considerable information from interna

tional contacts which continued to assist in the assessment of 
veterinary medicines. further co-operation was felt to be neces

sary in order to reach consistent uniform standards between 
Member States in implementing the directive requirements. 
The Board not.ed with appreciation the willing co~operation and 
effort of those organisations with which contact has been 
established. Participation at meetings of the International 
Technical Consultation on Veterinary Drug Registration (ITCV
DR) which seeks to establish means for sharing information of 
benefit to regulators and of the Codex Alimentarius 
Commission which is concerned with the safety of residues in 
food was of benefit in ensuring our standards are compatible 
with those of other authorities. 

3.5.2 National Activities 

Departmento! Agriculture alld Food: 

Several meetings were held between officers of the Board and 

the Department. Subjects discussed included the use of veteri

nary medicines for the treatment of fish and the need for such 
products to be authorised prior to use. 

Otiler Bodies: 

The Federation of the Irish Chemical Industries met with offi

cers of the Board to discuss labelling, fees. categories of sale 

and supply and on the need for a list of veterinary products 

which may be legitimately offered for sale. Discussions were 
held with the Irish Veterinary Association on limited use prod

ucts, on availability of veterinary medicines and on the need for 

a list of those veterinary medicines which can be bought by 
practitioners. 

There were discussions with the Irish Veterinary Union on limit
ed use products and on residues of veterinary drugs in food. 

4. INSPECTION ACTIVITIES 

4.1 Introduction 

The principal issues during 1991 from an inspection view point 

were: adoption of Directives 91/356/EEC and 91/412/EEC which 

required manufacturers of medicines for human use and veteri

nary use respectively to apply Good Manufacturing Practice in 
their operations; adoption of a number of Annexes to the 

European Community GMP Guide; establishment of an EC Ad 

Hoc Working Party on Harmonisation of Inspections. The princi
pal aim of this Ad Hoc Working Party is the Harmonisation of 

Inspection Standards in the Community. 

4.2 LICENCES AND INSPECTIONS 

4.2.1 Human Medicines 

The Board received 5 applications for manufacturing licences 

under the Medical Preparations (Licensing of Manufacture) 
Regulations. Recommendations to license were made to the 
Department of Health in respect of 5 applications. One applica
tion was withdrawn, two licences were withdrawn by the man

ufacturers. At the end 9f the year there were 63 licensed manu
factures of medical preparations in the country. 

Six applications for Wholesale licenses under the Medical 
Preparations (Wholesale Licences) were received. 
Recommendations were made to the Department of Health in 

respect of 6 applications. Seven existing licences were with
drawn. Eight applications were under consideration at year 
end. At the,end of the year there were 135 wholesalers licensed 

under these. Regulations. 

A TOTAL OF 103 INSPECTIONS WERE CONDUCTED DURING THE 

YEAR, CLASSIFIED AS FOLLOWS: 

(I) INSPECTfONS UNDER THE MEDICAL PREPARATIONS 

(LICENSING OF MANUFACTURE) REGULJ.TlONS 1974.tl.ND 1975. 

New Applications 4 

Existing Licence Holders 33 

(II) fNSPECTIONS UNDER THE MEDICAL PREPARATIONS 

(WHOLESALE LICENCES) REGULATIONS 1974 AND 7989. 

New Applications 7 

Existing Licence Holders 31 

(II!) INSPECTIONS UNDER THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES 

(VETERINARY MEDICINAL PRODUCTS) REGULATIONS, 1986. 

New Applications 3 

Existing Licence Holders 16 

(IV) OTHER INSPECTIONS 9 

(SEE FOLLOWING) 

During the year the Board's Inspectors undertook six 

inspections on behalf of the Department of Health in respect 

of applications for certificates of Good Manufacturing 

Practice. Four of these applications were from manufacturers 

of bulk drug substances and two were from manufacturers 

of medical devices. One inspection of a medical device 
manufacturer was carried out at the request of the 

Therapeutic Goods Administration, Australia.·One 

inspection of a contract fini~hed product testing laboratory 
was carried out. One inspection of a U.K. based manufacturer 

of vitamin and mineral products was carried out. 

4.2.2 Veterinary Medicines 

In 1991, three applications for manufacturers' licences for 

veterinary medicinal products were received by the !3oard. 
In addition, seven applications were under examination at 

31st December, 1990. Two manufacturers' licences were 

issued and eight applications were under examination at 
the end of the year. 

One manufacturer's licence was withdrawn. Sixteen 
inspections of existing licensed manufacturers and three 

inspections of new applicants were undertaken-during the 

year. At the end of the year there were 17 licensed 
manufacturers of veterinary medicinal products in this country. 

In addition, visits were made to three companies to check 

if any was manufacturing veterinary medicines. ,Two were 

found not to be manufacturing while the other was a 
manufact'urer of homoeopathic veterinary medicinal 

products. These latter products are not yet covered under 

manufacturing regulations. One inspection was carried out 
at a contract laboratory which was carrying out finished 

product testing on behalf of a veterinary manufacturer. 



4.3 European Community 

4.3.1 Working Party on Control of 
Medicines/Inspection 

Two meetings of the working party were held during 1991. 
Items dealt with were as follows. 

Ii} Directives on Good Manufacturing 
Practices (GMP) 

Directive 91/356{EEC "laying down the principles and guide
lines of good manufacturing practice for medicinal products for 
human use", was adopted during 1991. Under this Directive, 
manufacturers of medicines for human use were required to 
apply GMP In their manufacturing operations from the imple
mentation date of 1st January 1992. The GMP Guidelines for 

the purposes of this Directive are those contained in "The 
Rules Governing Medicinal Products in the European 
Community". Volume V . Good Manufacturing Practice for 

Medicinal Products in the European Community." 

Directive,91/412/EEC, laying down the principles and guidelines 

of good manufacturing prac1ice for veterinary medicinal prod

ucts was signed on 1he 23rd July, 1991. A two year period was 
allowed for implementation of this Directive (by 23rd July, 

1993). This Directive requires a veterinary manufacturer to 

apply GMP during its manufacturing operations, The GMP 

guidelines for the purpose of this Directive are Volume IV of the 
Rules Governing Medicinal Produ,cts in the European 

Community "Guide to Good Manufacturing Practice for 
Medicinal Products". 

(iii Guide to Good Manufacturing Practice 
(GMP) 

The following annexes to the European Community GMP Guide 
were adopled during 1991. 

• Manufacture of RadiopharmaceuLicals 

• Manufacture of Liquids. Creams and Ointments 

• Sampling of Starting and Packaging Materials 

• Computerised Systems 

• Manufacture of pressurized metered dose aerosol 
preparations for inhalation 

• Manufacture of Medicinal Gases 

• Manufacture of Herbal Medicinal Products 

• Use of Ionizing Radiation in the manufacture of 
medicinal products 

• Manufacture of Veterinary Medicinal Products other 
than Immunologicals 

• Manufacture of Immunological Veterinary 
Medicinal Products 

• Manufacture of Biological Medicinal Products 
for Human Use 

All of these guidelines had an-implementation date of 1st 
January 1993. 

(iii) Draft Annexes to the Guide to GMP 

Draft guidelines on 

GMP for Clinical Trial Supplies 

Manufacture of Homoeopathic Medicinal Products were under 
consideration at the end of 1991. 

(iv) Directive on Wholesale Distribution 

A draft of this proposed Directive was under consideration at 
the end of 1991. 

(vi Ad Hoc Working Party on 
Harmonisation of Inspections 

In recognition of the need to harmonise inspection 

standclrds across the Member States. with particular regard 
to the proposed Future System of the Community, an 

Ad Hoc Working Party on Harmonisation of Inspections 
was established by the Working Party, 

As a preliminary to meetings of the Ad Hoc Working Party 
each Member State was required to fill in a comprehensive 
Questionnaire on.its inspection system. so that areas 
requiring harmonisation could be pinpointed. Two meetings 
of the Ad Hoc Working Party were held during 1991. Items 
identified for consideration included: 

• Guidance notes on the conduct of inspections, 
including product related inspections 

• grounds for revoking or suspen.ding a manufacturing 
authorisation 

• guideline on the qualifications, experience and training 
of inspectors 

• procedures for granting a manufacturing authorisation 

• format for exchange of inspection reports 
• inspections in third countries. 

(vii Homoeopathic Directives 

Directives on the requirements for marketing and 
manufacturing authorisations for homoeopathic medicinal 

products for human use and f,?r veterinary use were under 
consideration at the end of 1991, 



4.4 Other Activities 
The Convention for the Mutual Recognition of Inspections in 

respect of the Manufacture of Pharmaceutical Products 
(Pharmaceutical Inspection Convention) entered into force il'] 

1971. In 1991. it was operating between sixteen countries, 
namely, Aus~ria, Belgium. Denmark, Finland. Germany: 

Hungary, Iceland, Ireland. Italy, Liechtenstein. Norway, Portu~al. 
Romania. Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom. The 
Convention applies to inspection of the m~nufacture of medici· 
nal and related products intended.for human use which are 
subject to control under health legislation. It provides that the 
contracting States will exchange, on the basis of inspections. 
such information as is necessary for the health authorities in an 
importing Contracting State to be able to recognize inspections 
carried out in the Contracting State of the manufacturer. In 
order to ensure that the efficient functioning of the Convention 
as well as its uniform application in all Contracting State, a per

manent committee was established in accordance with 'Article 8 
of the Convention. 

This Committee is composed-of officials from the competent 

authorities of the Contracting States. During 1991 the 

Committee held three meetings, in March, June and November. 

The main items discussed were the mutual training o,f inspec
tors, the extension of the Convention to other countries, the 

updating and broadening of the basic rules of good manufac

turing practice (GMP), the format of inspection reports 

exchanged under the terms.of the Convention and various 

practical aspects of the operation of the Convention. Strategy 
for the future oLthe Convention was also discussed. 

Details of reports requested of and by the Board under the 

Pharmaceutic"allnspection Convention are shown. 

REQUESTS FOR INSPECTION REPORTS UNDER THE 

PHARMACEUTICAL INSPECTION CONVENTION 1991 

Requests received by the Board: 

COUNTRY NUMBER OF REQUESTS 

Australia 2 

Denmark 

Finland 4 

Italy 5 

Norway 2 

Sweden 6 

United Kingdom 11 

TOTAL REOUESTS RECEIVED 31 

Requests made by the Board: 

COUNTRY NUMBER OF REQUESTS 

Austria 

Denmark 

Germany 

Italy J 

Switzerland 

United Kingdom 3 

TOTAL REQUESTS MADE 10 

I. 

5.ADDITIONAL MATTERS 

5.1 Recalls 
5.1.1 Medicinal Products For Human Use 

During 1991 the Board was informed of 17 recalls of medicinal 

products from the Irish market: 

These were categorised as follows: 

Labelling Error 4 

Stability Problems 4 

Contamination 2 

Content Uniformity Problems 

Precautionary Recall of 

Immunoglobulin Product 

Recall of Blood Product due to 

Donor Seroconversion 

Non-compliance with PA 

(Complete Withdrawal) 

Pack Problem 

Particulate Matter 

These J 7 recalls were Ilotified as follows: 

PA Holder/Distributor 11 

EC/pIC Rapid Alert 2 

Retail Pharmacist 

Hospital Pharmacist 

Inspection of Wholesaler 2 

5.1.2 Other Recalls 

The Board also dealt with one recall of a medical device 

during 1991. 

5.1.3 Medicinal Products.for Veterinary Use 

No recalls of veterinary medicinal products were notified to 

the Board during 1991. 



5.2 Quality Defects 

Forty-eight,reports of quality defects in medicinal products 

were investigated during 1991 of which forty were substantiat

ed. The unsubstantiated reports generally related to lack of effi
cacy in products which were found to comply with their respec
tive finished product specification on analysis. The classifica

tion of the various substantiated defects is shown. 

As a direct result of quality defects reported to the NDAB, three 
recalls were initiated. Two recalls were necessary because the 
pro'duClS were labelled as containing the wrong quantity of 

active ingredient. The third recaU was initiated when a product 
was detected on the market with the capsule shells devoid of 
contents. The NDAB is satisfied that the companies concerned 
have introduced suitable controls which should prevent the 
recurrence of such incidents in the future. 

Over thirty percent of all complaints related to the physical 

characteristics of the products. Broken and severely 
" chipped tablets continued to be a problem as well as capsules 

leaking their contents into the immediate packaging. 
Manufacturers were requested to examine their methods of 

packaging as well as the packaging materials in order to try 
and eliminate this problem. 

Quality Defects Reports 1991 

Product Container L~belling Broken Leaking Other 
Type Packaging PhYSical 

Characteristics 

Tablets 1 4 3 

Capsules 1 2 2 

Parenterals 1 2 

Oral liquids 3 1 2 

Topical 
products 

Products 
for inhalation 2 1 

Suppository 

Chewing 
gum 

Total 7 5 4 2 7 

17 

There was an increase in the number of incidents in which 

the product was,missing from the immediate packaging. 

This was observed in a blister, pack containing,suppositories, 

capsule shells which were devoid of contents, blister packs 
containing tablets. and sealed vials of nebuliser solutions 

which were empty. 

A number of the defects reported concerned products 
which had deteriorated upon storage. In many cases this 
could be attributed to a particular excipient being used 
during manufacture which was obtai~~d from an alternative 
supplier and which produced a product which deteriorated 
more rapidly upon storage. or alternatively to improper 
storage conditions during transit of the product. 

Physical Empty Deteriorated Precipitation Total 
Contamination Package Product 

1 2 11 

1 1 7 

2 2 7 

1 1 8 

1 1 

1 

1 1 

1 1 

3 4 6 2 40 



6.STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

Report of the Auditors 

We have audited the financial statements in accordance with 

Auditing Stand?rds and have obtained all the information and 
explanations which we considered necessary for the purposes 

of our audit. 

In our opinion, the Board has kepi proj:.ler books of account and 
the Financial Statements, which are in agreement therewith, 

give a true and fair view of the state-of the Board's affairs at 31 
December 1991 and of its results for the year ended on that 

date. 

DELOITTE & TOUCHE 

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors 

INCOME AND EXPEN/JITURE tlCCOUNT 

1991 

IR£ 

Income receivable (Note 1) 1,455,322 

Less: Expenditure 11,395,8731 

Surplus for the Year 59,449 

Balance brought forward 
1 January 1991 126,6281 

Balance carried forward 
31 December 1991 32,821 

1990 

IR£ 

1,281,998 

11,253,2501 

28,748 

155,3761 

126,6281 

HAI.ANCE SHEET AT 31 J)ECEMIJER 1991 

Notes 1991 199O 

IR[ IR£ 

FIXED ASSETS 4 37,271 58,107 

CURRENT ASSETS 

Debtors and payments in advance 32,236 23,560 

Stock of stationery and oil 9,227 8,990 

Cash on hand and at bank ~ ~ 

42,458 33,391 

LESS: CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Accrued expenses 9,637 10,840 

Bank overdraft 49,179 

9,637 60,019 

NET CURRENT 
ASSETS/ILiABILITIESI 32,821 126,6281 

TOTAL NET ASSETS 70,092 3',479 

FINANCED BY: 

Income and expenditure account 32,821 126,6281 

Capital reserve 5 37,271 58,107 

70,092 31,479, 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
FOR THE l'EAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1991 

NOles 

NET CASH INFLOW 

Return on investments and 
servicing of finance: 

Interest received 

Inlerest paid 

1991 

IR£ 

3 

11,6631 

Net cash. outflow from returns on investments and 

1990 

IR£ 

6 

11,2951 

servicing. of finance (1,660) (1,289) 

Net cash inflow after return on investments and servicing 

of finance 6 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Payments to acquire tangible 

fixed assets 

NET CASH INFLOW 
BEFORE FINANCING 

Financing: 

Department of Health re 

purchase: of fixed assets 

INCREASE IN CASH 7 
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

49,333 52,372 

133,9901 

40,365 18,382 

49,333 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR TilE l'EAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1991 

1. INCOME RECEIVABLE 1991 199O 

IR[ IR£ 

Department of Health: 

Non·Capital Grant 1,174,000 1,085,000 

Capital Grant 12,117 

1,174,000 1,097,117 

Less: Transfer to capital reserve 

re purchase of fixed assets 18,9681 133,9901 

Licensing and Amendment Fees 290,287 216,917 

Insurance claim 1,948 

Deposit interest 3 6 

1.455,322 1,281,998 



2. SALARIES 

Salaries have been shown net of Superannuation and Widows 

and Orphans Fund contributions. 

Deductions are made under the Local Government 
(Superannu8ti.on) Act 1956 and local Authority and Widows 
and Orphans Pension Scheme. Since the Board is not obliged 

. to maintain a separate fund. no liability has been included in 

the accounts in respect of the deductions. nor has any provi· 
sion been made in respect of future payments which may arise 
and which will be incurred by the Board out of future revenue. 

3. DEPRECIATION 

Depreciation has been charged to write off the cost of furniture 
and fittings al a rate of 20% p.s. straight line. 

NOTES TOTHE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1991 

4. FIXED ASSETS Equipment, Furniture & Fittings 

1991 

IRC 

COST 

Balance 1 January 1991 197.208 

Additions during year 

1990 

IRC 

163,218 

Balance 31 December 1991 

8,968 

206.176 197.208 

ACCUMULATEO DEPRECIATION 

Balance 1 January 1991 139.101 108.494 

Charge for year 

Balance 31 December 1991 139.101 

NET BOOK VALUE 

31 December 1991 37.271 

5. CAPITAL RESERVE 1991 1990 

IRC IRC 

Balance 1 January 1991 58.107 54.724 

Purchase of fixed assets 8.968 33.990 

Depreciation 129.8041 130.6071 

Balance 31 December 1991 37.271 58.107 

19 

6. RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS TO NET CASH 

INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

1991 1990 

IRC IRC 

Surplus for year 59.449 28.748 

(Increase)/decrease'in debtors 18.6761 32.770 

{Increasel/decrease in stocks 12371 580 

Decrease in accrued expenses 11.2031 19.7261 

NET CASH INFLOWS 49.333 52.372 

7.ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS AS SHOWN IN BALANCE SHEET 

1991 

IRC 

Cash at bank 

and in hand 995 

Bank overdrafts 

~ 

8.LEASE COMMITMENTS 

Operating leases 

Amounts payable during the next 

twelve months in respect of leases 
which expire: 

within one year 

between two and five years 

after five years 

1990 

IRC 

841 

149.1791 

148,3381 

1991 

IRC 

13,989 

128.000 

141.989 

Change in Year 

IRC 

154 

49.179 

49.333 

1990 

IRC 

13.989 

104.528 

118.517 

The operating leases include an annual commitment of 

IA£128.000 in respect of the Board's premises. This lease is 

due to expire in 2017 and is subject to five yearly reviews. 
The next review arises in 1996. 



SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURE 

1991 1990 

IR£ IR£ 

ESTABLISHMENT: 

Operating Lease Rentals: 

Premises 116,264 104,528 

Rates 31,755 30,564 

Insurances 9,027 9,346 

Repairs and maintenance 55,887 47,195 
.... , 

Light and heat 11,183 9,772 

Cleaning 11,912 11 ,450 

236,028 213,455 

ADMINISTRATION: 

Salaries and ex-employee 

pensions (Note 2) 919,831 ~44,482 

Travel expenses 80,030 63,914 

Printing, postage and stationery 69,349 61,596 

Publications & subscriptions 6,233 5,983 

Operating Lease Rentals: 

Equipment and Fittings 13,992 12,782 

Sampling and analysis 35,175 32,988 

Advertising 500 1,592 

Equipment Hire 675 

Auditors' fees 3,000 2,806 

Legal fees 2,219 (2,018) 

Consultancy fees 10,785 

Telephone and telex 13,810 11,130 

Sundry expenses 258 2,570 

1,158,182 1,038,500 

FINANCIAL: 

Bank interest and charges 1,663 1,295 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 1,395,873 1,253,250 
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I.GENERAL MATTERS 

The names of the members of the Board, its Committees and 

its OHicers on the 31st December 1992 are listed in the follow

ing sec lion. 

The Board, at a special meeting on 23rd January, 1992. estab
lished a working party to assist it in the implementation of the 
Government's decision to re-organise the Board. The Working 
Party on fe-organisation consisted of the following members: 
Mr. P.E Nowlan. Chairman, Professor J. Feely. Professor R.F. 
Timoney. Mr. C.G. Fitzgerald, Mr. T.A. McGuinn, Mr. L. Dunbar. 

Mr. M. Melaone. Mr. D.M. Wiley. 

The working party had a total of seven meetings during the 
year. It presented a numoer of proposals to the Board in rela
tion to the appointment of a Chief Executive Officer, the Board's 

finances and the likely impact on these of the Future (licensing) 
system in Europe, Europe, computerisalion, accommodation 

and staff requirement and resources in general. 

The following accepted the Board's invitation to serve on the 

Committee on Drug Usage and Adverse Reactions for 1992: 

, .DR. CONOR KEANE M.B. B.Sc .• F.R.C.Path, 

Professor of Clinical Microbiology, St. James' Hospital 

2.DR. LOUISE BARNES M.B., F.R.C.P.I., 

Consultant Dermatologist, Hume Street Hospital 

3.DR. DESMOND FITZGERALD 

Consultant Clinical Pharmacologist, 
Mater Misercordiae Hospital 

4.DR. STEPHEN R. FLINT 
Consultant in Dublin Dental Hospital 

M.D., F.R.C.P.I. 

B.D.S .• M.B., F.D.S, R.C.S .. 

In March, Dr. Garrett FitzGerald resigned from the Committee 
due to increased professional commitments. The Chairman of 
the Committee, Professor Feely, conveyed the Committee's 

appreciation to Dr. FitzGerald for this valued contributions to 

the work of the Committee. 

Mr. Ruadhri Breathnach M.V.B., M.R.C.V.S., Ballsbridge, Dublin 
and Mr. Desmond Mills, M.R.C.V.S., Tallaght accepted an invita

tion to join the Veterinary Committee. Following his appoint

ment to the Board in August, Dr. T.M. Barragry also joined this 

Committee and the Committee on Evaluation and Toxici!)'. Dr. 

Boles accepted an ~nvitation to join the latter Committee fol
lowing his Board appointment. 
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On the 6th August, the Minister for Health re-appointed 

D.G. Fitzgerald, Dr. T.V. O'Dwyer, Professor G,G. Shaw, O.K. 

Connolly, Profe.ssor J. Feely, Mr. T.A. McGuinn and 
Professor K O'Malley to membership of the Board for the 
period ending 31st December, 1994. Professor O'Malley 

was re-appointed as Chairman. Dr. J. Briscoe and 
Dr. W. Boles were also appointed for this period. 
On 28th August. the Minister re-appointed 
Dr. D.P. O'Mahony, Dr. K. McGarry, Mr. M.C. Gaynor and 
Mr. P. Nowlan and appointed Mr. T.M. Barragry to 
membership of the Board or the period to 
31st December 1994. 

On 23rd September, the Minister appointed Dr. D. Bonar 

and on the 15th December, appointed Mr. G. O'Malley to 
membership for the period to 31st December, 1994. 

In the case of the Committees, Professor Shaw took over 

as Chairman of the Committee on Evaluation and Toxicity 
in succession to Professor TImoney. At the July Board 

meeting, the Chairman paid particular tribute to Professor 

Timoney who had been a Board member since its 
inception in 1966 and was the first and only Chairman of 

the Committee on Evaluation and Toxicity to date. 

In June, Dr. T. Dinan resigned from the Committee on 

Clinical Trials. Dr. G. FitzGerald, thanked Dr. Dinan on 

behalf of the Committee for his contribution and support 

of the activities.of the Committee since its formation. 

Dr. Allene Scott. Medical Director to the Board since its 

inception, retired officially on the 18th January b':lt at the 
Board's request, agreed to continue in her position 

temporarily. She continued on this basis until the 20th 
March when she finally retired. Many tributes were paid to 

Dr. Scott. She was personally responsible in large measure 
for the distinguished reputation of the Board both at home 

and abroad and was regarded with affection and esteem by 

her colleagues and staff at the National Drugs Advisory Board. 

Dr. Burns, Deputy Medical Director, agreed to act as 

Medical Director temporarily from the 20th March. 

At the September Board meeting, the Board approved 

applications from.Ms. Canavan and from Mr. Morley, 

pharmacists, to work on a job-sharing and full-time basis 

respectively from December. 

In October, Mr. Hayes resigned as inspector to the Board 

but continued on a part-time basis as a pharmaceutical 

assessor. 
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2.HUMAN MEDICINES 

2.1 Introduction 

A major event during 1992 was the retirement of Dr. Allene 

Scott who was Medical Director of the National Drugs Advisory 
Board since its establishment. While Dr. Scott was a great loss 

to the Board. her departure was particularly felt by her medical 
colleagues. Dr. Scott was a person of great vision and her repu
tation in the area of international regulatory affairs was legend. 
Her door was always open 10 the staff of the Board and it is no 
easy task to follow in her footsteps. 

2.2 Licensing Activities 
The Board received 589 applications for product authorisations 
during 1992. The Board recommended acceptance of 458 appli

cations during this period. There were 124 applications with
drawn. At the end of the year there were 2860 product files for 
which recommendations for licensing had not been made. 

In the case of existing authorised products, 379 authorisations 

were received, 668 authorisations were surrendered and 970 

products were awaiting issue of renewals at the end of the 
year. There were an estimated 7011 products carrying product 

authorisation at year end. 

The Board received 2144 applications for changes in the terms 

of product authorisations. A total of 2019 amendments were 

approved. Five amendments were not approved and 409 were 
withdrawn. There were 1486 amendments awaiting assessment 

for which approval had not been given at year end. 

2.3 European Community 

The Committee for Proprietary Medicinal Products (CPMP) and 
its working parties continued to discuss procedures aimed at 

bringing about harmonisation of drug regulatory affairs within 
the member states. The Board's staff continued to attend and 
service all of the CPMP Working Parties· Safety of Medicines. 

Efficacy of Medicines, Operation Working Parties. 
Pharmacovigilance, Ouality of Medicines and 

Biotechnology/Pharmacy Working Party. This resulted in a large 
commitment for European Affairs in terms of time and person

nel from the Board. 

2.3. 1 CPMP Working Party on Safety of 
Medicines 

Dr. Marie Burns was appointed Chairperson of this group from 

January 1st 1992 for a three year period. While work pro

gressed on various topics already in hand. much of the group's 

attention during the year was given to topics resulting from the 
first International Conference on Harmonisation (lCH 1) in 

Brussels in November 1991. Arrangements for implementation 

of the resulting recommendations on acute toxicity studies and 

reproductive toxicology were put in train and rapporteurs 

appointed for the topics for ICH II. These were: genotoxicity 
testing requirements, issues in the assessment of carcinogenic 

potential (dose selection. utility of two rodent species. defining 
conditions which require carcinogenicity studies), pre-clinical 
pharmacokinetic data necessary to support the development of 
therapeutic agents (toxicokinetics!systemic exposure, repeated 

dose tissue distribution studies), repeated dose toxicity (con
sensus on requirements for a 12 month non-rodent study). The 
group also contributed to several quality topics which involved 
a toxicological input. The ICH II steering committee met on 
three occasional in 1992. in addition to satellite group meetings 
which took place on an ad hoc basis. The application of good 
laboratory practice (GLP) to toxicology studies was discussed 
and work continued on the revision of the Notice to Applicants. 

2.3.2 CPMP Working Party on Efficacy 

This group met twice during the year. Much of its work centred 
on finalising topics for consideration at the next International 

Conference on Harmonisation. Guidelines on the following 
were also discussed and amended as appropriate: anti-demen-

tia drugs. anxiolytics, statistics, chiral active ingredients. 

Draft Summaries of Product Characteristics were discussed 

for the following: benzodiazepines. beta-adrenergic 
blockers, angiotension converting enzyme inhibitors. 

2.3.3 CPMP Working Party on 
Pharmacovigilance 

Unlike previous years. this group met on only three 
occasions in 1992. Its main function was to draw up 
guidelines to take into account the proposals for the new 
European system of drug regulatory affairs (the "F~ture 
System"). 

Work was started on the following guidelines: spontaneous 

reporting systems in pharmacovigilance. guidelines for 
reporting of adverse drug reactions by companies, 

guidelines on reporting of information on adverse 
drug reactions by competent authorities. An inventory of 

computerised systems was also undertaken by the group 

and presented to the CPMP. This will be updated on a 
regular basis in the future. The CARE pilot programme on 

pharmacovigilance was started. This "telecommunications 

project" is part of the ENS (European Network System) 

programme whose aim is to improve the efficiency and 
effectiveness of each member state's administration by 

increasing the quality and quantity of their available 

telecommunications systems and technologies. The CARE 

pilot programme focuses on exchange of pharmacovigilance 

information between member states via an electronic 

network system. The programme will last for three years 
and it is hoped it will determine what are the basic needs 

for having a compatible system for such transfer of informa

tion. The group continued its co-operation with the WHO 
international programme on drug monitoring. Discussions 

took place in an effort to harmonise the terminology 

currently used by the EC and WHO. Such harmonisation is 
necessary to ensure compatibility of adverse drug reaction 
(ADR) reporting not only within the EC but also worldwide. 
A special ad hoc group was set up to discuss the relative 

safety and efficacy of 7 short-acting benzodiazepine and 
benzodiazepine-like hypnotics and was mandated to draw 

up a report for the CPMP. 

2.3.4 CPMP Operations Working Party 

This group continued to revise Volume II of the Notice to 

Applicants at its many meetings during the year. Guidelines 

on the role of the rapporteur and concerned member states 
in both the multi·state procedure and concertation 

procedure were finalised by the group and presented to the 

CPMP for formal adoption. The note for Guidance on 

assessment reports on medicinal products was also 

finalised and formally adopted by the CPMP. Documents 
relating to the handling of Variations to existing product 

authorisations were discussed in some detail. This will be 
particularly important in the Future System of drug 

regulatory affairs within the EC. 

A document on the renewal of marketing authorisation 
under the concertation procedure was also discussed and 
sent for consultation to the CPMP. 

Such a procedure must be in place by 1993 when the first 
marketing authorisations granted under the concertation 
procedure come up for renewal. The Operations Working 
Party liaised with several other working parties of the CPMP 
in the drawing up of the following guidelines: investigation 
of chiral active substances, revision of notice to applicants 
and the CPMP list of allowed terms. 

2.3.5 CPMP Working Party on Quality of 
Medicines 

The CPMP Ouality Working Party met 3 times in 1992. Work 

continued on guidelines relating to ethylene oxide. manufac
ture of the dose form, excipients, packaging materials. The 

guideline on quality of prolonged release preparations of 



which Ireland acted as rapporteur. was finalised. The 

Working Party became more heavily involved in matters 

relating to International Harmonisation and work commenced 
on guidelines on stability. impurity testing. analytical valida

tion. and drug substances as preparation of ICHI!. 

2.3.6 Working Party on Biotechnology/Pharmacy 

The Working Party met 4 times during 1992 and considered a 
number of applications made through the concertation proce
dure. Guidelines were commenced on products from trans
genic animals. gene therapy. requirements for continuous cell 
lines. and control authority batch release. Work commenced 
also on the preparation of a number of International guidelines 
for ICHII. The introduction of Hepatitis C virus screening of 
blood used in the manufacture of products derived from 

human blood was introduced. such that from 1st January 1993 
no such products were to be placed on the market unless they 
were prepared from blood found to be negative for HCV anti

bodies. In Ireland, screening for HCV was introduced in October 

1992. 

2.4 Pharmaco\'igilance 

2.4. 1 Adverse Drug Reactions 

The Board received 1225 reports of adverse reactions to drugs. 

The largest proportion (35.27%) were provided by pharmaceuti

cal companies (including post·market surveillance reports). fol

lowed by general practitioners (28.24%). hospital doctors 
(10.6%). community pharmacists 18.5%). hospital monitoring 

studies (8.0%) and nurses (7.1%). 

There were 34 deaths reported in association with drug use in 

1992. Of these. 24 were related to the primary illness. 2 were 

associated with drug overdose and in the remaining cases it is 
not possible to assign an aetiology. 

There were 18 reports of drug interactions. 

Details of the above are contained in a report to be published 
separately. 

2.4.2 Comments on Specific Drugs 

A Iltihistamilles 

Terfenadine and astemizole are antihistamines widely used in 

the treatment of hay fever and allergic conditions and are avail
able from pharmacies without prescription. At high blood con

centrations these drugs can prolong the aT interval and induce 

ventricular arrhythmias. A number of factors predispose to the 

cardiotoxic potential of these drugs including: 

• Concurrent use of ketoconazole or other imidazole 
antifungal agents. 

• Concurrent use of erythromycin or other macrolide 
antibiotics. 

• Concurrent use of drugs with arrhythmogenic potential. such 
as antiarrhythmics, neuroleptics. tricyclic antidepressants 
and diuretics. 

• Significant liver dysfunction. 

• Pre-existing aT interval prolongation. 

• Use of higher than recommended doses. 

During 1992 letters were circulated to doctors by the manufac
turers concerning reports of cases of cardiac arrhythmias 
(including torsade de pointes) which had been identified world
wide in association with terfenadine and astamizole and which 

outlined the risk factors above. The incidence of such reactions 
is rare; however. following identification of the problem the 
product literature was updated appropriately. 

Blood Prodllcts 

During 1992 a number of Irish Haemophilia-A patients became 

infected with hepatitis-A. Subsequently the number of cases 

was estimated to be twenty·nine. While there is always a cer

tain incidence of hepatitis-A, caused for example. by person 
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to person contact. or ingestion of infected shell fish. an 

association with the use of a blood product was suspected. 

The results of a subsequent epidemiological study suggested 
that the major factor in the above cases was exposure to a 

high purity, solvent detergent-treated Factor VIII produced 
from blood collected in late 1991 and early 1992. The 
hepatitis-A virus belongs to a class (the non-enveloped 

viruses) which are more difficult to destroy during blood 
processing. Similar but unrelated cases have been reported 
in Italy. Germany and Belgium. The Board points out that 
blood is vital and indispensable and that humans are the 
only source. It has to be recognised however, and the Board 
has previously clearly stated this, that there is always a risk 
of agents present in donated blood being passed to 
recipients. This can be minimised by appropriate selection 
and testing of donors and by inactivation steps during 

processing but even using the best currently available prac
tices. the risk can never be removed entirely. 

Filioxetille 

A number of reports of agitation. aggression and increased 

anxiety with one case of suicidal ideation were notified in 

association with fluoxetine. This issue received a significant 
amount of publicity in the media. much of which was based 

on anecdotal data. It is difficult to evaluate an adverse event 

which may be drug-related but which also occurs frequently 

and spontaneously in the course of an underlying disorder. 
Therefore practitioners are reminded to monitor closely all 

patients undergoing treatment with fluoxetine. 

Haemopflilll'· illflllellzae b vaccille (Hib Vaccille) 

Hib vaccine was introduced to the Irish immunization pro
gramme in Autumn 1992. to prevent invasive diseases 

caused by haemophilus influenzae type b in children from 

2 months to 4 years. This product is a conjugate vaccine (i.e. 
vaccine of the second generation) and has been associated 

with greater immunogenicity than the polysacharide vaccine 
(i.e. first generation vaccinel. It has also shown a high rate 

of protection in infants under the age of 18 months. A small 
number of side-eHects was reported during 1992 and 

practitioners are asked to report any suspected adverse 

eHects associated with the use of this product. 

Ol'erages ill Vitami" Products 

It is of concern to the Board that vitamin-containing 

medicinal products consistently utilise overages during 

manufacture. even though stability data indicate no 
significant loss during storage. Such need to be justified 

in the application. 

Where stability problems have been shown. overages may 

be acceptable, but excessive overages. for example in 

excess of 20%. should not be used to maintain long shelf 
lives in excess of 3 years. In such cases shelf lives should 

be reduced and overages kept to a justifiable maximum. 

Quil/ololle alltibiotics 

A number of reports of suspected interaction between 

ciprofloxacin and aminophylline which resulted in 
convulsions were notified to the Board during 1992. 
Practitioners were reminded of the need to use quinolone 
antibiotics cautiously in patients wirh existing CNS disorders, 
a history of convulsive disorders or in those on co-existing 

treatment which includes drugs with epileptogenic potential. 

Cases of arthralgia. tendinitis and tendon rupture 
associated with use of quinolone antibiotics including 
ciprofloxacin and ofloxacin were reported via the 

international drug monitoring programme. The cases of 
tendon rupture were thought to be due to ischaemic 

necrosis and predisposing factors identified included 
concomitant use of corticosteroids. underlying renal 

insufficiency, gout and dyslipidaemia. No cases of tendon 

rupture have been notified to the Board to date. 



Triazolam 

Triazolam was withdrawn from the UK market following an 

increase in the incidence and frequency of reported side effects 

with use, particularly paradoxical reactions. As a result, the 
CPMP set up an ad hoc working group to compare the relative 
safety and efficacy of 7 benzodiazepine and benzodiazepine-like 

short-acting hypnotics. The Board has kept these medicinal 
products under surVeillance over the years and has recom
mended that they be used at the lowest effective dose and for a 
short time. 

I'igabatrill 

The most commonly reported side-eHects associated with the 
anti-epileptic drug vigabatrin include drowsiness, dizziness, agi
tation, depression and headache. Less common, but of con

cern, are'reports of psychosis, which appear to resolve follow
ing withdrawal of the drug. Some literature reports recom
mended that this drug should be introduced cautiously, particu

larly in patients with a previous history of psychosis. 11 has also 
been suggested that vigabatrin can either provoke psychosis 

directly or indirectly in epileptic patients with underlying per
sonality disorders. 

Vitamill K 

In August 1992, a study was published by Golding et al con

cerning the possible association between the neonatal adminis
tration of intramuscular vitamin K and the development of 

childhood cancer. Vitamin K is currently available only as an 

intramuscular preparation for use in children in Ireland. New 

guidelines on the administration of vitamin K prophylaxis to 
newborn babies have been issued by specialist groups in the 

UK and Germany and are currently being drafted in Ireland by 
the Faculty of Paediatrics. 

2.S Clinical Trials 
During 1992, the Board considered 205 applications for 
approval to conduct clinical trials. These comprised 35 (17%) in 

category 1, 22 (11%) in category 2 and 148 (72%) in category 3. 
Of these 205 applications, 203 were approved and 3 were 

refused. Modifications to the protocol were required in 9% of 

applications. The Board and the Clinical Trials Committee con
sidered a number of representations from the medical profes

sion and the pharmaceutical industry in respect of difficulties in 

operation of the Clinical Trials Act. These matters were dis
cussed with the Department of Heath. 

3. VETERINARY MEDICINES 

3.1 Introduction 

Significant progress continued in the review of existing veteri
nary medicines. New product applications continued to show 

an increase in numbers, this was expected to level off over the 

following two years. It is noted with disappointment that the 
adverse reactions recording scheme was not receiving ade
quate input from practitioners. It was considered essential that 
this important element of the licensing programme be devel

oped so that an adequate overview of the use of medicines in 
an entire animal population is available. It is intended that the 
scheme will be broadened to include reporting from the phar
maceutical industry when appropriate resources are available. 
Despite the initial concerns of the industry the scheme is now 
generally regarded as an essential component of the licensing 
scheme. A slight improvement was noted in the quality of 
dossiers being submitted, particularly for new products. It was 
emphasised that in cases in which files do not meet the 
requirements of the guidelines they will be rejected and the 
reasons communicated to the applicant. Applicants were 

reminded that at any given time, there are several hundred 
active files. Where questions arise from an assessment they 

should be replied to in a consolidated form in the order 

contained in the Board's communication. 30 

The work of establishing maximum residue levels (MRLs) 

made further demands on the time of the Board's officers. 

Ireland, like the other member states, is involved in this 
work resulting from Council Regulation 2377/90. It is the 

Board's intention to play an active role in so far as 
resources allow. 

Dr. Allene Scott retired as Medical Director in March. Her 
contribution to the establishment of the veterinary scheme 
must be acknowledged, her vast experience in regulatory 
matters along with her commitment and interest were 
instrumental in the establishment of a veterinary scheme 
which now functions extremely well. 

3.2 Licensing Activities 
During the year 162 applications for veterinary product 

authorisations were received by the Board. Authorisations 
to market 109 products were issued. The Board rejected 22 

applications and 57 applications were withdrawn. The 
Board received 38 applications for amendments and variations 

to veterinary product authorisations. One application was 
refused. At the end of this year there were a total of 1137 

fifes for which recommendation to license had not been made. 

3.3 European Community 

With the preparation for the single market, 1992 was a busy 
year at EC level. While a single market for veterinary 

medicinal products (VMPs) appeared not immediately likely, 

discussions on the 'future system' for authorisation of VMPs 

as well as the review of compounds required by Residue 

Regulation 2377/90, and the continuing work of the 
Committee for Veterinary Medicinal Products in authorising 

products occupied a significant amount of time. 

3.3.1 Committee for Veterinary Medicinal 
Products (CVMP) 

Five meetings of the CVMP were held during the year. As 
for the previous year, much time was given to discussions 

on products subject to the concertation procedure
particularly to bovine somatotrophins (BST). At year end, an 

opinion was still not reached on either application although 

only a few issues remained to be resolved. Discussions 
relating to maximum residue limits for veterinary 

pharmaceutical products and the forthcoming review of 

immunological veterinary medicinal products also took place. 
A new edition of the Notice to Applicants was finalised by 

the CVMP. Opinions on a small number of multi state 

applications were reached, and several guidelines on 

efficacy requirements of veterinary products developed. 

3.3.2 The Working Group on the Safety of 
Residues 

Five meetings of this group were held in 1992. The group 
spent most of its time on the elaboration of the assessment 

of new and existing compounds as required by Residue 
Regulation 2377/90. 

Even for those compounds where no residue limit will be 
needed, applicants are required to supply information on 

the toxicity of the compound and likely consumer exposure 
to residues in treated animals. As for other compounds on 
evaluation by a rapporteur country and discussion at 
working group level are necessary prior to recommendation 
by the CVMP itself. A considerable amount of time and 
personnel resources were expected by the Board's veterinary 
officers in this task - both in assessment of compounds 

under consideration by the group and in attendance at EC 
meetings. Progress was slow and it will be a difficult task 
for the CVMP to complete the review of compounds by 
December 31,1996. Residue limits established by the CVMP 

are adopted into legal being by a regulatory committee 
and are published in the Official Journal of the EC. Member 

Slates are required to review products nationally according to 

the limits established under the regulation. Further demand 



was foreseen on both the resources of the Board and those of 

applicant companies. 

3.3.3 CVMP Working Group on Efficacy 

As for previous years, the elaboration of guidelines was the pri
mary focus of atlention for this group during its three meetings 

in 1992. Guidelines finalised and adopted during the year 
included: Efficacy of fluid therapy products, veterinary medici
nal products for zootechnical purposes, efficacy of anticoccidi
als for use in poultry, efficacy of anthelmintics for dogs and 
cats, efficacy of anthelmintics for pigs, conduct of pharmacoki
netic studies, conduct of bioequivalence studies. 

3.3.4 CVMP Working Group on 
Pharmacovigilance 

In the four meetings of this group, discussions on national 
pharmacovigilance activities and the elaboration of guidelines 

for industry and for authorities, absorbed most agenda time. 
The group forms a useful forum for discussions on adverse 
reactions on particular products, active ingredients or excipi

ents. Preparation for the future system also engaged the atten

tion of the group. 

3.3.5 CVMP Immunological Veterinary Medicinal 
Products 

The group continued its work on drafting guidelines, on draft

ing a text for the IVMP part of the proposed revised EC Notice 

to Applicants, on considering applications for IVMPs which fall 

within the scope of Directive 87/22/EEC and on any ancillary 
maners referred to it for its attention. Ireland acted as rappor
teur for the guideline ;Inclusion of antimicrobial preservatives 

in immunological veterinary medicinal products'. 

3.4 Pharmacovigilance 

The Board received just 17 reports of suspected adverse reac
tions associated with the use of veterinary medicinal products 
duriny the year. As a result of reports on one prodUCt the com
pany involved recalled the product from the market. A review 

of suspected adverse reactions associated with' the use of 
anthelminthic bali in cattle led to change in the labelling of one 

product. As In previous years, reports involving fatalities in 
horses given combinations of trimethoprim sulphonamide 

were intravenously received. The Board also received two 

reports of possible adverse reactions in individuals dipping 
sheep. 

Users of veterinary products are strongly urged to familiarise 

themselves with the precautions, warnings and contraindica

tions outlined in the labelling of the products. These particulars 
may have changed from those previously provided, since EC 

standards have been raised,_and further information received 

by the Board may have been based on updated EC standards 

and the outcome of the assessment of the application for 
authorisation considered by the Board. All untoward events 

involving the use of veterinary medicinal products should be 
reported to the Board. 

3.5 Other Activities 

3.5.1 International Co·Operation 

Co-operation between Member States and the EC continued to 
develop and proved a useful form for discussing problems of a 
regulatory nalure. In as far as resourceS allow the. Board's offi
cers will continue to develop this co-operation. 

During the year the Deputy Director attended the meeting of 
the International Technical Consultation on Veterinary Drug 
Registration (lTCVDR). This forum seeks to improve co-opera
tion between regulators in various geographical blocks with a 

view towards the harmonisation of requirements. Officers of 
the Board attended the meeting of the Codex Alimentarius 

Commission which is concerned with the safety of residues in 

food. Participation in forums such as this ensures that our 

knowledge and standards are comparable with those of 
" 

other authorities both within the EU and externally. 

3.5.2 National Activities 

Department of AgriclIltllre and Food 

There was regular co-operation with this Department. 

A number of meetings took place with officials from the 
Department and the State solicitor to discuss the area of 
illegal use of veterinary medicines and of banned 
substances. The benefits for both parties of them 
continuing co-operation was noted. 

Genetically Modified Organisms 

Following simultaneous requests from both the Department 
of Health, and the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and 
Food, the Board's pharmacy section undertook assessments 

of data submi_tted by applicants under Directive 90/220/EEC 
in support of the release of certain genetically modified 
organisms in the environment. These organisms are 

intended to function as Medicinal Products according to the 
definitions of EC legislation. 

Other Bodies 

During the year meetings were held with the industrial 

development authorities on matters of interest and 
development of the pharmaceutical industry. There were 

meetings with Besselaar Touche Ross on the establishment 

of a European Agency for the evaluation of medicines. 

Meetings were also held with the Irish Veterinary Union 

and the Irish Veterinary Association. 

4.INSPECTION ACTIVITIES 

4.1 Introduction 

The principal issues during 1992 from an inspection view 
point were: adoption of Directive 92/25/EEC on the 

Wholesale Distribution of Medicines for Human use; coming 

into force of the human GMP Directive 91/356/EEC, on the 
1st January 1992; adoption of Directives 92J73/EEC and 

92J74/EEC dealing with homoeopathic medicines for human 
use and veterinary use respectively. 

4.2 Licenses and Inspection 

4.2.1 Human Medicines 

Five applications for manufacturing lice-nces under the 

Medical Preparations (Licensing of Manufacture) 
Regulations were received during the year. 

Recommendations to license were made to the Minister for 

Health in respect of 3 applications. Two existing licences 

were withdrawn and 2 licence applications were also with
drawn. At the end of the year there were 64 licensed 

manufacturers of medical preparations. 

In 1992, 11 applications for wholesale licenses under the 
Medical Preparations (Wholesale Licences) were received. 
Recommendations were made to the Department of Health 
in respect of 6 applications. One application was withdrawn 

and 12 applications were under consideration at year end. 
Thirteen existing licences were withdrawn during the year. 
At the end of the year there were 128 wholesalers licensed 
under these regulations. 



A TOTAL OF 101 INSPECTIONS WERE CONDUCTED DURING THIS 

YEAR, CLASSIRED AS FOLLOWS: 

(I) INSPECTIONS UNDER THE MEDICAL PREPARATIONS (LICENSING OF 

MANUFACTURE) REGULATIONS 1974 AND 1975 

New Applications 8 

Existing licence Holders 29 

(II) INSPECTIONS UNDER THE MEDfCAL PA'EPARATIONS 

(WHOLESALE LICENCES) REGULATIONS 1974 AND 1989. 

New Applications 6 

Existing licence Holders 31 

(1fI) INSPECTIONS UNDER THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES 

(VETERINARY MEDICINAL PRODUCTS) REGULATIONS, 1986. 

New Applications 

Existing Licence Holders 

(IV) OTHER INSPECTIONS 

(SEE FOLLOWING) 

5 

12 

10 

During the year the Board's Inspectors undertook eight inspec
tions on behalf of the Department of Health in respect of appli

cations for Certificates of Good Manufacturing Practice. Two of 

these applications were from manufacturers of bulk drug sub

stances and six were from manufacturers of medical devices. 

One inspection of a manufacturer of bulk drug substances was 

carried out at the request of a Member State of the 
Pharmaceutrcallnspection Convention. One inspection was car

ried out at the premises of a company which had surrendered 

its manufacturing licence during 1991. The purpose of this 

inspection was to check if manufacture of medicinal products 
was laking place. 

4.2.2 Veterinary Medicines 

In 1992,2 applications for manufacturer's licences for veteri

nary medicinal products were received by th~ Board. In addi

tion, 8 applications were under examination at 31st December 
1991. 

Four manufacturer's licences were issued, one application was 

rejected and 5 applications were under examination at the end 

of the year. Twelve inspections of existing licensed manufactur

ers and five inspections of new applicants were undertaken 
during the year. At the end of the year there were 21 licensed 

manufacturers of veterinary medicinal products in this country. 

In addition, four other'inspections were carried out. These were 
as follows: one inspection on behalf of the Department of 

Health of a manufacture of a veterinary medical device who 

had requested a certificate under the Therapeutic Substances 

Act; One inspection, in conjunction with an Inspector from the 
Department of Agriculture, of a new facility for the manufacture 

of veterinary immunological products; two inspections of unli

censed veterinary facilities to determine if manufacture of vet
erinary medicinal products was being carried out. 

4.3 European Community 

4.3.1 Working Party on Control of 
Medicines/Inspections 

One meeting of this working party was held during 1992. The 

major issues dealt with were:, 

(I! DIRECTIVE 91(356/EEC ON GOOD MANUFACTURING 

PRACTICE IGMP) 

The implementation date for this Directive was 1st January. 
1992. Irish manufacturers were inspected in accordance with 
the requirements of this Directive and were reminded of the 
need to comply with this Directive. 

(u) GUIDE TO GOOD MANUFACTURING PRACTICE 

FOR MEDICINAL PRODUCTS 

32 

A revised version of Volume IV of the Rules governing 

medicinal products in the EC was published during 1992. 

This included the eleven annexes adopted during 1991. 

The main body of the guide and the annex On manufacture 

of sterile medicinal products remained unchanged. 

(m)AOOPTION OF ADDITIONAL ANNEXES ON GMP 

Annexes adopted during 1992 were: manufacture of investi 
gational medicinal products, and manufacture of medicinal 
products derived from human blood and human plasma. 
The date for implementation of these guidelines was 
1st July, 1993. 

(IV) DRAFT ANNEX ON MANUFACTURE OF HOMEOPATHIC 

MEDICINAL PRODUCTS 

This draft was still under consideration at the end of 1992. 

(v) AD Hoc WORKING PARTY ON HARMONISATION 

OF INSPECTIONS 

Three meetings of this working party were held during 1992. 

Three draft guidelines were adopted for consultation. 
These covered: conduct of inspections, training of inspectors. 
exchange of information of manufacturing authorisations. 

Other issues included: preparation of guidelines for the 

preparation of inspection reports and of a site master file, 
ground for revoking/suspending authorisations, counterfeit 

products, rapid alerts relating to defective product and the 

classification of such alerts, quality systems for inspectorates. 

(vI) TESTING OF MEDICINAL PRODUCTS 

A possible role for the European Pharmacopoeia in the 

co-ordination of the activities of official control laboratories 

in the Community was under consideration at the end of 1992. 

(VII) EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AREA (EEA) 

Formation of this trading bloc involving the 12 EC Member 

-States and 6 of the 7 European Free Trade Association 

Member States (Switzerland excepted) was at an advanced 
stage at the end of 1992. As the EEA involve the EFTA 

member states implementing all EC directives, there will be 
mutual recognition of inspections between EEA member 

states and EC member states. 

(vm) DIRECTIVE ON PHARMACEUTICAL WHOLESALING 

This Directive (92/25/EEC) was adopted during 1992. The 
implementation date for this Directive was 1st January, 1993. 

This Directive provided for the development of guidelines 
on good distribution practice. Work on these guidelines was 

due to begin early in 1993. 

(IX) DIRECTIVE ON HOMEOPATHIC MEDICINES 

This Directive (92/73/EEC) was adopted during 1992. This 

Directive includes a requirement that each manufacturer of 
homeopathic medicinal products should hold a manufactu

rer's licence. It should be noted that such a licence has been 

required in Ireland since 1974. 

4.4 Other Activities 

4.4.1 Convention for the Mutual Recognition of 
Inspections in Respect of the Manufacture of 
Pharmaceutical Products (PIC) 

The Committee established in accordance with Article 8 of 
the convention held two meetings, in May and November. 
The main business of the Committee concerned the mutual 
training of inspectors, the extension of the Convention to 
other countries, the updating and broadening of the basic 
rules of Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP), the format of 
inspection reports exchanged under the terms of the 
Convention and various practical aspects of the operation 
of the Convention. Strategy for the future of the Convention 

was also discussed. The existence of the Convention allows 
the exchange of information regarding standards of 
manufacture and control of specific products, circumstances 

in which a pharmaceutical product could constitute an 
immediate and serious risk and cases of counterfeited, 

falsified or re-Iabelled products. 



Details of reports requested of and by the Board under the 

Pharmaceutical Inspection Convention are shown: 

REQUESTS FOR INSPECTION REPORTS UNDER THE 
PHARMACEUTICAL INSPECTION CONVENTION 1992 

Requests received by the Board: 

COUNTRY NUMBER OF REQUESTS 

Finland 

Iceland 3 

Sweden 2 

Switzerland 

United Kingdom 6 

TOTAL REQUESTS RECEIVED 13 

Requests made by the Board: 

COUNTRY NUMBER OF REQUESTS 

Italy 

Netherlands 

United Kingdom 3 

TOTAL REQUESTS MADE 5 

4.4.2 PIC Joint Visits Scheme 

The Board's Senior Inspector, together with Inspectors from 

Denmark and The Netherlands, participated in a joint inspec
tion exercise in December, The group visited an Irish pharma

ceutical manufacturing facitity at which the Irish inspector car
ried out a two day inspection. The implications of the results 

for the interpretation of GMP guidelines formed the basis for a 
report prepared for the PIC secretariat. The Board was pleased 
to acknowledge the willing co-operation of the manufacturer in 
this valuable exercise. 

5. ADDITIONAL MATTERS 

5.1 Recalls 

5.1.1 Medicinal Products for Human Use 

During 1992, the Board was informed of 24 recalls of 

medicinal products for human use: 

These were categorised as follows: 

Labelling Error 4 

Packaging Error 2 

Incorrect Formulation 3 

Unauthorised Product 2 

Physical Defect 3 

Blood product due to possible 

Hepatitis A Transmission 3 

Dissolution Failure 

Adverse Reaction 

(Complete Withdrawal) 2 

Stability Problem 

Microbial Contamination 

Particulate Matter 2 

These 24 recalls were notified as follows: 

PA Holder/Distributor 19 

ECIPIC Rap;d Alert 

Depa~ment of Health 4 

5.1.2 Medicinal Products for Veterinary Use 

During 1992, the Board was informed of 7 recalls of 

medicinal products for veterinary use. 

These were categorised as follows: 

Labelling Error 

Unapproved Source of 

Active Ingredient 

Adverse Reaction 

(Complete Withdrawal) 

Unlicensed Manufacturer 

Particulate Matter 

2 

2 

These 7 recalls were nOlified as follows: 

Resulting from Inspection 5 

Velerinary Surgeon 2 



5.1.3 Recalls of Products Manufactured in 
Ireland, but Distributed Entirelv Outside Ireland 

Two such recalls of medicinal products for human use were 

notified to the Board during 1992 by the manufacturers con

cerned. 
One recall wa.s due to an' error in the amount of an excipient 

included in a formulation. 
The second recall was due to crystallisation of active ingredient 
from. an injection solution. This was due to sensitivity to oxida
tion caused by inadequate inert gassing of containers during 

filling. 
In both cases, appropriate remedial action was taken to prevent 
recurrence. 

5.2 Quality Defects 

Forty-five reports of quality defects in medicinal products were 
investigated during 1992 of which forty were substantiated. The 
unsubstantiated reports·concerned lack of efficacy, allegedly 

empty vials of solution which were later found to contain 
syringe marks showing that the solution had been removed, 

two different strengths of tablet found in one container which 

was traced to an error by the pharmacist concerned. 

Quality Defects Reports 1992 

Product Container Labelling Broken Leaking 
TV .. Paekaging 

Other 
Phvsical 

Characteristics 

Tablets 1 4 3 

Capsules 1 2 2 

Parenterals 1 2 

Oral liquids 3 1 2 

Topical 
products 

Products 
for inhalation 2 1 

Suppository 

Chewing 
gum 

Total 7 5 4 2 7 

... 

One product recall was initiated due to a quality-defect 

report of mOuld growing in a large volume parenteral 

solution. Subsequent investigation revealed that the 
packaging had been badly damaged during transport 

resulting in the mould growth. 

Most of the other complaints related to the physical charact

eristics of the products and included broken or crushed tablets, 
mottled tablet appearance, discoloured tablets and supposi 
taries which had 'spilt in half. In addition, an increasing 
number of reports were received where the product had 
deteriorated during storage while well within its shelf life 
e.g. a cream separating into its constituents, clear solutions 
turning yellow in colour. liquid formulations precipitating 
out, and cracks appearing in tablet coatings. 

Labelling defects continued to be.a problem (labels without 
an expiry date, batch number and/or a PA number). In some 

cases products were found on the market place without any 
label at all. In addition a number ~f products were marketed 
in packages which were empty of contents. Considering all 

the checks performed during packaging and filling it is of 

concern that such packs can find their way onto the market. 

Physical Empty Deteriorated Pracipitation Total 
Contamination Package Product 

1 2 11 

1 1 7 

2 2 7 

1 1 8 

1 1 

1 

1 1 

1 1 

3 4 6 2 40 



6.STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

Report of the Auditors 

We have audited the financial statements in accordance with 
Auditing Standards and have obtained all the information and 

explanations which we considered necessary for the plIrposes 
of our audit. 

In our opinion, the Board has kept proper books of account and 
the Financial Statements. which are in agreement therewith, 
give a true and fair view of the slate of the Board's affairs at 31 
December 1992 and of its results for the year ended on that 
date. 

DELOlnE & TOUCHE. 

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors. 

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 

1992 1991 

IRC IRC 

Income receivable (Note 1) 1.682.948 1.455.322 

Less: Expenditure (Schedule 1) 11.539.497) )1.395.8731 

Surplus for the Year 143.451 59,449 

Balance brought forward 
1 January 1992 32.821 126.628) 

Balance carried forward 
31 December 1992 176.272 32.821 

BALANCE SHEET ,IT 31 DECEMBER 1992 

Notes 1992 1991 

IRC IRC 

FIXED ASSETS 4 117.605 37.271 

CURRENT ASSETS 

Debtors and payments in advance 41.259 32.236 

Stock of stationery and oil 9.828 9.227 

Cash on hand and at bank 153.296 995 

204383 42,458 

LESS: CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Accrued expenses 28.111 9.637 

NET CURRENT 
ASSETS/ILlA81L1TIESI 176.272 32.821 

TOTAL NET ASSETS 293,877 70.092 

FINANCED BY: 

Income and expenditure account 176.272 32.821 

Capital reserve 5 117.605 37.271 

293.877 70.092 

JS 

CISH FLOII' STATEMENT 
FOR THE rEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1992 

1992 1991 

Notes IRC IRC 

NET CASH INFLOW 6 152.678 50.993 

Return on investments and 
servicing of finance: 

Interest received 220 3 

Interest paid (627) 11.663) 

Net cash outflow from returns on 
investments and 
servicing of finance 14071 11.660) 

Net cash inflow after return on 
investments and servicing 
of finance 152.271 49.333 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Proceeds from disposal 
of fixed assets 30 

Payments to acquire 
tangible fixed assets (120.784) 18.968) 

1120.754) 18.968) 

NET CASH INFLOW 
BEFORE FINANCING 31,517 40.365 

Financing: 

Department of Health 
repurchase of fixed assets 120.784 8.968 

INCREASE IN CASH 
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 7 152,301 49.333 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE rEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1992 

1. INCOME RECEIVABLE 1992 1991 

IRC IRC 

Department of Health: 

Non-Capital Grant 1.414.000 1.174.000 

Capital Grant 110.000 

1,524,000 1.174.000 

Less: Transfer to capital reserve 

re purchase of fixed assets 1120.784) 18.968) 

Licensing and Amendment Fees 279.512 290.287 

Deposit interest 220 3 

1.682.948 1,455,322 



2. SALARIES 

Salaries have been shown net of Superannuation and Widows 

and Orphans Fund contributions. 

Deductions are made under the Local Government 
(Superannuation) Act 1956 and local Authority and Widows 

and Orphans Pension Scheme. Since the Board is not obliged 
to maintain·a separate fund. no liability has been included in 
the accounts in respect of the deductions, nor has.any provi
sion been made in respect of future payments which may arise 
and which will be incurred by the Board out of future revenue. 

3. DEPRECIATION 

Depreciation has been charged to write off the cost of furniture 
and fittings at a rate of 20% p.s. straight line. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1992 

4. FIXED ASSETS Equipment, Furniture & Fittings 

1992 1991 

IR[ IR[ 

COST 

Balance 1 January 1992 206,176 197.208 

Additions during year 120.784 8,968 

Disposals 

Balance 31 December 1992 206.176 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 

Balance 1 January 1992 168.905 139.101 

Charge for year 40.450 29.804 

On disposals (1001 

Balance 31 December 1992 209.255 168,905 

NET BOOK VALUE 

31 December 1992 117,605 37.271 

5. CAPITAL RESERVE 1992 1991 

IR[ IR[ 

Balance 1 January 1992 37.271 58,107 

Purchase of fixed assets 120,784 8.968 

Depreciation (40,450) (29.8041 

Balance 31 December 1992 117,605 37.271 

J6 

6. RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS TO NET CASH 

INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

1992 1991 

IRE IRE 

Surplus for year 143,451 59,449 

trncrea-sel/decrease in debtors (9.0231 (8.6761 

(lncrease)/decrease in slacks (6011 (2371 

Decrease in accrued expenses 18.474 (1.2031 

Deposit Interest (220) (31 

Bank lnte~esr and charges 627 (31 

Gain on disposal of fixed asset ---.JlQ.I 

152.678 50.993 

, 
7. ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS AS SHOWN IN BALANCE SHEET 

Cash at bank 

and in hand 

1992 

IR[ 

153.296 

8. LEASE COMMITMENTS 

Operating leases 

Amounts payable during the next 
twelve months in respect of leases 

which expire: 

within one year 

between two and five years 

after five years 

1991 Change in Year 

IR[ IR[ 

995 152.301 

1992 1991 

IRE IR[ 

9,000 

5.217 13.989 

128.000 

142.217 141.989 

The operating leases include an annual commitment of 

IR£2la,OOO in respect of the Board's premises. This lease is due 
to expire in 2017 and·is subject to five yearly reviews. The next 

review arises in 1996. 



SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURE 

1992 1991 

IR£ IR£ 

ESTABLISHMENT: 

Operating Lease Rentals: 

Premises 128,000 116,264 

Rates 33,168 31,755 

Insurances 8,989 9,027 

Repairs and maintenance 39,592 55,887 

Light and heat 11,154 11,183 

Cleaning 12,818 11,912 

234,421 236,028 

ADMINISTRATIDN: 

Salaries and ex-employee 

pensions 1,034,605 919,831 

Travel expenses 76,674 80,030 

Printing, postage and stationery 80,086 69,349 

Publications & subscriptions 12,996 6,233 

Operating Lease Rentals: 

Equipment and Fittings 13,897 13,992 

Sampling and analysis 37,017 35,175 

Advertising 13,848 500 

Auditors' fees 3,750 3,000 

Legal fees 787 2,219 

Consultancy fees 4,220 10.785 

Telephone and telex 15,682 13,810 

Sundry expenses 64 258 

Computer analysis 3,388 

Document Storage 7,465 

Gain on disposal of fixed asset (301 

1,304,449 1,158,182 

FINANCIAL: 

Bank interest and charges 627 1,663 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 1,539,427 1,395,873 

J7 



NATIONAL DRUGS ADVISORY BOARD 
All Bord Comhairleach Naisillnta Drugallna 

ANNUAL REPORT 

1993 



CONTENTS 

1. GENERAL MAnERS. 

2. HUMAN MEDICINES. 

2.1 Inlroduction. 

2.2 Licensing Activities. 

2.3 European Community. 

2.4 PharmacQvigilance. 

2.5 Other Matters. 

2.6 Clinical Trials. 

3. VETERINARY MEDICINES. 

3.1 Introduction. 

3.2 Licensing Activities. 

3.3 European Community. 

3.4 Pharmacovigilance. 

3.5 Other Activities. 

4. INSPECTION ACTIVITIES. 

4.1 Introduction. 

4.2 licenses and Inspections. 

4.3 European Community. 

4.4 Other Activities. 

5. ADDITIONAL MAnERS 

5.1 Sampling Activities. 

5.2 Recalls. 

5.3 Quality Defects. 

6. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 



I.GENERAL MATTERS 

The names of the members of the Board. its Committees and 

its officers on the 31st December, 1993 are listed in the follow

ing section. 

In a letter, dated 27th September 1993, Mr. L. Dunbar tendered 

his resignation from the Board. 

In June. 1993. Mr. G O'Malley M.V.B., M.A.C.V.S .. Castlebar. Co. 
Mayo accepted the Board's invitation to serve on the Veterinary 

Committee. 

In July. 1993. Dr. R. Counahan, M.D .• B.eh .• N.U.I.. F.R.C.P .• 
Consultant Paediatrician, Ardkeen Hospital. Waterford and Dr. 
B. lawlor, Consultant Psychiatrist, M.B., B.eh., N.U.I.. M.R.C.P.I.. 
Department of Psycho-Geriatric Medicine, St. James Hospital, 

Dublin. accepted the Board's invitation to serve on the 
Committee on Clinical Trials. 

The Board noted with regret the death in November 1993 of 

former Board member, Professor Cedric Wils.0f\ M.p: Sc.B. 

BOARD 

K. O'MALLEY M.D.,Ph.D., D.Se., F.R.C.P.I., F.R.C.P.IEd.), 

Registrar and Professor of Clinical Pharmacology, Royal 
College of Surgeons in Ireland, Dublin - CHAIRMAN. 

T.B. BARRAGRY Ph.D., M.V.B., M.V.M., M.R.C.V.S., 

Senior Lecturer, Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, 

University College Dublin. 

W.E. BOLES B.Se., Ph.D., F.P.S.I., 

Pharmaceutical Chemist, Inchicore, Dublin 8. 

D. BONAR M.B., B.Ch., M.I.C.G.P., 

Dungloe, Co. Donegal. 

J, BRISCOE L.D.S.R.C.S.I., P.C., 

Clonskeagh, Dublin 14. 

K. CONNOLLY M.B., F.R.C.P.I., D.C.H., 

Consultant Paediatrician, Portiuncla Hospital, 

Ballinasloe, Co. Galway. 

J. FEELY B.Se., M.A., M.D., F.R.C.P.I., F.R.C.P.IEd.), 

Professor of Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 

University of Dublin. 

G.R. FITZGERALD M.B., B.Ch., F.R.C.P., 

Consultant Physician, Ardkeen Regional Hospital; Watenord. 

M.C. GAYNOR M.V.B., B.L., M.A., M.Se., Dip.A.H., Dip.E.L., 
M.R.C.V.S., 

Superintending Veterinary Inspector, 

Department of Agriculture and Food, 
Kildare Street. Dublin 2. 

At its meeting on 29th July, 1993, the Board appointed 

Mr. C. O'SUllivan as acting Chief Executive OHicer for one 
At its meeting on 29th July, the Board appointed 

Mr. C. 0' Sullivan as acting Chief Executive Officer for one 
year with effect from 1st September 1993. It was elso agreed 
that Mr. O'SUllivan would continue to have overall 
responsibility for the operation of veterinary matters within 
the Board. 

Ms. E. Canavan and Mr. D. Hayes, resigned as Pharmacists 
to the Board in February and in August 1993 respectively. 

Dr. O'Brien resigned from his post as Medical Assessor to 
the Board in September 1993. Dr. Lyons and Dr. Gilvarry 
took up their posts as Medical Assessors in January and 

December 1993 respectively. 

In March 1993, Ms. A. McGee took up her post as Inspector 

to the Board and Ms. S. McDonald took up her post as 
Senior Systems Administrator. 

K. McGARRY M.B .. B.Ch., F.R.C.P.I., D.C.H., 

Consultant Physician, Our Lady's Hospital. 

Navan, Co. Meath. 

T.A. McGUINN M.Se.IPharm.), F.F'S.I., 

Chief Pharmacist, Department of Heahh, Dublin. 

M. McLOONE Chief Executive Officer, 

Beaumont Hospital, Dublin. 

P.F. NOWLAN M.V.B., M.Se.iTox.1. M.RC.V.S., 

Lecturer in Laboratory Animal ~cience and Manager, 
Bio-Resources Centre, University of Dublin. 

T.V. O'DWYER M.B., F.F.C.M.I., D.C.H .. L.M., 

D.Obst.IR.C.O.G.1. 

Deputy Chief Medical Officer, 

Department of Health, Dublin 2. 

D.P. O'MAHONY M.D., Department of Pharmacology, 

Uriiversity College, Cork. 

G. O'MALLEY M.V.B .. M.R.C.V.S., 

Castiebar, Co. Mayo. 

G.G. SHAW B.Pharm., M.A., Ph.D., M.R.Pharm.S., 

Professor of Pharmacology, School of Pharmacy, 

University of Dublin. 

M. WILEY Senior Research Officer, 
The Economic and Social Research Institute. 



CO~ IMITrEE ON EVALUAIlON AND TOXlcrn' 

• G,G. SHAW Chairman. 

• T.B. BARRAGRY 

• W.E. BOLES 

M.L. CONALTY M.D., F.R.C.Path., D.P.H., M.R.I.A .• 

Dublin. 

T.D. FEELEY M.Sc., Ph.D., M.ChemA. F.R.I.C., 

Public Analyst. Public Analyst's Laboratory, 
Regional Hospital, Galway_ 

I.B. HILLARY M.D .. FR.C.P.I.. F.R.C.Path., D.P.H., 

D.C.H .• 

Associate Professor Medical Microbiology (Virology)' 
University College, Dublin. 

B. LEONARD B.Sc., Ph.D., D.Sc., M.R.I.A., 

Professor of Pharmacology, 

University College, Galway, 

• T.A. McGUINN 

• D.P. O'MAHONY 

R.F.TIMONEY Ph.D .• M.Sc., F.P.S.I.. FRSC., 

Foxrock. Dublin 18. 

~ Delloff'_\ In('mhl'r (~r ,Ill' Hoard 

COM~IITTEE ON DRUG USAGE AND ADVERSE 
REACTIONS 

• J. FEELY Chairman. 

L. BARNES M.B., F.R.C.P.I., 

Consultant Dermatologist. Hume Street Hospital. Dublin. 

G.P. BURY M.B., D.Ch .. M.R.C.P.I.. M.R.C.G.P., 

Department of General Practice, Mercer's Health Centre, Dublin. 

D.N. CARNEY M.D .. Ph.D .• F.R.C.P.I.. 

Consultant Medical Oncologist. Mater Hospital, Dublin 7. 

• K. CONNOLLY 

D. FITZGERALD M.D .• FR.C.P.I.. 

Consultant Clinical Pharmacologist, 
Mater Misericordiae Hospital. 

O. FITZGERALD M.D .. FR.C.P .. M.R.C.P .• 

Consultant Physician. 51. Vincent's Consultants Private Clinic. 

S.R. FLINT M.D.B.S .. M.D.S .• FD.S.R.C.S .. F.F.D.R.C.S.I .. 

Ph.D .. 

Consultant in Oral Diagnosis, Dublin Dental Hospital. 

D. GILL M.B .• FR.C.P.I .. B.Sc .• D.C.H .. 

Professor of Paediatrics. 
Royal College of Surgeons, Dublin. 

C.T. KEANE M.B .• B.Sc .• FR.C.Path .. 
Professor of Clinical Microbiology, 
S1. James's Hospital. Dublin. 

• K. McGARRY 

• T.V. O'DWYER 

J. STRONGE M.B .• B.Ch .• MAO .• F.R.C.O.G .• 

Consultant Obstetrician, National Maternity Hospital, Dublin. 

M.G.T. WEBB M.B .. M.Phil.. F.R.C.P.I.. F.R.C.Psych .. 

Professor Psychiatry. University of Dublin. 

*" [)enfJIe.\· memher III the'Buard 

VETERINARY COMMITTEE 

• P.F NOWLAN Chairman. 

• T.B. BARRAGRY 

R. BREATHNACH M.R.C.V.S .. 

Ballsbridge, Dublin 4. 

M.A. GARGAN B.Ag.Sc .. 
Agricultural Inspector, 
Department of Agriculture and Food, 
Kildare Street, Dublin 2. 

• M.C. GAYNOR 

M.B.T. LAMBERT B.Sc .. M.A .. Ph.D .. F.R.S.C .• C.Chem .• 

FI.C.I.. 

Professor of Equine Forensic Research. 
University of Dublin. 

G. LANE M.V.B .• M.R.C.V.S .. 

Abbeyville Veterinary Hospital, 

Togher Road, Cork. 

D.P. LEADON M.A .. M.V.B .. M.Sc .. F.R.C.VS .. 

Irish Equine Centre, Johnstown, Co. Kildare. 

D. MILLS M.R.C.V.S .. 

Jobstown Tallaght, Co. Dublin. 

P.J.O·CONNOR M.V.B .• DVS.M .• M.R.C.V.S .. 

Senior Research Officer. Veterinary Research Laboratory. 
Abbotstown, Castle knock, Co. Dublin. 

• G. O'MALLEY 

D. POOLE M.Sc .. Ph.D., M.R.C.V.S .• 

Lucan, Co. Dublin. 

.. IJel/ole_~ member tlf the Iloard 

COMMITTEE ON CLINICAL TRIALS 

II- G.R. FITZGERALD Chairman. 

L.T. BANNAN M.B .. B.Ch. 

Consultant Physician, Letterkenny General Hospital, 

Co. Donegal. 

R. COUNAHAN M.D .• B.Ch .• N.U.I.. F.R.C.P .. 

Consultant Paediatrician. 

Ardkeen Regional Hospital, Waterford. 

B. LAWLOR M.B .. BCh .. N.U.I.. M.R.C.P.I.. 

Cansu I tantPsychiatrisl, 

Department of Psycho·Geriatric Medicine, 

S!. James's Hospital. Dublin 8. 

• K. McGARRY 

• T.V. O'DWYE R 

P.A. SULLIVAN M.B .• B.Ch .• M.R.C.P .. FR.C.P.I.. 

Consultant Physician, General Hospital, Mallow. Co. Cork. 

• G.G. SHAW 

'" /ll'lwte.\' ml'mba (~r ,lit' lJoard 



OFFICERS OF THE BOARD 

Chief E!<Bcutive Officer and Senior Veterinary Officer 

CYRIL O'SULLIVAN M.V.B., M.Sc" M.R.C.V.S. 

Deputy Medical Director 

MARIE T. BURNS M.B., D.A" F.F.A.R.C.S.1. 
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DAVID LYONS M.D., M.Sc., M.R.C.P. 
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2.HUMAN MEDICINES 

2.1 Introduction 

The Board continues to receive a large number of sponta

neously reported side effects from healthcare professionals. 
These are recorded. evaluated and used to update prescribing 

recommendations where necessary. The anonymous data is 
then integrated into the WHO database where it provides a 
valuable international resource. Post-marketing surveillance 
activities remain the cornerstone of our information source in 
monitoring the safety of medicines in Ireland and we would like 
to record our appreciation of all those who participate in our 
spontaneous reporting scheme. 

2.2 Licensing Acth·itics 

During 1993 the Board received 651 applications for product 
authorisations to market medicinal preparations. As a result of 
the Board's assessment activities. 463 products were recom

mended for licensing. Forty four applications were withdrawn 
following assessment. At year end there were a total of 2,416 

product application files for which no recommendations for 

licensing had been made. These included files under assess
ment and awaiting assessment. files awaiting responses to 

questions and files where a recommendation to license had not 

been granted but where no formal withdrawal had been made 

or formal rejection issued. 

In the case of existing authorised products. 273 authorisations 

were renewed. 1.805 authorisations were withdrawn or can

celled and 1,814 products were awaiting issue of renewals al 
year end. There were an estimated 8.228 products carrying 

product authorisations at year end. 

The Board received 2.209 applications for amendments for 

changes in the terms of produci authorisations. A total of 
1.849 amendments were approved. There were 1.744 amend

ments awaiting assessment for which approval had not been 

given at year end. 

2.3 European COl1ll1lunit~· 

The work programme of the CommiHee for Proprietary 

Medicinal Products (CPMP) focused on setLing up systems for 

the implementation of Directive 93/39 EEC (which refers to the 
decentralised procedure of product authorisation) and the 

Council Regulation 2309/93 (which describes the centralised 

procedure of product autholisation). of all which were adopted 
during the year. The planning of such procedures involved a 

substantial workload for both the CPM? and its working par

lies. 

The second International Conference on Harmonisation of 
Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for 

Human Use (lCH) took place in Japan in September. The CPMP 

and its working parties were involved in the drafting of many 

discussion papers for this conference. 

2.3.1 CPMP Working Party on Safety of 
Medicines 

The main focus of the group was the ongoing rCH 11 agenda on 

carcinogenic potential (dose selection. utility of two rodent 
species. defining conditions which require carcinogenicity stud
iesl. genotoxicity. loxicokinetics. repeated dose toxicity (12 
month dog study). The safety aspect of the quality topic. 
"Organic impurities in synthetic new active substances". was 
also considered by the group. The final Step 4 Guideline on 
Reproductive Toxicity was drawn up and circulated. Work com
menced on a number of new guidelines including: require· 
ments,prior to commencement of clinical trials for products to 

be used in oncology and in the treatment of HIV infections (this 
topic later became incorporated into the more generallCH 

guideline on Requirements before commencement of clinical 
trials). Work already in progress on guidelines for investigation 

of chiral active ingredients. categorisation of medicinal prod-
·t5 

ucts for use in pregnancy and abridged applications dealing 

with locally applied. locally acting products progressed. 

In view of the plan to phase out chlorinated fluorocarbon 
(CFe's) from medicinal products. the group considered the 

preclinical package necessary for metered dose inhaler 
products which combine a known active wit~ a new 
non-CFC propellant. The group on behalf of CPMP 

contributed to a working party discussion on the limits to 
be applied to solvent impurities together with the European 
Pharmacopoeia'and Ihe Council of Europe. The group made 
a recommendation to the Quality Working Group with 
regard to the use of ethylene oxide in the. manufacture of 
medicinal products. Revision of Part 111 of the Notice to 
Applicants continued and a work programme for the Safety 
Group for the coming year was proposed to CPMP. 

2.3.2 CPMP Working Party on Efficacy 

The group met on two occasions and continued its work 
on the following guidelines:- statistics. anxiolytics. 

categorisation of drugs for pregnancy. The content of the 
Summary of Product Characteristics for the following were 

discussed - beta blockers. angiotensin converting enzyme 

inhibitors. The Summary of Product Characteristics for 
benzodiazepines was finalised and presented to the CPMP 

for adoption. The following ICH topics were also discussed 

by the Group - dose-response, clinically study reports. 

population exposure and clinical safety information. 

2.3.3 CPMP Working Party on 
Pharmacovigilance 

This working party met twice during the year. The main 

emphasis at these meetings was the finalisation of 
guidelines for reporting of adverse drug reactions by 

companies to be ins8ned into the revised Notice to 
Applicants for the Future System. These guidelines were 

finalised and were presented to the CPMP for consideration. 
Work continued on the guidelines for competent authorities 

in the undertaking of pharmacovigilance activities. The 

ad hoc working group on hypnotics finalised ils repon 
together with an agreed Summary of Product Characteristics 

(SPC) for each of the products under review. The report, 
together with the SPC's were adopted by the CPMP. 

2.3.4 CPMP Operations Working Party 

This group met on a regular basis throughout the year as it 
had the main responsibility for drawing up guidelines for 

the implementation of the Future System in January 1995. 

Work was begun on revision of the current European 

Assessment Repon format and of the Notice to Applicants 

to include the decentralised and centralised procedures or 

product authorisalion. Work was also begun on the 
preparation of a document dealing with the handling of 

variations to product authorisations in the Future System. 

Procedures for implementation of Articles 11 and 12 of the 
amending Directive 93/39 EEC were also drawn up by the 

group. The group working with the Chairman of the CPMP 
to draw Lip a document dealing with the transition from the 
concenation to decentralised procedures when the new 

Directive and Regulation came into force in 1995. 



2.3.5 Working Party on Biotechnology/Pharmacy 

This working party met 5 times in 1993 and also met with 

manufaclUres of influenza vaccines in March. Three products 

were recommended for approval through the concertation 
procedure and 13 variations to existing products were also 

approved. Work on guidelinos focused on topics for ICH 1993 
and an EC guideline,on transgenic animals, gene therapy, 
continuous cell lines and revision of the monoclonal antibody 

guidelines. Following cases of hepatitis A infections in several 
European countries, an ad hoc sub-group was formed to con
sider viral safety issues associated with the use of blood prod
ucts. 

2.3.6 Quality Working Party 

This group met twice in 1993 and worked primarily on develop

ment of guidelines as part of the ICH process. These covered 
the areas of stability testing, impurities and analytical valida
tion. The meetings were held in conjunction with those of the 

CVMP quality woup. 

2.4 Pharmacovigilance 

2.4.1 Adverse Drug Reactions 

The Board received 1054 reports of adverse drug reactions dur

ing the year. Pharmaceutical companies provided the largest 

proportion (38.3%) followed by general practitioners (31.4%), 
hospital doctors (12%), community pharmacists (6.7%,), hospital 

monitoring studies (6%) and nurses (2.3%). There were 35 

deaths recorded in association with drug use. Of these, 28 were 

related to the primary illness, 1 was associated with drug over

dose and 1 was associated with suspected teratogenic effects 

(cardiac) in a neonate. In the remainder is was not possible to 
assign an aetiology. 

There were 13 reports of drug interactions. 

Further details of the above will be published in a separate 
report. 

2.4.2 Comments on Specific Drugs 

Bromocriplille 

Following review of international data, prescribing information 
for bromocriptine was amended as follows, to remind practi

tioners that it should not be used routinely for suppression of 

lactation: "In rare cases where its use is considered medically 

essential, bromocriptine may be used (Q suppress or inhibit 
puerperal lactation. It should not be used in routine suppres

sion of lactation or for the relief of symptoms of postpartum 

pain and engorgemenl which can be adequately treated with 

simple analgesics and breast support". 

Clo'Zapille 

This antipsychotic drug, indicated for treatment-resistant 

schizophrenic patients was authorised for use in 1992. Because 

of the risk of agranulocytosis associated with the use of clolap
ine, careful haematological monitoring of patients is necessary. 

During 1993 a number of cases of myocarditis associated with 
use of clozapine was reported worldwide. 

IItoc/obemide 

Moclobemide, a reversible inhibitor of monoamine oxidase A 
(RIMA) was authorised in 1993. In view of ils novel chemical 
structure it was subject to specialist monitoring I.e. treatment 
initiated under consultant supervision only, with all side effects 
and unexpected reactions notified to the Board. Unfortunately 
only a small proportion of patient monitoring forms were 
returned to the company. providing limited information on the 
safety and efficacy of the product. Despite the burdensome 

nature of completing report forms, the Board encourages all 
physicians involved in specialist monitoring studies to do so in 
order 10 ensure on-going surveillance of products when used in 

the circumstances of routine clinical practice. 

./, 

Quin%lle Amibiorics 

The Committee on Drug Usage and Adverse Reactions 
undertook a review of all prescribing information for these 

products with particular emphasis on their use in the 
treatment of respiratory infections. 

Rellloxipride 

Dliring late 1993, use of remoxipride (a neuroleptic agent 
indicated for treatment of acute and chronic schizophrenic 
psychoses) was reported to be associated with an 
increased risk of aplastic anaemia. A total of 8 cases were 
reported worldwide during the year. A letter was circulated 
by the manufacturer in October 1993 advising physicians and 
pharmacists of the risks associated with treatment and 
recommending a haematological nlonilaring programme 

for patients. The company subsequently decided to 
withdraw the product from all EC markets, maintaining 
availability on a named-patient only basis for those patients 

for whom their psychiatrist feels it is the only 
appropriate therapy. 

Nitodrille 

In October 1992 the manufacturer circulated a letter to 

physicians and pharmacists regarding reports of maternal 

pulmonary oedema including 2 fatalities in the UK associa

ted with the use of ritodrine in the management of pre-term 
labour. The letter also included revised prescribing 

information. Early in 1993 the pharmacovigilance working 

party of the European Committee for Proprietary Medicinal 

Products (CPM?) reviewed the risk/benefit profile of the 

product and recommended Ihat usage should be limited 10 

gestation of 24-33 weeks, the intravenous dosage regimen 
should be refined and a further revision of the product 

information should provide strengthened precautions and 
warnings regarding the risk of development of pulmonary 

oedema. The Irish product authorisation documents were 
updated accordingly. 

Vitami" K 

Further to a 1992 publication concerning the possible 
association between neonatal administration of intramuscular 

vitamin K and the development of childhood cancer, 

preliminary data from a large controlled slUdy in the US 
failed to demonstrate an association. Guidelines on the 

administration of Vitamin K prophylaxis to newborn babies 

were published by the Irish Faculty of Paediatrics. 

2.5 Other Acth'itics 

The Officers of the Board continued to represent the Board 

on the Food Advisory Committee. A National Immunisation 

Committee was set up under the auspices of the Royal 
College of Physicians in Ireland. Dr. M.E. Teeling was 

appointed as the Board's Representative to this Committee. 

2.6 Clinical Trials 

The Board received and considered 213 applica[ions to 
conduct clinical trials during the year. Of these, 18 (8%) 
were in Category 1, 23 (11%) were in Category 2 and 
172 (81%) were in Category 3. Of these 213 applications, all 

were approved except for 1 in Category 1 and 3 in 
Category 3. Modifications of the protocol were required in 
8% of the remainder. A tolal of 142 applications to amend 
existing clinal trial approvals were made of which all but 3 
were approved. 



3. VETERINARY MEDICINE 

3.1 Introduction 

Progress continued in the review of established veterinary 
medicines. The Board noted with appreciation. some improve, 
ment in the quality of files subrT"!ined by applicant companies. 

Significant delays by companies in responding 10 questions 
arising from the initial assessment of applications were a con
tinuing problem. As a result. steps were initiated La introduce a 
timetable for submission of replies. This would however, 
include mechanisms [0 facilitate companies in cases where 

additional studies are required. Adequate time would be 
adhered for this. The increasing use of consofldated formats in 
replying 10 questions arising from assessments was welcomed. 
The co-operation of the veterinary pharmaceutical industry is 

appreciated. The Deputy Director (Veterinary) was appointed 
Acting Director to the Board. thereby being diverted from a 

purely veterinary role. In Jury he was appointed Chief 
Executive for a period of one year with a resulting significam 

reduction in his time available for vet~rinary matters, In 
December Mr. Ruadhri Breatnach M.V.B.. M.R.C.V.S .• was 

appointed a temporary veterinary assessor. 

3.2 Licensing Acti vities 

Sixty applications for veterinary product authorisations were 

received during the year. Authorisations to market 144 products 

were issued, A total of twenlY nine products were rejected dur

ing 1993 and 54 applications were withdrawn, The Board 
received 56 applications for amendments and variations to vet

erinary product authorisations. All but one were approved. At 

the end of the year there were 970 files for which recommenda

tions to licence had nOt been made. 

3.3 European Community 
Five meetings of the Committee for Veterinary Medicinal 

Products took place during 1993. The Committee considered 

several applications under the concertation procedure (mainly 
immunological veterinary medicinal products derived from 

biotechnology) together with a small number of products under 
the Multi·state procedure. The Committee completed its evalu

ation of the two applications for products containing Bovine 

Somalotropins (BST>. 

The Committee adopted several guidelines relating to the safe
ty of residues, efficacy of veterinary medicinal products. pharo 

macovigilance and on immunological veterinary medicinal 

products, together with several recommendations for maxi

mum residue limits. The Comminee was presenled by the 

Commission with a consultation paper on the distribution of 
veterinary medicines in the European Community. A joint meet· 

ing was held between the CVMP and the Committee for 

Proprietary Medicinal Products to discuss the establishment of 

the European Medicines Evaluation Agency and the legal texts 
for the future systems. The meeting was preliminary one in 

which much discussion took place on workload estimates. 

3.3.1 The Working Group on the Safety of 
Residues 

The Working Party met six limes in 1993. The evaluation of the 
safety of residues of new and existing substances as required 
by a Residue Regulation 2377/90 took up most of the time. The 
Working Party discussed several issues raising to general prin
ciples for the evaluation of residues of veterinary medicinal 
products including the elaboration of a policy on the evaluation 
of older veterinary drugs and a proposal for inclusion of exist

ing ac1.ive sLJbstances in Annex II of the Regulation. 

3.3.2 Working Party on the Efficacy of Veterinary 
Medicines 

The Working Party met twice during the year. As in previous 

years, the Group continued its work on the elaboration of 

guidelines for eHicacy testing of veterinary medicines. 

3.3.3 Working Group on Veterinary 
Pharmacovigilance 

This Working Party met twice during ~he year. The Group 
completed two guidelines and worked out a procedure on 

the exchange of pharmacovigilance at Community level. 
In July 1993, the Working Group issued a position statement 

in respect of the use of parenteral combinations of 
rrimethropim/sulphonamides in horses and canle. 

3.3.4 Working Party on Immunological 
Veterinary Medicinal Products 

The Working Party met six times during 1993. An important 
task of the Working Party was related to the evaluation of 
applications for marketing authorisations for immunological 
veterinary medicinal products derived from biotechnology 

which are submitted in accordance with the Concertation 
procedure of Directive 87/22/EEC. Another substantial 
activity consisted of the preparation of the detailed notes 

for guidance 10 facilitate the implementation of the new 

requirements of Directive 92J18/EEC. The Working Party 
also considered a co-ordinated approach to the review of 

the immunological products in accordance with the 

provisions laid down in Directive 90/677/EEC. Eight 
guidelines were finalised by the Working Party during the 

period. 

3.3.5 Operations Working Party 

This Working Party met six times in 1993. The main tas.k of 

this Working Party has been the preparation for the future 

system of marketing authorisations which enter into force 
on 1st January 1995. The Working Party completed two 

guidelines on the role of rapporteurs within the Multi-State 

and concertation procedures respectively. 

3.4 Pharmacovigilance 

During 1993. the Board received 26 reports of suspected 

adverse drug reactions associated with the use of veterinary 

medicinal products. Of the reports submitted. in at least two 
cases it appears that animals were treated with a dose in 

excess of the recommended therapeutic dosage. Failure to 
adhere to the labelling recommendations may lead to signs 

of over-dosage and to the pressure of residues in tissues of 

treated animals at the end of the withdrawal period. The 
drugs involved encompassed several therapeutic groups 

and animal species. The Board was notified of three 

suspected adverse reactions in humans associated with 

organophosphate sprays and sheep-dips. In at least two of 
these cases. preventative clothing was either not worn or 

was not in accordance with the recommendations of the 

manufacturer. Users of veterinary medicinal products 

should read product labels and package inserts and follow 

the instructions given. In the case of sheep·dips. care is 
especially necessary when handling the concentrate. 

3.5 Other Activities 

Ongoing co-operation between officials from the 
Depanment of Agriculture. Food and Forestry and officers 
of the Board was maintained during the year. Officers of 
the Board were 'lnvolved in several prosecutions of the 

illegal use of veterinary medicines and of banned 
substances. The Board also met with the Animal Health 
Division of the Irish Chemical Industries to discus matters 

of mutual interest. 



4.INSPECTION ACTIVITIES 

4.1 Introduction 
The principal issues during 1993 from an inspection viewpoint 
were: transposition of the human GMP Directive 91/356/EEC 

into Irish law via the Medical Preparations (licensing of 
Manufacture) Regulations 1993; transposition of the Wholesale 
Directive'92/25/EEC into Irish law via the Medical Preparations 
(Wholesale Licences) Hegulations 1993;Council Regulation 
2309/93. which established the E1Jropean Medicines Evaluation 

Agency also stated that each national regulatory authority 
would continue to be responsible for supervision of manufac
turers within its territory (the principle of subsidiarity). 

4.2 Licences and Inspections 

4.2.1 Human Medicines 

The Board received 9 applications for manufacturing licences 
under the Medical Preparations (Licensing of Manufacturel 

Regulations. Recommendations to license were made lO the 
Department of Health in respect of 9 applications. Four existing 
licences were withdrawn by the manufacturers. One application 

was under assessment at the end of the year. At the end of the 

year there were 69 licensed manufacturers of medical prepara

tions in the country. 

Ten applications for wholesale licences under the Medical 
Preparations (Wholesale Licences) Regulations were received. 

Recommendations were made to the Depanment of Health in 

respect of 13 applications. One application was rejected. Nine 

existing licences were withdrawn. Eight applications were 

under consideration at year end. At the end of the year there 
were 132 wholesalers licensed under these Regulations. 

A TOTAL OF 82 INSPECTIONS WERE CONDUCTED DURING THE YEAR, 

CLASSIFIED AS FOLLOWS: 

(I) INSPECTIONS UNDER rhE MEDICAL PREPARATIONS (LICENSING OF 

MANUFACTURE) REGUL4T10NS 7974 & 1975 AND THE MEDICAL 

PREPARAnONS (LICENSING OF Ma.t .. IUF4CTURE) REGULATIONS 1993. 

New Applications 12 

Existing Licence Holders 25 

(ii) Inspections under rhe Medical Prepararions 
(Wholesale Licences) Regulaeions 7974 & 1989 and ehe 
Medical Preparaeions (Wholesale Licences) Regulations 7993. 

New Applications 5 

Existing Licence Holders 22 

(iiO {ospeclions under rhe European Comrnunilies 
(Vecerinarv Medicinal Produces) Regulaeions, 1986). 

New Applications o 

Existing Licence Holders 9 

(iv) Other Inspeclions 9 

(See following) 
During the year the Board's Inspectors undertook 5 inspections 
on behalf of the Department of Health in respect of applications 
for certificates of Good Manufacturing Practice. Two of these 
applications were from manufacturer of in vitro diagnostics, one 
was from a manufacturers of bulk drugs substances, one was 
from manufacturer of medical devices and one was from a manu
facturer of cosmetic products. One inspection of a bulk drug sub
stance manufacturer was carried out at.the request of the Swiss 
Inspectorate. Three inspections of contract finished product test
ing laboratories were carried oul. 

•• 

4.2.2 New Manufacturing Regulations 

The Medical Preparations (Licensing of Manufacture) 

Regulations 1993 (S.1. No. 40 of 1993) and The Medical 
Preparations (Licensing of Manufacture) (Amendmenl) 

Regulations 1993 (S.1. No. 68 of 1993) superseded the 1974 
and 1975 Regulations. These two new sets of Regulations 
transposed the GMP Directive 91/356/EEC into Irish law and 

revised the conditions attaching to a licence for the 
manufacture of medicines for human use. 

4.2.3 New Whofesale Regulations 

The Medical Preparations (Wholesale Licences) Regulations 
1993 (S.1. No. 39 of 1993) superseded the 1974 and 1989 

Regulations. These new Regulations transposed the 
Wholesale Directive, 92/25[EEC, into Irish law, extended the 
definition of whOlesale and revised the conditions attaching 
to a licence for the wholesaling of medicines for human use. 

4.2.4 Veteril1ary Medicines 

In 1993, no applications for manufacturers' licences for 
veterinary medicinal products were received by the Board. 

Five applications were under examination at 31st December, 

1992. One manufacturer's licence was issued and four 
applications were under examination at the end of the year. 

One manufacturer's licence was withdrawn. At the end of 

the year there were 21 licensed manufacturers of veterinary 

medicinal products in this country. 

4.3 European Community 

4.3.1 Working Party on Control of 
Medicines/Inspections 

There was no meeting of this Working Party during 1993. 

4.3.2 Ad Hoc Working Party on Harmonisation 
of Inspections 

One ml?eting of this Ad Hoc Working Party took place 

during 1993. A number of guidance notes for inspectors 
were finalised and referred to the next meeting of the 

plenary Working Party. 

4.3.3. Guidelines on Good Distribution Practice 

These guidelines were being drahed during 1993 and were 

intended to compliment Directive 92/25fEEC on the 

Wholesale Distribution of Medicinal Products for human use. 

4.3.4 Directive 91/412/EEC on Good 
Manufacturing Practice for Veterinary 
Medicinal Products 

The implementation date for this Directive was the 23rd July 

1993. Irish manufacturers were inspected in accordance 

with the requirements of this Directive and were reminded 

of the need for compliance with this Directive. 

4.3.5 Council Regulation No. 2309/93 

This Council Regulation set out the Future System for 

licensing of medicines in the European Union. The 
Regulation confirmed that inspection of manufacturers 
within a Member State would remain the responsibility of 

the supervisory authority of that Member State. The 
European Medicines Evaluation Agency set up under this 
Regulation would be responsible for co-ordinating any 
inspections relating to marketing authorisation applications 

being handled by the Agency. The Regulation was due to 
come into force on 1st January 1995. 



4.3.6 Directive 93/39/EEC 

This Directive amended pans of Directives 65/65/EEC. 

75/318/EEC and 751319/EEC. Amongst these amendments was 
one relating to Article 22 of Directive 75/319/EEC. This requires 
each batch of proprietary medicinal product coming from a 

third country to be fully re-tested in the importing country. This 
requirement can only be waived where the Comm,unity has 
made appropriate arrangements with the exporting country to 
ensure Ihal the manufacturer of the medicinal product applies 
standards of GMP at least equivalent to lhose laid down by Ihe 
Community. Such appropriate arrangements were Mutual 

Recognition Agreements on Inspection. The European 

Commission was mandated to negotiate Mutual Recognition 
Agreements in a number of areas, including pharmaceutical 
inspection, with trading partners. These negotialions had com
menced at the end of 1993. 

4.3.7. Directive 93/40/EEC 

This Directive amended Article 3D-of Directive 81/851/EEC in the 
same way as that described for Article 22 of Directive 

75/319/EEC under 4.3.6 above. 

4.4 Other Activities 

4.4.1 Pharmaceutical Inspection Convention 

The Convention for the Mutual Recognition of Inspections in 

respect of the Manufacture of Pharmaceutical Products 

(Pharmaceutical Inspection Conve~tion) entered into f~rce in 
1971. In 1993, it was operating between eighteen countries, 

namely Australia, Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, 

Germany, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, liechtenstein, 
Norway, Ponugal, Romania, Sweden, Switzerland and the 

United Kingdom. The convention applies to inspection of the 

manufacture of medicinal and related products intended for 
human use which are subject to control under health legisla

tion. It provides that the contracting States will exchange, on 
the basis of inspections. such information as is necessary fot 

the health authorities in an importing Contracting State to be 
able to recognise inspections carried out in the Contracting 

States of the manufacturer. In order to ensure that the efficient 

fun.ctioning of the Convention as well as its uniform application 
in all Contracting States, a permanent committee was estab· 

lished in accordance with Article 8 of the Convention. The 
Committee is composed of officials from the competent author

ities of the Contracting States. During 1993 the Committee held 

two meetings, in May and September. The main items dis

cussed were the mutual training of inspectors, the extension of 
the Convention to other countries, the updating and broaden

ing of the basic rules of good manufacturing practice (GMP), 

the format of inspection reports exchanged under the terms of 

the Convention and various practical aspects of the operation 

of the Convention. Discussions continued concerning the future 
of the Convention. 

The Board's Senior Inspector was part of a group, which also 

included Inspectors from Denmark. Italy"and The Netherlands, 
which visired a Danish pharmaceutical manufacturing facility 

during November 1993. The format of the visit was that the 
Danish Inspector carried out a two day inspection of the facility. 
Afterwards, differences in interpretation of GMP guidelines 
were discussed among the four inspectors and a report was 
prepared for submission to the PIC Secretariat. Such exercises 

are extremely valuable in progress towards harmonised sys
tems. The co-operation of participating companies is appreciat
ed. 

•• 

REQUESTS FOR INSPECTION REPORTS UNDER THE 
PHARMACEUTICAL INSPECTION CONVENTION 1993 

Requests received by the Board: 

COUNTRY NUMBER OF REQUESTS 

Finland 

Germany 

Hungary 2 

Iceland 

Sweden 4 

United Kingdom 17 

TOTAL REQUESTS RECEIVED: 26 

Requests made by the Board: 

COUNTRY NUMBER OF REQUESTS 

Denmark 

Germany 4 

Hungary 

Netherlands 

Norway 

Switzerland 3 

United Kingdom 3 

TOTAL REQUESTS MADE 14 



5.ADDlTlONAL MATTERS 

5.1 SAMPLING ACTIVITIES 
During the period .1991 to 1993 inclusive the National Drugs 
Advisory Board sampled and forwarded for analysis 176 sam

ples of Human and Veterinary Medicinal Products. 

5.1.1 Human Medicinal Products 

Data concerning the sampling and analysis of human medicinal 
products is shown in the accompanying table. Pre-marketing 
and post-marketing levels of samp!ing were similar (48% and 
42% respectively) with a lower level of suspected adverse drug 
reaction (ADR) samples 6.42% and quality defect samples 
2.75%. The products sampled included non-steroidal anti
inflammatory drugs, antibiotics for reconstitution, inhalers, 
analgesics, antihypertensives, anti-ulcer drugs and topical 

preparations. The level of sample non compliance to analytical 
testing recorded was 16.51%. The parameters under which ana
lytical failures were recorded included: assay, identity (TLC test 

failure), dissolution (several products including a controlled 
release product), incorrect analytical calculation. assay robust

ness inadequate (assay could not be reproduced). 

5. 1.2 Veterinary Medicinal Products 

Data concerning the sampling and analysis of veterinary medic

inal products is shown. The majority (70.1%) were of post-mar
keting origin arid consisted mainly of anthelminthics (particu

larly levamisole containing products) which were sampled dur

ing 1992. Pre-marketing samples constituted 16.40% with sus

pected ADR and quality defect samples at 4.5%. The level of 

non compliance to analytical testing was recorded at 11.94%. 

The main parameters under which analytical failure occurred 
were assay procedures and inadequate assay robustness 

(assay could not be reproduced). 

During this period three samples of active raw material were 
tested·and found to be satisfactory. 

Table 1 

Sample Number % 

Pre-Marketing 53 48.63 

Post-Marketing 46 42.20 

Suspected Adverse 

Drug Reactions 

IADRI 7 6.42 

Quality Defects 3 2.75 

TOTAL 109 

Analytical failure 18 16.51 

Table 2 

Sample Number % 

Pre-Marketing 11 16.40 

Post-Marketing 47 70.10 

Suspected Adverse 

Drug Reactions 

IADRI 3 4.50 

Quality Defects 3 4.50 

TOTAL 67 

Analytical failure 8 11.94 
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5.1.3. Comments 

OveraIl5~.84% of samples tested in the period 1991-1993 

were post-marketing in origin. In a_ccordance with Board 
policy greater emphasis will be placed in future years on 

this category of sample. with a particular view towards 
testing products widely used and prescribed. modified 

release dosage forms. and products about which the Board 
may previously have ex pres-sed concerns. 

5.2 RECALLS 

5.2. 1 Medicinal Products for Human Use 

During 1993, the Board was informed of 25 recalls of 

medicinal products for human use. 

Tllese were categorised as follows: 

Labelling Error 

Packaging Error 

Stability PrOblem 

Adverse Reactions 

Failure to meet Specification 

Labelling did not comply with PA 

Broken Tablets 

Broken Capsules 

Empty Blister Strips 

Microbial Contamination 

Lack of Sterility Assurance 

Precautionary recall of blood product 
due to possible use of contaminated 

starting material 

2 

3 

4 

3 

2 

2 

4 

5.2.2 Medicinal Products for Veterinary Use 

During 1993. the Board was not informed of any recalls of 

veterinary medicinal products. 

5.2.3 Recalls of Products Manufactured in 
Ireland but Distributed Entirely outside Ireland 

During 1993. the Board was informed of two such recalls. 

One related to tablets for human use. One batch contained 
tablets which appeared to be microbiologically contaminated. 

Remedial action was taken by the manufacturer to prevent 

a recurrence. 
The second related to a liquid inhalation product for 
veterinary use. An intermittent leaking problem was experi

enced with containers of this product. The product was 

disconti":ued pending the development of an acceptable 

seal for t~e product container. 



5.3 Quality Defects 

A total of 38 quality-defect reports were received in 1993. 

Two reports concerned products which were not medicinal 

products, and three repons, although examined. were not 
justified. The classification of the remaining 31 reports is 

shown. There were recalls associated with two of the 
reports. One related to the pressure of a 'rogue' capsule in 
a batch of capsules, which contained a different product. 
and the other concerned an incorrect route of administration 
on the label of the parenteral product. (The second report 
of a rogue capsule concerned an isolated incorrect capsule 
shell with the correct contents and did not result in a recall). 
Two reports resulted in 'caution-in-use' -type letters: one 

concerned a product made with an unregistered colourant 
and the other concerned a parenteral product in vials in which 
excessive pressure upon crimping had caused the stoppers to 
become slightly depressed. Neither defect was considered to 

pose a safety risk to patients.,ln a further 17 cases, the compa
ny instituted changes to prevent a recurrence of the problem. 

These included changes to the formulation, manufacturing pro
cedures, quality controls or storage of the products concerned. 

Of the remaining 10 reports, most were considered to be isolat

ed incidents while a few were not resolved at the time of writ
ing. 

Quality Defects Reports 1993 

Product Container Labelling Broken Coating Other 
Type Packaging Physical 

Characteristics 

Tablets 2 4 5 1 

Capsules 1 

Parenterals 1 3 

Oral liquids 1 1 1 

Topical 1 
products 1 

Products 
for inhalation 1 

Eye Drops 1 

Total 5 6 5 5 3 

51 

,\' , 

Phvsical Rogue Precipitation Incorrect Adverse Total 
Contamination Storage Reaction 

12 

2 3 

2 1 7 

3 6 

.;.1 3 

-
1 

1 

3 2 2 1 1 33 



6.STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

Report of the Auditors 

We have audited the financial statements in accordance with 

Auditing Standards and have obtained all the information and 
explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of 

our audit. 

In our opinion, the Board has kept.proper books of account and 
the financial statements, which are in agreement therewith. 
give a true and fair view of the Board's affairs at 31 December 
1993 and of its results for the year ended on that date. 

DELOlnE & TOUCHE, 

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors. 

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 

1993 1992 

IRE IRE 

Income receivable (Note 1) 1,766,904 1,682,948 

Less: Expenditure (Schedule A) 1,700,920 (1,539.497) 

Surplus for the Year 65,984 143,451 

Balance brought forward 
, January 1993 176,272 32,821 

Balance carried fOlWard 
31 December 1993 242,256 176,272 

BAlANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 1993 

Notes 1993 1992 

IRE IRE 

FIXED ASSETS 4 190,650 117,605 

CURRENT ASSETS 

Debtors and payments in advance 40,443 41,259 

Stock of stationery and oil 7,778 9,828 

Cash on hand and at bank 209,352 153,296 

257,573 204,383 

LESS: CURRENT liABiliTIES 

Accrued expenses 15,317 28,111 

NET CURRENT ASSETS 242,256 176,272 

TOTAL NET ASSETS 432,906 293,877 

FINANCED BY: 

Income and expenditure account 242,256 176,272 

Capital reserve 5 190,650 117,605 

432,906 293,877 
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CASH FLOII' STATEMENT 
FOR THE rEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1993 

1993 

IRE 

NET CASH INFLOW 56.427 

Return on investments and 
servicing of finance: 

Interest received 112 

Interest paid (583) 

Net cash outflow from returns on 
investments-and 
servicing of finance (471) 

Net cash inflow aher return on 
investments and servicing 
of finance 55,956 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 100 

Payments to acquire tangible 
fixed assets 

NET CASH INFLOW 
BEFORE FINANCING 

Financing: 

Department of Health re 
purchase of fixed assets 

INCREASE IN CASH 
AND CASH EOUIVALENTS 

(134,746) 

1134,646) 

(78,690) 

134,746 

56,056 

1992 

IRE 

152,678 

220 

(627) 

(407) 

152,271 

30 

(120,784) 

(120.754) 

31,517 

120,784 

152,301 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE rEAR ENDED 31 lJECEMBER 1993 

1. INCOME RECEIVABLE 

Department of Health: 

Non-Capital Grant 

Capital Grant 

Less: Transfer to capital reserve 
re purchase of fixed assets 

licensing and Amendment Fees 

Deposit interest 

2. SALARIES 

1993 

IRE 

1,415,000 

70,307 

1,485,307 

(134,746) 

416,231 

112 

1,7666,904 

1992 

IRE 

1,414,000 

110,000 

1,524,000 

279,512 

220 

1,682,948 

Salaries have been shown net of Superannuation and Widows 
and Orphans Fund contributions. 

Deductions are made under the Local Government 
(Superannuation) Act 1956.and Local Authority and Widows 

and Orphans Pension Scheme. Since the Board is not 
obliged to maintain a separate fund, no liability has been 
included in the accounts in respect of the deductions, nor 
has any provision been made in respect of future payments 
which may arise and which will be incurred by the Board 

out of future revenue. 



3. DEPRECIATION 

Depreciation has been charged to write off the cost of furniture 

and fittings at a rate of 20% p.a. straight line. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1993 

4. FIXED ASSETS Equipment, Furniture & Fittings 

1993 

IR£ 

COST 

Balance 1 January 1993 326.860 

Additions during year 134,746 

Disposals during year 11001 

Balance 31 December 1993 461,506 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 

Balance 1 January 1993 209,255 

Charge for year 61,701 

On disposals 11001 

Balance 31 December 1993 270,856 

NET BOOK VALUE 

31 December 1993 190,650 

5. CAPITAL RESERVE 1993 

IR£ 

Balance 1 January 1993 117,605 

Transfer from income receivable fe: 

Purchase of fixed assets 134,746 

Depreciation 161,701 I 

Balance 31 December 1993 190,650 

6. RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS TO NET CASH 

INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

1993 

IR£ 

Surplus for year 65,984 

Increase in debtors 816 

Decrease in stocks 2,050 

I ncreaseJ(decreasel 

in accrued expenses 112.7941 

Deposit interest 11121 

Bank interest and charges 583 

Gain on disposal of fixed asset 11001 

56.427 

1992 

IRE 

206,176 

120,784 

11001 

326,860 

168,905 

40.450 

11001 

209.255 

117,605 

1992 

IRE 

37,271 

120,784 

140,4501 

117,605 

1992 

IR£ 

143,451 

19,0231 

16011 

18,474 

12201 

627 

1301 

152,678 

5) 

7.ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH 

EOUIVALENTS AS SHOWN IN BALANCE SHEET 

Cash at 'bank 
and in hand 

1993 

IR£ 

209,352 

8.LEASE COMMITMENTS 

Operating leases 

Amounts payable during the next 

twelve months in respect of leases 

which expire: 

within one year 

between two and five years 

after five years 

1993 Change in Year 

IR£ IR£ 

153,296 56.056 

1993 1992 

IR£ IR£ 

658 9,000 

3,901 5,217 

168,600 128,000 

173,159 142,217 

The operating leases include an annual co~mit~~nt of 

IR£168,OOO in respect of the Board's premises. This lease is 

due to expire in 2017 and is subject to five yearly reviews. 

The next review arises in 1996. 



SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURE 

1993 1992 

IRr IRr 

ESTABLISHMENT: 

Operating Lease Rentals: 

Premises 144,917 128,000 

Rates 40,013 33,168 

Insurances 7,711 8,989 

Repairs and maintenance 72,995 39,592 

Light and heat 12,765 11,854 

Cleaning 13,587 12,818 

219,988 234.421 

ADMINISTRATION: 

Salaries and ex·employee pensions 1,121,465 1,034,605 

Travel expenses 102,254 76,674 

Printing., posta9.B and stationery 45,192 80,086 

Publica~ioris ~ & .subscriptions 9,053 12,996 . ~,"'. 

Operating Lease Rentals: 

Equipment and Finings 13,251 13,897 

Sampling and analysis 39,036 37,017 

Advertising 2,611 13,848 

Auditors' fees 3,368 3,750 

Leg~1 fees 6,506 787 

Consultancy fees 36,144 4,220 

Telephone and telex 20,066 15,682 

Sundry expenses 290 64 

Computer analysis 387 3,388 

Document storage 8,826 7,465 

Gain on disposal of fixed assets (1001 (1001 

1,408,349 1,304,449 

FINANCIAL: 

Bank interest and charges 583 627 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 1,700,920 1,539.497 
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I.GENERAL MATTERS 
The names of the members of the Board, its Comminees and 

its officers on 31st December, 1994 are listed in the following 

section. 

The Board was informed. at its meeting on 1st September, 
1994, that following his retirement as Deputy Chief Medical 
Officer in the Department of Health, Dr. T.V. O'Dwyer had relin

quished his membership of the Board. 

In a letter dated 2nd August 1994. the Board was informed that 

Dr. Rosemary. Boothman, Deputy Chief Medical Officer, 
Department of Health. had been appointed to the Board for the 

period ending 31st December 1994. 

In July. Dr. M.l. Conalty resigned from the Committee on 
Evaluation and Toxicity aher twenty-five year's service. The 
Board paid tribute to Dr. Conalty for his willing contribution 

throughout this lengthy period of office and particularly noted 
his representation of the Board during the early stages of the 

development of European systems. 

Also during July, Dr. G.P. Bury resigned from the Committee on 
Drug Usage and Adverse Reactions. Th~ Chairman, on behalf 

of the Committee and of the Board, conveyed his appreciation 

to Dr. Bury for his contribution to the work of the Committee 

during his years in office. 

Mr. Cyril O'Sullivan continued as Acting Chief Executive Officer 

throughout the year. 

Dr. J.R. O'Donnell and Professor F. Shanahan accepted the 

Board's invitation to serve on the Committee for Drug Usage 
and Adverse Reactions in June and September respectively. 

In March. Ms, J,A. Bergin took up her post as Adverse 
Reactions Officer and in September, Dr. P. Salmon took up his 

post as Medical Assessor 
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Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, Dublin ~ CHAIRMAN. 
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Consultant Physician, Ardkeen Regional Hospital, 

Waterford. 

5. 

Managemellt W()rkillg Party 

At its meetings of 2nd December 1993 and 3rd February 

1994, the Board approved the establishment of a 
Management Working Party to assist in the implementation 
of the government decision to devolve additional responsibili~ 

ties to the Board and toaddress the runding mechanisms 
with the objective of making it self~sufficient. The Working 

Party was composed of members and staff of the Board, 
representatives of the Departments of Health and Agriculture, 
Food and Forestry and of the pharmaceutical industry. The 
members were Professor Graham Shaw (Chairman). 
Mr. Niall V. Buckley (succeeded by Ms. Anne Nolan), 
Dr. Garrett R. Fitzgerald, Mr. Gerry Guidon, Mr. Brendan 
Murphy, Mr. Cyril O'Sullivan and Ms. Maura Waters. The 
group met at intervals between March and October. A draft. 
report was presented to the Board at its October meeting 
and the final report was completed on,22nd November 1994. 

Dr. A.I. Scott alld Miss O.M. Lowe 

The Board learned with great surprise and sadness, of the 

tragic deaths of Dr. Scott and Miss Lowe on 22nd October. 
At the meeting of the Board on 3rd November, the Chairman 

reflected on Dr. Scott's contribution to the Board's activities 

over a period of almost 20 years. 

This contribution was inestimable. She was a tireless worker 

with a unique energy and much 

of her free time in the evenings 

and at weekends was devoted to 
the Board's work. Her impressive 

memory and overall grasp of the 

business of the Board enabled 

her to respond rapidly and 
appropriately to events. Through 

her eHorts she established an 
international reputation for the 
Board. She established a rapport 

with and a good working 
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relationship with the pharmaceutical industry. Her death, 
such a short time after her retirement was keenly felt by all 

who had known her. 
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2.HUMAN MEDICINES 

2.1 Introduction 

Notable in 1994 was the increased proportion of the Medical 

Department's time devoted to European Affairs. This is an 
inevitable consequence of increasing harmonisation of 

European medicines regulatory activities and coincides with 
the establishment of the Central Agency for Europe. the EMEA, 
in London. Over the past few years we have built a significant 
experience base in Europe and are fully committed to playing 
an active rote in European harmonisation. At the same time we 
remain committed to our national responsibilities. 

2.2 Licensing Activities 

During 1994 the Board received 679 applications for product 
authorisations to market medicinal preparations. As a result of 
the Board's assessment activities. 383 products were recom
mended for licensing. Ninety eight applications were with

drawn following assessment. At year end there were a total of 
2,477 producr.application files for which no recommendations 

for licensing had been made. These included files under 

assessment and awaiting assessment. files awaiting responses 
to questions and files where a recommendation to license had 

not been granted but where no formal withdrawal had been 

made or formal rejection issued. 

In the case of existing authorised products. 702 authorisations 

were renewed, 327 authorisations were withdrawn or cancelled 
and 2,049 products were awaiting issue of renewals at year 

end. There were ~n estimated 8.284 products carrying product 
authorisations at year end. 

The Board received 2,006 applications for amendments for 

changes in the terms of product authorisations. A lotal of 1,501 

amendments were approved. There were 1,935 amendments 
awaiting assess men I for which approval had not been given at 
year end. 

2.3 European Community 

This was the last year of operation of the currently constituted 
Committee for Proprietary Medicinal Products (CPMPJ and the 

main function of the Committee was to ensure that all systems 
were set up for the implementation of Directive 93/39 EEC 

(which refers to the Decentralised Procedure for PrOduct 
Authorisation) and on the Council Regulation 2309/93 (which 

describes the Centralised Procedure of Product Authorisation in 

EuropeJ. The Committee and all its Working Parties concentrat· 

ed on finalising guidelines for the setting up of systems to 
implement this legislation for 1st January 1995. In December 

1994 a revised Notice to Applicants Part II (a) was agreed by 

the Committee and released to the public. This document is 

still only in draft form and final comments were requested by 

1st June 1995. Much of the remaining work of the CPMP for the 
year focused on preparation for the third International 

Conference on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for 
Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use (lCH) planned 
for September 1995. 

2.3.1 CPMP Working Party on Safety of Medicines 

The Safety Working Party m·et on two occasions during 1994. 

Work continued on topics to be considered at the next 
International Conference on Harmonisation and included car
cinogenicity (treatment periods, use of two rodent species and 
dose selection), notes for guidance on specific aspects of geno
toxicity tests and guidelines on toxicokinetics (assessment of 
systemic exposure in toxicity studies and repeated dose tissue 
distribution studies). Drafting continued on the topic. "Organic 
impurities in synthetic new active drug substances". Two new 
topics requiring input from the Safety Working Pany for ICH 3 

were (1) Guidelines on timing of preclinical studies in relation 
to clinical trials (2) Residual solvents levels in drug substances 

and excipients used for the preparation of medicinal products. 

" 

Work was completed on the revision of the pharmacotoxic

ological section of the European Assessment Report. 

Drafting commenced on guidelines for replacement of 
animal studies by in vitro models. preclinical requirements 

for trials in gene therapy and safety pharmacology studies 
in medicinal product development The group was asked by 

the CPMP to address the question of safety on a number of 
products. 

2.3.2 CPMP Working Party on Efficacy 

The Efficacy Working Party met on two occasions in 1994. 
The principle work carried out at the meetings was 
discussion and revision of Guidelines on the following topics: 
anti-arrhythmic medicinal products. medicinal products for 
the treatment of cardiac failure. anti-anginal products, anti
hypertensives, drug for peripheral vascular disease, fixed 

combination products. clinical trials with colony stimulating 
factors. the SPC for Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE) 
inhibitors, biostatistical methodology for clinical trials. Due 

to the implementation of the "Future System" in 
January 1995, the November meeting was the final meeting 

of the current working party. It is not known whether this 

and other Working Parties will be reconstituted under the 
new system. 

2.3.3 CPMP Working Party on 
Pharmacovigilance 

This Working Party met twice during the year. Its main task 

was to finalise the guidelines for reporting of adverse drug 

reactions by companies which would be incorporated into 
the revised·Notice to Applicants to Part II (a). This is a 

comprehensive guideline designed to explain more clearly 
to marketing authorisation holders. their new responsibilities 

under the Future System, planned to start on 1st January 1 

995. Work continued on the Guidelines for Competent 
Authorities in the undertaking of pharmacovigilance 

activities and these were incorporated into one working 
document. This final document was not presented to the 

current CPMP for adoption and will be presented for adoption 
to the new CPMP. 

2.3.4 CPMP Operations Working Party 

This Working Party continued to have the main responsibility 
for drawing up guidelines for the operation of the Future 

System in 1995. Work was completed on the revision of the 

European Assessment Report format which was formally 

adopted by the CPMP. This format will be used for all future 
centralised and decentralised procedures of marketing 

authorisation. Chapters outlining the centralised and 

decentralised procedures of marketing authorisation, were 

also completed and presented to the CPMP for formal 
adoption and inclusion into the revised Notice to Applicants. 

Much of the time of this Working Party was spent in 

finalising the two documents outlining the procedures for 
variations to marketing authorisations under the new 

procedures in the Future System. These were formally 

approved by the Pharmaceutical Committee and will be pre
sented as Commission Regulations for the Fulure System. 



2.3.5 CPMP Working Party on Quality of Medicines 

The Quality Working Party met twice in 1994 and its proceed

ings were dominated by preparation of guidelines as part of 

the ICH process. These topics covered stability (extension to 
new dosage forms), impurities in drug substances, analytical 

validation, photostability testing and pharmacopoeial harmoni
sation. Agreed texts,on analytical validation and impurities 
were prepared and circulated to Industry for comment. 
Procedures for dealing with differences in interpretation of 
quality requirements were progressed. An initiative was set up 
by the European Pharmacopoeia for coordination of activities 
of official control laboratories and Ireland participated in this 
work involving analytical projects and sharing resources. 

2.3.6 CPMP Working Party Biotechnology/Pharmacy 

This working party met six times during 1994 and discussed a 
number of issues primarily relating to applications submitted 

via the concertation procedure. Guidelines on gene therapy. 
transgenic animals. viral safety studies were prepared and 

finalised. and the guidelines on monoclonal antibodies and 
products or r-DNA technology were revised and updated. As a 

contribution to the ICH process, the group was involved with 

the preparation of texts relating to stability testing of biologi

cals. characterisation of cell substrates and validation of virus 
inactivation/removal. Issues related to safety of blood products 

also occupied this working party and a special sub group was 

established to examine these issues in more detail. Guidelines 

on Control Authority batch release of various blood products 

and vaccines were finalised during the year. 

2.3.7 Ad Hoc Group on the Quality of 
Blood Products 

Continuing concerns relating to the viral safety of blood prod
ucts prompted the CPMP to set up a special ad hoc group to 

look into the areas. and this was drawn from the Biotechnology 
Working Party together with additional experts as required. 
This group met 5 times in 1994 and made recommendations to 

CPMP regarding the need for improvements in viral safety of 
blood products. particularly in regard to non-lipid enveloped 

viruses. and the prioritisation of work programmes. 

2.3.8 Ad Hoc Group on Environmental Risk 
Assessment for Medicinal Products which Contain or 
Consist of Genetically Modified Organisms (GMOs) 

The group undertook the drafting of guidelines on environmen

tal risk assessments for GMO·containing products. Four of 

these were completed and adopted before the end of 1994. 

Ireland acted as drafting rapporteur for two of these guidelines 
(one human and one veterinary). The subjects concerned the 

overlap between the requirements arising from the medicinal 

product legislation and the environmental Directive 90/220/EEC. 

Ireland was also appointed to act as rapporteur in 1995 for 
drafting guidelines entitled "Environmental risk assessments 

for live human vaccines which do not contain or consist of GMOs". 

2.3.9. Ad Hoc Group on Environmental Risk 
Assessments for Medicinal Products which do not 
Contain or Consist of GMOs 

The group undertook the drafting of guidelines on first and sec
ond phase environmental risk assessments of 'conventional • 
medicinal products. Owing to the unexpected complexity of the 
task and the necessity to consider the many comments 
received from the industry associations. this work will continue 
into 1995. 

2.4 Pharmacovigilance 

2.4. 1 Adverse Drug Reactions 

The Board received 1.056 reports of adverse drug reactions 
during 1994. Pharmaceutical companies provided the largest 

proportion (42.7%). followed by general practitioners (27.4%). 
hospital doctors (13.2%J. community pharmacists (6.9%) and ., 

hospital monitoring studies (6.8%), There were 46 deaths 

reported in association with drug use. Of these. 33 were 

related to the primary illness and 2 were the result of drug 
overdose. 

There were 21 reports of drug interactions. 

Details of the above will be published in a separate report. 

2.4.2 Comments on Specific Drugs 

Acarbose 

Acarbose. a novel anti-diabetic drug. acts as an inhibitor of 
intestinal alpha-glucosidases and is indicated as an adjunct 
to diet. alone or in combination with insulin or oral hypogly
caemics. in the management of insulin dependent and non
insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. In view of the novel 
chemical nature of this drug practitioners are reminded to 
report any side effects suspected in association with its use. 

Blood Products 

During 1994 the Board was informed of the voluntary with· 
drawal of an Anti-D Immunoglobulin product because of 

reports of hepatitis-C infection in women who received it 
to prevent Rh haemolytic disease. The product was 

withdrawn in February 1994 and emergency supplies of an 

alternative product made available. Following that the 

Minister for Health established an expert group to examine 

and report to him on the relevant circumstances and to 
make recommendations accordingly. This proceeded 

through 1994. Again the Board draws attention to the vital 

importance of blood and blood products and to the fact that 

in Europe generally. much attention is being paid to 

methods to ensure that the benefits to patients in respect 
of their use will exceed any associated riskS. Over the years 

Ireland in particular. has played a role in arguing for the 

adoption of such systems. The Board pays particular 
attention to safety considerations in authorising such 

products and is concerned that the best available methods 
are used to ensure safety. 

Folic Acid 

The Committee on Drug Usage and Adverse Reactions 
considered data regarding the use of folic acid in the preven

tion of neural tube defects. The available evidence suggests 
that 0.4mg of folic acid taken in the periconceptional period 

substantially reduces the incidence of first occurrence of 

neural tube defect. It was therefore recommended that a 

folic acid supplement of O.4mg per day should be taken by 

all women who are planning a pregnancy until the twelfth 
week of that pregnancy. An M.R.C. study established the 

efficacy of a 0.4 mg supplement per day of folic acid pericon

ceptually in preventing a recurrence of neurartube defect. 
It was therefore recommended that such a supplement 

should be taken by periconceptually and should continue 

until the twelfth week of pregnancy. The Board considered 
that such supplementation should be under medical advice 

irrespective of whether it was the first or a recurrent situation. 

Hig/r Dose Pal/creatin Preparations 

Reports of colonic strictures occurring in association with 
high lipase·containing pancreatin preparations were notified 
from the UK. US and Denmark. Following a review of the in 

formation available the Board circulated a letter informing 
practitioners of such cases and recommending clinical 
review of all patients receiving these supplements. 

Omeprazole 

Early in 1994. the Germany drug regulatory authority 

received a number of reports of visual and auditory 
disorders suspected in association with use of intravenous 
omeprazole. The cases reported occurred in critically ill 
patients who. for the most part. were receiving multiple 

drug therapy. The eHects. in some cases. were irreversible. 

A letter was circulated by the manufacturer advising pre· 



scribers about these effects and recommending intravenous 

administration of omeprazole only in cases where oral adminis

tration of omeprazole is inappropriate. Prescribers are remind
ed that the product should only be used for the approved indi

cations and at recommended doses. 

Specific Serotollill Re-Uptake Illhibitors (SSRI's) 
and Suicidalldeatioll 

Further reports supported by scientific literature suggest that 
sui ion is not a problem specific to this group of drugs. 

Tiaprofellic Acid 

Following international reports of cystitis and other urinary 
tract disorders including frequency, dysuria and haematuria a 
letter was circulated to prescribers in 1994. While reports of uri
nary disorders have also been notified in association with use 

of other non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, on the basis of 
reporting rates cystitis appears to have been reported more 
commonly with tiaprofenic acid. In order to ensure accurate 

prescribing information. a revised data sheet was also circulat
ed to practitioners, advising immediate discontinuation-of treat

ment in any patient developing urinary symptoms. and con

traindicating treatment in any patients with active bladder or 
prostatic disease or symptoms or in those with a history of 

recurrent urinary tract disorders. 

Tolrestat 

Talrestat, an aldose reductase inhibitor indicated in the man

agement of peripheral sensorimotor polyneuropathy secondary 
to diabetes mellitus was authorised for use in Ireland in 1988. 

In view of its novel chemical structure the company agreed to 

undertake post-marketing surveillance of the product. 
Following review of regular safety updates which were provid

ed to the Board during the monitoring period the formal PMS 
restriction was removed in Autumn 1994. 

2.5 Other Activities 

The Officers of the Board continued to represent the Board on 

the National Immunisation Committee. The National Medicines 
Information Centre was set up in St. James Hospital, Dublin. 

Dr. M.E. Teeling was the Board's representative on this 
Committee. 

2.6 Clinical Trials 

The Board considered 252 applications for approval of pro

posed clinical trials. These included 23 (9%) in Category 1. 18 
(7%) in Category 2 and 211 (84%) were in Category 3. Three 

Category 3 applications and 2 Category 1 applications were 

refused permission. Modifications were required in 7% of appli
cations. A total of 154 applications for amendments to existing 

clinical trial approvals were submitted, of which all but 3 were 

approved. Modifications were required in 4% of these amend

ment applications. The Board continued to receive submissions 
from interested parties concerning difficulty in the implementa

tion of the Clinical Trials Act, with particular reference to 

amendment applications and placebo controlled studies. These 
were discussed with the Department of Health. 

3.VETERINARY MEDICINES 

3.1 Introduction 

There was a significant increase in applications to amend or 

vary licences, this trend is expected to continue over the com
ing years. Significant time was spent in preparing for the intro
duction of the new system for licensing of veterinary medicines 
in the EU. It was considered important to play an active role in 
this work within the resources available. The quality of applica
tions continued to improve with many dossiers being submit

ted in the European format. Companies are encouraged to use 

this format. likewise the quantity of replies to questions arising 

from assessment of applications continued to improve. The .., 

establishment of Maximum Residue Limit (MRl) as required 

by Regulation 2377190. continued, the work begin shared by 

the Member States. There was concern that some of the 

active substances which are not frequently used may not be 

defended and as such will be lost to practitioners. It must be 
pointed out that for the purpose of the Regulation any active sub
stance, not been of the market in a Member State prior to the 

introduction of Regulation 2377/90 will be regarded as new 
in that Member State and will require an MRL be set prior 
to product authorisation being granted. The Deputy Director 
(Veterinary) continued in the role of CEO for the entire year. 

3.2 Licensing Activities 

The Board received 56 applications for veterinary product 
authorisations during the year. Authorisations to market 110 

products were issued. The Board rejected 16 applications 
and 68 applications were withdrawn. There were 153 applica
tions for amendments and variations to veterinary product 

authorisations. One application was refused and 81 applica
tions approved. At the end of the year there were 832 files 

for which recommendations to licence ha.d not been made. 

3.3 European Community 

With the preparation for the so-called "Future System", 

1994 was a busy year at EC level. Much time was spent in 

preparing the basis for draft Regulations on variations in the 

decentralised and centralised procedures; in the preparation 
of the new Notice to Applicants and in preparing the grounds 

to facilitate the work of the new Committee within the 

European Agency. 

3.3.1 Committee for Veterinary Medicinal 
Products (CVMP) 

Six meetings of the CVMP were held during the year. The 
Committee continued to examine applications under the 

concertation and multi-state procedures. Variations for 
immunological veterinary medicinal productS, submitted in 

accordance with Directive 87/22/EEC were also considered. 

A variation application to modify the manufacturing process 
for an antibiotic using rONA technology was granted a 

favourable opinion. Favourable opinions were also adopted 
in relation to a number of applications for innovatory 

products intended to be used in food producing animals 

and for a number of Multi-state applications submitted in 
accordance with Directive 811851/EEC. The Committee also 

adopted recommendations with respect to maximum residue 

limited for several compounds for which applications had 

been submitted according to Council Regulation No. 2377190. 
The CVMP considered guidelines and working documents 

produced by its several Working Panies. established to 

provide specialist scientific support for its activities. 

3.3.2 Working Party on the Safety of Residues 

The Working Party on the Safety of Residues met seven 

times in 1994. The average duration of meetings was three 

days. The major task was the continuing evaluation of 
applications for maximum residue limits (MRLs) submitted 
by pharmaceutical companies in the framework of Council 

Regulation 2377/90. Several working documents were also 
discussed and adopted by CVMP; working paper setting out 
an approach to deal with residues at the injection site, 
working paper on criteria for inclusion of substances in 
Annex II of Regulation 2377/90 and for extension of Annex 
II classification to other species. position paper outlining an 
approach towards harmonisation of withdrawal periods, 

recommendations for a standard layout for the description 
of routine analytical methodS. position paper on 
homeopathic medicines, working document on the safety 
of evaluation of microbials substances regarding the effects 
on human gut flora. 



3.3.3 Working Party on Veterinary 
Pharmacovigilance 

In the framework on the preparatory activities of the new 
system of marketing authorisation and surveillance of 
veterinary medicinal products, the Working Party contributed 
in finalising Commission Regulation' No. 2390/93 in respect 
of reporting unexpected suspected adverse reactions to medici
nal products for human use and veterinary medicinal products. 
In this context, a close co-operation was established with the 
PharmacQvigilance Working Group of the Committee for 
Proprietary Medicinal Products (CPMP). The establishment of 
National Pharmacovigilance systems in the new system was 
also a major topic for consideration by the Working Party. The 
development of a lelematic network for exchanging informa
tion on adverse drug reactions was discussed by the Working 
Party. 

3.3.4 Working Party on Immunological Veterinary 
Medicinal Products 

The Working Party met five times during 1994. As in previous 
years, the group considered several applications for marketing 
authorisations for immunological veterinary medicinal products 
derived from biotechnology and the preparation of detailed 
notes for guidance to facilitate the implementation of Directive 
92J1B/EEC. 

3.3.5 Other Working Parties 

In 1994, the Working Party on Operations met four times. In 
addition, small drafting group meetings were convened on 
three occasions and joint meetings with the Operations 
Working Party of the CPMP took place on another four occa
sions. The main goal of these meetings was the discussion of 
the future systems, collaboration of regulations. the prepara
tion of a new Notice to Applicants, and the finalisation of a 
guideline for assessors preparing assessment reports for 
immunological and non-immunological veterinary medicinal 
products. The Quality Working Party of the CVMP met twice 
during 1994 in joint sessions with the CPMP Quality Working 
Party. These meetings were primarily concerned with the adap
tation and adoption of guidelines already prepared for human 
medicinal products. In addition various guidelines specific to 
veterinary products were further progressed. It was not 
deemed necessary to convene the Working Party on hormones 
during 1994 nor the Working Party on Efficacy of Veterinary 
Medicinal Products, However, a guideline on good clinical prac
tice for the conduct of clinical trials for veterinary medicinal 
products was adopted by the CVMP during the year. 

3.4 Pharmacovigilance 
The Scheme continued to operate well with a slight increase in 
the number of practitioners reporting adverse reactions. The 
officers continued to seek methods to stimulate practitioner 
input to this important activity. The main activities included the 
ongoing monitoring of anthelmintic bali and sheep dips. A full 
report of this year's adverse drug reaction experiences was 
published in the veterinary press. 

3.5 Other Activities 

3.5. 1 International Co-Operation 

Moves to international harmonisation increased during the 
year with the participation of officials from 43 countries in the 
meeting of the Seventh International Technical Consultation on 
Veterinary Drug Registration (ITCVDR) in May. A principal rec
ommendation of this meeting was that the Office International 
Des Epizooties in Paris should utilise the experience gained 
from the International Conference on Harmonisation of 
Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for 
Human Use (lCH) and set up an ad hoc Working Group respon
sible for making proposals regarding the structure, priority 
goals, working procedures and funding of an analogous har
monisation system between the European Union, Japan and 
the US concerning veterinary drugs and immunologicals. 
Indeed, the CVMP at its final meeting in November 1994, was 
informed that the ad hoc Group Meeting would take place in 
December. Harmonisation was also one of a number of sub-

jects covered by the meeting of the European Association for 
Veterinary Pharmacology,and Toxicology held in August. This 
meeting provided an update on development in several areas 
of veterinary pharmacology and toxicology. 

3.5.2 National Activities 

As in previous years, the Board continued to enjoy close 
co-operation from officers of the Department of Agriculture, 
Food an~ Forestry. Officers of the Board were involved in 
several prosecutions of illegal use of veterinary medicines 
and banned substances during the year. Officers of the 
Board also met with the Animal Health Division of the 
Federation of Irish Chemical Industries. With the formation 
of the Animal and Plant Health Association (APHA) as a divi
sion of the Federation, it was agreed that two to three 
meetings of officers of APHA and NDAB would take place 
on an annual basis to discuss matters of mutual interest. 

4.INSPECTION ACTIVITIES 

4.1 Introduction 
The principal issues during 1994 from an inspection 
viewpoint were: revision of the Sterile Products Annex of 
the European Community Guide to Good Manufacturing 
Practice and preliminary discussions between the European 
Commis~ion and Australia, Canada, New Zealand, 
Switzerland and the U.S.A. in relation to mutual recognition 
agreements on inspection. The National Drugs Advisory 
Board hosted the Annual Training Seminar of the 
Pharmaceutical Inspection Convention. 

4.2 Licences and Inspections 

4.2.1 Human Medicines 

The Board received 4 applications for manufacturing 
licences under the Medical Preparations (Licensing of 
Manufacture) Regulations. Recommendations to licence 
were made to the Department of Health in respect of 3 
applications. One application was rejected. Two licences 
were withdrawn by the manufacturers. One application 
was under consideration at the end of the year. At the end 
of the year there were 70 licensed manufacturers of 
medical preparations in the country, 

Seven applications for wholesale licences under the 
Medical Preparations (Wholesale Licences) Regulations 
were received. Recommendations were made to the 
Department of Health in respect of 5 applications. One 
application was withdrawn. One existing licence was with
drawn. Nine applications were under consideration at year 
end. At the end of the year there were 136 wholesalers 
licensed under these Regulations. 

A TOTAL OF 79 INSPECTIONS WERE CONDUCTED DURING THE 

YEAR, CLASSIFIED AS FOLLOWS: 

(I) INSPECTIONS UNDER THE MEDICAL PREPARATIONS 

(LICENSING OF MANUFACTURE) REGULATIONS 1993. 

New Applications 5 

Existing Licence Holders 21 

(/I) INSPECTIONS UNDER THE MEDICAL PREPARATIONS 

(WHOLESALE liCENCES) REGULATIONS 1993. 

New Applications 5 

Existing Licence Holders 31 

(III) INSPECTIONS UNDER THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES 

(VETERINARY MEDfCINAL PRODUCTS) REGULATIONS, 1986. 

New Applications 

Existing licence Holders B 

(IV) OTHER INSPECTIONS B 



(See fol/owing) 
During the year the Board's Inspectors undertook two inspec

tions on behalf of the Department of Health in respect of appli

cations for certificates of Good Manufacturing Pr~ctice. One of 

these applications was from a manufacturer of bulk drug sub
stances and one was from a manufacturer of in vitro diagnos
tics. One inspection of a bulk drug substance manufacturer was 

carried out at the request of,the Therapeutic Goods 
Administration. Australia. Two inspections of contract finished 
testing laboratories were carried out. The Board's Inspeclors 
were present as observers during inspections of three Irish 
based manufacturers which were carried out by the Danish 
Inspectorate on behalf of UNICEF. 

4.2.2 Veterinary Medicines 

In 1994, one application for a manufacturer's licence for veteri· 
nary medicinal products was received by the Board. In addi

tion, four applications were under examination at 3151 
December. 1993. One manufacturer's licence was issued. Four 
applications were under examination at the end of the year. 

One manufacturer's licence was withdrawn. At the end of the 

year there were 21 licensed manufacturers of veterinary medic
inal products in this country. 

4.3 European Community 

4.3.1 Workillg Party Oil COlltrol of Medicilles/Illspectiolls 

One meeting of the working party was held during 1994. 

The principle items dealt with were as follows: 

(I) INSPECTION PROCEDURES 

These were adopted for consultation. 

(II) INSPECT/ON REPORTS 

It was made clear that an inspection report could only be 
obtained from another Member State upon reasoned request. 

In all other circumstances, an agreed abbreviated format. con
firming that a manufacturer is licensed and the dosage forms 
covered by that licence, should be exchanged between 
Member States. 

(III) INSPECTION IN THE FUTURE SYSTEM 

The possible impact of the Future System for licensing of 

medicines in the EU was explored. As the EMEA had yet to 
become fully operational, mechanisms for inspector involve

ment in the assessment of applications were still under discus

sion at year end. 

(IV) REVISION OF GMP GUIDE ANNEX ON STERILE PRODUCTS 

A rapporteur from the Netherlands Inspectorate agreed to pre

pare a draft revision of this Annex. Following consultation with 

industry. a draft was under consideration by EU Inspectorates 
at the end of 1994. It was envisaged that a later draft would be 

released for consultation during 1995. 

(V) MUTUAL RECOGNITION AGREEMENTS ON INSPECTION 

Preliminary discussions took place between the European 

Commission and a number of its trading partners relating to 
mutual recognition agreements on inspection. These other 

countries included Australia. Canada, New Zealand, 
Switzerland and the U.S.A. The Commission target for conclu
sion of these agreements was the end of 1995. 

(vI) CO-ORDINA TlON OF OFFICIAL CONTROL LABORATORIES BY THE 

EUROPEAN PHARMACOPOEIA 

A conference was held in May 1994. The main points which 
emerged from this were the establishment of proficiency stud
ies involving official control laboratories across the EU and 
emphasis on the need for improved communication among 
laboratories. Steps were taken to produce a regular Newsletter. 

65 

4.3.2 Ad Hoc Working Party on Harmonisation 
of Inspections 

One meeting of this Ad Hoc Working Party was held during 

1994. Technical issues, such as Inspector training and 
revision of the Sterile Products Annex. were progressed by 

the Ad Hoc Working Party. 

4.3.3 Guidelines on Good Distribution Practice 

These were published during 1994. The Guidelines 
compliment Directive 92/25/EEC on the "Wholesale 
Distribution of Medicines for Human Use". All licensed 
wholesalers in Ireland' were subsequently made aware of 
these new Guidelines. 

4.4 Other Activities 

4.4.1 Pharmaceutical Inspection Convention 

The Convention for the Mutual Recognition of Inspections 
in respect of the Manufacture of Pharmaceutical Products 

(Pharmaceutical Inspection Convention) entered into force 
in 1971. In 1994. it was operating between eighteen 

countries, namely, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Denmark, 

Finland, France. Germany, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy. 
liechtenstein, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Sweden, 

Switzerland and the United Kingdom. The Convention 

applies to inspection of the manufacture of medicinal and 

related products intended for human use which are subject 
to control under health legislation. It provides that the 

contracting States will exchange, on the basis of inspections. 

such information as is necessary for the health authorities 

in an importing Contracting State to be able to recognise 
inspections carried out in the Contracting State of the 

manufacturer. In order to ensure the efficient functioning 

of the Convention as well as its uniform application in all 
Contracting States, a permanent Committee was 

establishedin accordance with Article 8 of the Convention. 

The Committee is composed of officials from the competent 

authorities of the Contracting States. During 1994, the 

Committee held three meetings, in March,.July and 
November. The main items discussed were the mutual 

training of inspectors, the extension of the Convention to 
other countries, the updating and broadening of the basic 

rules of good manufacturing practice (GMPJ. the format of 

inspection reports exchanged under the terms of the 
Convention, and various practical aspects of the operation 

of the Convention. The future of the Convention was also 

discussed. Member States of the European Union cannot 

be party to a bilateral agreement such as the Convention. 

An alternative PIC Scheme was under discussion at the 
end of 1994. This would allow for provision of inspection 

reports in certain cases and would also continue the 

training activities covered by the Convention. 

The Board's Senior Inspector was part of a group, which 
also included Inspectors from Denmark and The 

Netherlands, which visited a Dutch pharmaceutical 

manufacturing facility during October 1994. The format of 
the visit was that-the Dutch Inspector carried out a two day 
inspection of part of the facility. Afterwards, differences in 

interpretation of GMP guidelines were discussed among the 
three inspectors and a report was prepared for submission 
of the PIC Secretariat. This visit was the last in a series of 
four which had covered plants in Italy, Ireland, Denmark, 
and The Netherlands. These provided valuable training and 
helped considerably towards the harmonisation of 
inspection standards within the Convention. They involved 

the willing collaboration of the companies concerned and 
this is appreciated. 

For the first time since 1982 the Board hosted the annual 
PIC Training Seminar for Inspectors. The Seminar title was 

"Qualification and Validation in Pharmaceutical Manufacture". 

The Seminar took place in Trinity College, Dublin from 

6th-8th July 1994 and was preceded on the 5th July by a 



meeting of the Committee of Officials of the PIC. It was 
attended by 73 delegates representing 17 of the· PIC Member 
States. plus Bulgaria. Canada, Czech Republic. The 
Netherlands, Poland, Slovak Republic. Slovenia. South Africa. 
Turkey and U.S.A. 

Arising from the Seminar it was agreed that four guidance doc
uments should be prepared relating to: Validation Master Plan, 
Installation and Operational Qualification, Process'Validation 
for Non Sterile Products, Cleaning Validation. 

Inspectors from the Netherlands, Australia, United Kingdom 
and Switzerland respectively undertook to draft these docu
ments with final co-ordination and preparation by the Board's 
Inspector Ms. Ann McGee. 

REQUESTS FOR INSPECTION REPORTS UNDER THE 
PHARMACEUTICAL INSPECTION CONVENTION 1994 

Requests received by the Board: 

COUNTRY 

France 

NUMBER OF REQUESTS 

2 

United Kingdom 8 

Netherlands 

TOTAL REQUESTS RECEIVED 11 

Requests made by the Board: 

COUNTRY NUMBER OF REQUESTS 

Australia 

Austria 

France 

Germany 

Spain 

Sweden 

Switzerland 

United Kingdom 7 

TOTAL REQUESTS MADE 14 
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5.ADDITIONAL MATTERS 

5.1 Sampling Activities 

In 1994 the National Drugs Advisory Board sampled and 
tested 69 Human and Veterinary Medicinal products. 

The results are summarised as follows: 

5.1.1 Human Medicinal Products 

Data concerning the sampling and analysis of human 
medicinal products is summarised in the table. Post 
marketing samples represented 50.85% as against 38.98% 
pre marketing samples in this category. Approximately 
10% of samples represented suspected adverse drug 
reactions or quality defects. The level of sample non compli
ance to analytical testing was recorded at 16.95%. The 
products sampled included, steroids, non steroidal anti-in 

flammatory drugs, antibiotics, and respiratory drugs. The 
dosage forms were mainly tablets and capsules. The 

parameters under which analytical non compliances were 
noted included: dissolution, disintegration, assay, related 

substances. 

5.1.2 Veterinary Medicinal Products 

Data concerning the sampling and analysis of veterinary 

medicinal products is shown. Pre-marketing samples 
represented some 40% whilst post marketing samples 

constitute 10% of the total. Approximately 50% of samples 

were forwarded arising from suspeCted adverse drug 

reactions or quality defects. The level of sample non 
compliance to analytical testing was recorded at 50%. The 

products tested included antibiotics, anthelminthics, 

anaesthetics and teat dips. The dosage forms were mainly 
injectable. The main parameters under which analytical 

non compliances were noted, included: assay of a.ctive. 
assay of preservatives (chemical and antimicrobial>. assay 

robustness. 

SUMMARY CATEGORIES FOR HUMAN 
MEDICINAL PRODUCT SAMPLES 

Sample Number % 

Pre-Marketing 4 

Post-Marketing 1 

Suspected Adverse 

Drug Reactions and 

Quality Defects 5 

TOTAL 10 

Analytical failure 5 

SUMMARY CATEGORIES FOR VETERINARY 
MEDICINAL PRODUCT SAMPLES 

Sample Number 

Pre-Marketing 23 

Post-Marketing 30 

Suspected Adverse 

Drug Reactions and 

Quality Defects 6 

TOTAL 59 

Analytical failure 14 

40 

10 

50 

50 

% 

38.98 

50.85 

10.17 

16.95 
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5.2 Recalls 

5.2.1 Medicinal Products for Human Use 

During 1994 the Board was informed of 19 recalls of 

medicinal products for human use: 

These were categorised as follows: 

labelling Error 

Packaging Error 

Stability Problem 

labelling not compliant with P.A. 

Unauthorised Product 

Broken Tablets 

Adverse Reaction 

lack of Sterility Assurance 

Glass Fragments in Pack 

Precautionary Recall of Blood Product 

Recall of Blood Product due to 

Hepatitis C Transmission 

Chemical Contamination 

Precautionary Recall of Product derived 
from Human Tissue 

Water in pack instead of actual product 

J 

J 

2 

5.2.2 Medicinal Products for Veterinary Use 

During 1994. the Board was not informed of any recalls of 

medicinal products for veterinary use. 

5.2.3 Recalls of Products Manufactured in 
Ireland, but Distributed Entirely Outside Ireland 

During 1994. the Board was informed of four such recalls. 

All related to products for human use. 

The first related to a rogue container,of tablets. As,the 

rogue container apparently originated from a earlier 

packaging operation, remedial action consisted of all 

unused primary packaging present at the end of a 

packaging operation being rejected and destroyed. rather 

than being returned to stock. 

The second related to a low dose tablet failing content 
uniformity requirements when tested by the Board. The 

manufacturer was required to carry out a comprehensive 

review of the manufacturing process. 

The third related to an incorrect carton on a product. The 

manufacturer reviewed its procedures for line clearance 
and re-trained operatives. An existing programme to install 
on-line competent verification systems was accelerated as 

a result of this incident. 

The fourth related to the worldwide withdrawal of a 
product which had failed to meet its end of shelf life 
specification. There were no GMP related issues in this recall. 

5.3 Quality Defects 
During 1994, 44 suspected quality defects were ~eported to 
the Board. Six reports were not substantiated following 

investigation. and two reports could not be investigated as 
the patients concerned did not wish to pursue the complaint. 

In seven cases the cause of the defect could not be 
determined. However. one report which was inconclusive 

at the time of the investigation, led to a recall when the 

same problem occurred with another batch even though the 



source of the defect still could not be found. Of the remaining 

29 reports, eight were considered to constitute major defects in 

the products. Two caution-in-use letters and one batch recall 

resulted from these major defects. 

The accompanying table shows the pharmaceutical form of the 

products classified by the type of defect. The largest single 
cause of complaint related to the appearance of the product: 

most of these complaints were of a minor nature. although two 
resulted in a caution-in-use letter. Broken tablets are a regular 
feature of quality defect reports each year. Some lead to a 
change in packaging by the company concerned or to a review 
of packaging procedures. The complaints relating to broken 
parenteral containers resulted in a com-plete review by the 
company concerned of their packaging line. Label deficiencies 
ranged from missing information on the label to the absence of 

a label. 

Half of the reports related to problems with packaging, relating 
either to container itself or to the packaging procedures used. 
In all but one case changes were made to ensure that the prob

lem did not recur. Of the total number of 36 substantiated com

plaints. twenty resulted in action being taken by the company. 
eight as a primary result of the defect report. with the remain· 

ing 12 reports contributing to the decision to take action. 

Community pharmacists contributed 35% of the reports and 
hospital pharmacists 20%; the remaining reports came from 

product authorisation holders. members of the public and a 

general practitioner. In terms of absolute figures, the number of 

reports coming from community pharmacists has unfortunately 
decreased when compared with previous years. Given the large 

numbers working in community pharmacy their participation is 

particularly important considering the usefulness of the 

scheme in contributing to the quality of medicinal products 
available in Ireland. 

5.4 Information Technology 
Information technology has long been identified as a key 
requirement for the successful operation of the National Drugs 
Advisory Board. 

In early 1993. the Department of Health approved the introduc

tion of new information systems to the Board. A local area net
work was purchased and an agreement for the purchase of 

database software running in a Client-Server architecture was 

signed in Spring 1993. A detailed system speCification was 

completed by June 1993. and work commenced on the design 
of the software. The system aimed to address the principal 

requirements of the Board. which include: 

Application/Inspection Tracking and Scheduling; Adverse 
Reaction Recording and Monitoring; Improved Management 

Information Systems. Design. testing and training took place 

over a twelve month period. The first version of the product 

database sohware was delivered in mind-1994. and the live 

operation of all database applications is scheduled for comple· 
tion in 1996. To date the following applications have been SUC

cessfully implemented: Human Product Database; Veterinary 

Product Database; Clinical Trial Database. Systems for adverse 
reaction monitoring and for inspectorate scheduling are at an 

advanced planning stage. Improved wordprocessing facilities 
have also been put in place and the pharmaceutical industry 
has been encouraged to submit part of the dossier on diskette. 
Other developments have included electronic mail. network 
scheduling and graphics applications. Communications facili

ties allowing access to international databases have been 
established. 

Significant benefits·have already been achieved by the intro
duction of information technology. with the elimination of 
many manual procedures and an improvement in the quality of 

management information. Each assessor has a personal com
puter with access to information on every product application 
submitted to the Board. 

Future developments will include the upgrading of 

accounting software. Internet connection and the installation 

OM 

of CD·ROM archiving systems. It is also hoped to replace 

older personal computers in 1996. The Board continues to 

be actively involved in telematics developments within 

the EU. 

5.5 Contact Lens Care Products 
Following the implementation of Directive 93/42/EEC on 

medical devices in 1994. the National Standards Association 
of Ireland became the notified body with the responsibility 
for the assessment of medical devices in Ireland. A number 
of products have hitherto been classed as medicinal 
products in Ireland but which clearly fall under the medical 
device directive. including preparations used for the care 
of contact lenses. It was therefore decided in 1994 that such 
products would no longer be required to hold product 

authorisation issued by the National Drugs Advisory Board 
and that work on such products inhouse including amend
ments and renewals etc. would be suspended since the 
responsibility for such products no longer fell under the 

definition of medicinal products and therefore outside the 
remit of the National Drugs Advisory Board. 

5.6 Homeopathic Medical Preparations 
In 1994. discussion took place with officers of the 

Department of Health on the implementation of Directive 

92fl3/EEC in relation to homeopathic medical preparations. 

Hitherto such products are not required to be authorised in 

Ireland save for their manufacture and wholesaling 
because of an exemption in the 1984 Medical Preparations 

regulations. However it is proposed to implement Directive 

92(13 with the intention to utilise the rapid notification 

procedure as laid down in that directive where appropriate 

for homeopathic medical preparations used orally or 
topically which do not make a specific medical claim. 

5.7 Karolus Programme 
Under the programme for exchange of offic:ial~ from 

different member states within the European Union. 1993 

and 1994 focused officials in the health care area in general. 
As a result of this. Ireland was asked to receive a visiting 

pharmacist from Denmark to work alongside the pharmacy 

assessors in the National Drugs Advisory Board in the 
evaluation of applications. Mr. Lars Olsen spent three 

months from May to July 1994 working alongside other 

pharmacy assessors under the general direction of the 
Senior Pharmacist. The visit provided a very useful 

opportunity to exchange ideas and working methods for 

the assessment of applications and it was encouraging to 

note that the applied by the Danish standards were very 
similar to those applied within Ireland. 

5.8 Pharmaceutical Evaluation Report 
Scheme (PER) 

Ireland has been an observer at the PER meetings for the 

last two years and in 1994 it was decided to seek formal 
membership of the scheme which provided for the 
evaluation and the sharing and circulation of evaluation 

reports on new active substances by regulatory authorities 
who are members of the scheme. These include 
Scandinavian countries. certain European countries and 
North American countries. Meetings of this group are held 

normally twice yearly and in addition to the evaluation 
reports. there is the opportunity for participating in useful 
seminars and exchange of ideas on an informal nature. 



5.9 Product Names 
The Board last made a statement about product naming in its 

1989 Annual Report. During 1994, policy on advice to compa
nies relating to brand names was reviewed in association with 

representatives from the pharmaceutical industry. It was 
agreed that the Board should work closely with the industry in 

devising guidelines which would be helpful to pharmaceutical 
companies in their approach to the selecting of brand names. 

The Board wishes to restate its concern in relation to brand 
names where the use of a particular brand name may lead to a 

real or potential safety hazard during the usage of a medicinal 
product. There afe still a number of possible cases in which 
brand names of medicinal product on the market are tiable to 
be confused in writing or in speech with those of other medici
nal products. 

One area were this can occur relates to the development of 

brand names from a common root which may often refer to the 
name of the authorisation holder or manufacturer of t~e prod
uct. Companies are advised that development of brand names 

based upon such roots may often lead to confusion since total· 

Iy different medicinal product may end up with similar brand 

names. 

Another anoia of concern"relates to the development of a brand 

name based upon the usage of part of the approved name of 

the active ingredient. While this may not necessarily result in a 

safety hazard unless a different active ingredient is intended, it 
is also a policy that must be discouraged since it-is liable to 

give an unfair commercial advantage to the users of such 

names which are very similar to the approved name of the 
drug. Such an approach is also prohibited by European 

Directives and by general rules of procedure for developing 

international non-proprietary names developed and widely cir
culated by the WHO. 

Until a more formal set of agreed guidelines are developed 
these general indications should be borne in mind by pharma
ceutical companies in the development of their brand names 
for products on the market in Ireland. 

Quality Defects Reports 1994 

Product Container Labelling Broken 
Typ. Packaging 

Tablets 1 1" 3 

Capsules l' 

Parenterals 2 4 

Oral liquids 1 

Powder 1 
for oral liquids 

Inhalers 

Eye Drops 

Transdermal 1 
patch 

Total 2 6 7 

a: one report for two dosage forms 

b: one report of defective and missing tablets 

c: equivalent to 36 reports 

Leaking Appearanca 

3b 

1 1 

4 

2 

1 

1 

1 11 

Missing Deterioration Mixup Odour low ADR Total 
Product fill 

1b 1 1 11 

1 4 

1 11 

3 

2 

1 2 1 5 

1 1 

1 

2 1 1 3 1 2 38' 
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6.STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS (DRAFT) NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 1994 

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 

1994 1993 
1. INCOME RECEIVABLE 1994 1993 

IR£ IR£ 

IR£ IR£ Department of Health: 

Income receivable 1,771,006.57 1.766,903.61 Non·Capital Allowance 1.450,000.00 1.415,000.00 

Less: Expenditure (1,942,211.971 1.700,919.34 Capital Grant 10,000.00 70,306.77 

Deficit/Surplus for the Year (171,205.401 65,984.27 1.460,000.00 1,485,306.77 

Balance brought forward Less: Transfer to capital reserve 
, January 1994 242,256.27 176,272.00 re purchase of fixed assets 1113,377.46) (134,746.341 

Balance carried forward LICENSING FEES 
31 December 1994 71,050.87 242,256.27 

Clinical Trials: 

BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 1994 
Amendment Fees 16,120.00 16,710.00 

1994 1993 
Application Fees 1,540.00 1,385.00 

IR£ IR£ 
Human Medicines: 

FIXED ASSETS 190,651.15 
Amendment Fees 137,185.00 142,448.00 

221,655.61 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Miscellaneous 404.31 547.68 

Debtors and payments in advance 68,730.19 40,443.54 
Veterinary Medicines: 

Stock of stationery and oil 14,897.52 7,778.22 
Manufacturer's Licence Fees 20,412.50 16,727.50 

Cash"on hand and at bank 10,687.17 209,351.70 
Product Authorisation Fees 226,880.00 231,888.00 

94,314.88 257,573.46 
Amendment Fees 19,190.00 6,545.00 

LESS: CURRENT LIABILITIES 
421,731.81 416,231.18 

Creditors and Accruals 23.264.74 15,317.72 
Deposit interest 245.34 112.00 

PHARMACEUTICAL INSPECTION 
CONVENTION SEMINAR 

NET CURRENT ASSETS 71,050.14 242,255.74 Profit 2,406.88 

TOTAL NET ASSETS 292,705.75 432,906.89 1,771,006.57 1,7666,903.61 

FINANCED BY: 

Income and expenditure account 71,050.87 242,256.27 

Capital reserve 221,654.88 190,650.42 

292.705.75 432,906.69 
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SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURE FIXED ASSETS 

1994 1993 1994 1993 

IR[ IR[ IR[ IR[ 

ESTABLISHMENT: Balance 1 January 1994 

Operating Lease Rentals: Computers 189,853.71 188,504.15 
Rent 168,600.03 144,917.00 

Furniture, Finings 

Rates 25,429.91 40,012.84 and Equipment 271,653.44 138,356.66 

Insurance 9,969.17 7,711.03 

Repairs and maintenance 94.496.71 72,995.50 Additions during year 

Light and heat 16,736.96 12,764.70 Computers 81,772.54 83,149.29 

Cleaning 16,152.66 13,586.95 Furniture. Finings 

and Equipment 31,604.92 51,597.05 
331,385.44 219.988.02 

113,377.46 134,746.34 
ADMINISTRATION: 

Disposals during year (100.001 
Salaries 1,265,252.86 1,121,465.33 

Postage 15,090.02 6.730.69 
Balance 31 December 1994 574.884.61 461,507.15 

Printing and Stationery 54,676.61 38,416.84 
Accumulative Depreciation 

Publications 19,268.35 9,053.44 
Balance at 1 January 1994 270,856.00 209,255.00 

Sampling and analysis 43,512.00 39,035.90 
Chaege for the year 83,373.00 61,701.00 

Advertising 9,672.56 2,610.86 
On Disposals (100.00) 

Auditors' fees 5,767.18 3,367.98 
Balance at 31 December 1994 353,229.00 270,856.00 

Legal fees 4,933.78 6,506.00 
NET BOOK VALUE 

Consultancy fees 12,796.62 36.143.53 
31 December 1994 221,655.61 190,651.15 

Telephone and telex and fax 25,845.80 20,066.20 
CAPITAL RESERVE 

Sundry expenses 391.79 288.76 
1993 1992 

Computer analysis 200.00 387.20 
IR[ IR[ 

Leasing Charges 14,879.10 13,250.40 
Balance 1 January 1994 190,650.42 117,605.08 

Document storage 29,512.46 8,826 
Transfer from income receivable re: 

Travelling and Representation 
Expenses expenses-Board 26,896.65 26,941.53 Purchase of fixed assets 113,377.46 134,746.34 

Travelling and Representation Depreciation (82,373.00) 161,701.00) 

Expenses expenses-Staff 80,488.25 74,523.38 
Balance 31 December 1994 221,654.88 190,650.42 

Travelling and Representation 

Expenses expenses-Other 331.11 789.40 

Gain on disposal of fixed assets (100.00) 

1,609,605.14 1,408,348.81 

FINANCIAL: 

Bank interest and charges 1,221.39 582.51 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 1,942,211.97 1,700,919.34 
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APPENDIX A 

Rules relating to marketing authorisations of medicinal 
products in the Europeall Commullity: 

HUMAN MEDICINES 
Council Regulation No IEEe) 2309/93 of 22 July 1993 laying 
down Community procedures for the authorisation and super
vision of medicinal products for human and veterinary use and 
establishing a European Agency for the Evaluation of Medicinal 
Products (O.J. No L 214 of 24.8.3), 

Council Directive 65/65/EEC of 26 January 1965 on the approxi· 
mation of provisions laid down by law, regulation or adminis

trative action relating to proprietary medicinal products (O.J. 

No 22 of 9.2.651. 

Council Directive 75/319/EEC of 20 May 1975 on the approxima
tion of provisions laid down by law, regulation or administra
tive action relating to proprietary medicinal products (O.J. No L 

147 of 9.6.751. 

Council Directive 89/342{EEC of 3 May 1989 extending the 

scope of Directives 65/65/EEC and 7S/319/EEC and laying down 

additional provisions for immunological medicinal products 

consisting of vaccines. toxins or serums and allergens {O.J. No 

L 142 of 25.5.891. 

Council Directive 89!343/EEC of 3 May 1989 extending the 

scope of Directives 65/65/EEC and 75/319!EEC and laying down 

additional provisions for radiopharmaceuticals (O.J. No l 142 

of 25.5.891. 

Council Directive 89/3S1/EEC of 14 June 1989 extending the 

scope of Directives 65/65/EEC and 75/319/EEC on the approxi
mation of provisions laid down by law, regulation or adminis

trative action relating to proprietary medicinal products and 

laying down special provisions for medicinal products derived 
from human blood or human plasma (O.J. No L 181 or 28.6.89). 

Council Directive 92n3/EEC of 22 September 1992 widening the 

scope of Directive 65/65/EEC and 75/319/EEC on the approxima

tion of provisions laid down by law, regulation or administra
tive action relating to medicinal products and laying down 

additional provisions on homeopathic medicinal products (O.J. 

No L 297 of 13.10.921. 

Council Directive 93/41/EEC of 14 June 1993 repealing Directive 

87/221EEC on the approximation of national measures relating 

to the placing on the market of high technology medicinal 
products, particularly those derived from biotechnology (O.J. 

No L 214 of 24.8.931. 

Council Directive 75/318!EEC of 20 May 1975 on the approxima
tion of the laws of Member States relating to analytical, phar

macotoxicological and clinical standards and protocols in 

respect of the testing of proprietary medicinal products (O.J. 

No L 147 of 9.6.751. 

Commission Directive 91/356/EEC of 13 June 1991 laying down 
the principles and guidelines of good manufacturing practice 
for medicinal products for human use {O.J. No L 193 of 

17.7.911. 

Council Directive 92/25/EEC of 31 March 1992 on the wholesale 
distribution of medicinal products for human use (O.J. No L 

113 of 30.4.921. 

Council Directive 92J26/EEC of 31 March 1992 concerning the 
classification for the supply of medicinal products for human 

use IO.J. No L 113 of 30.4.921. 

Council Directive 92/27/EEC of 31 March 1992 on the labelling 
of medicinal products for human use and on package leaflets 

IO.J. No L 113 of 30.4.921. 

Council Directive 92/28/EEC of 31 March 1992 on the advertis-

" 

ing of medicinal products for human use (O.J. No L 113 of 

30.4.921. 

Amending texts 
Council Directive 83/570lEEC of 26 October 1983 amending 

Directives 65/65/EEC. 75/318/EEC and 75/319/EEC on the 
approximation of provisions laid down by law, regulation 
or administrative action relating to proprietary medicinal 
products (O.J. No L 332 of 28.'1.83)' 

Council Directive 87/19/EEC of 22 December 1986 amending 
Directive 75/318/EEC on the approximation of the laws of 
the Member Slates relating to analytical, pharmacotoxicol
ogical and clinical standards and protocols in respect of the 
testing of proprietary medicinal products (O.J. No L 15 of 
17.1.87). 

Council Directive 87/21!EEC of 22 December 1986 amending 
Directive 65/65!EEC on the approximation of provisions laid 
down by law, regulation or administrative action relating to 

proprietary medicinal products (O.J. No L of 15 of 17.1.87). 

Council Directive 89/341/EEC of 3 May 1989 amending 

Directives 65/65/EEC, 75/318/EEC and 75/319/EEC on the 
approximation of provisions laid down by law, regulation 

or administrative action relating to proprietary medicinal 

products (O.J. No L 142 of 25.5.89). 

Commission Directive 91/507/EEC of 19 July 1991 

modifying the Annex to Council Directive 75{318{EEC on 

the approximation of the laws of Member States relating 
to analytical, pharmacotoxicological and clinical standards 

and protocols in respect of the testing of medicinal products 

IO.J. No L 270 of 26.9.911. 

Council Directive 93/39/EEC of 14 June 1993, amending 

Directives 65/65!EEC, 75/318/EEC and 75/319/EEC in respect 
of medicinal products (O.J. No L 214 of 24.8.93). 

Pharmaceutical Committee 
Council Decision 75/320/EEC of 20 May 1975 setting up a 
Pharmaceutical Comminee (O.J. No L 147 of 9.6.75). 

Socio-Economics Environment for 
Medicinal Products for Human Use 
Council Directive 89/l05!EEC of 21 December 1988 relating 

to the transparency of measures regulating the pricing of 

medicinal products for human use and their inclusion 
within the scope of national health insurance systems 

(O.J. No L 40 of 11.2.891. 

Commission Communication on the compatibility with 

Article 30 of the EEC Treaty of measures taken by Member 

States relating to price controls and reimbursement of 
medicinal products (O.J. No C 310 of 4.12.86). 

Council Regulation No (EEC) 1768/92 of 18 June 1992 
concerning the creation of a supplementary protection 
certificate for medicinal products (O.J. No L 182 of 2.7.92). 

Commission Communication on parallel imports of 
proprietary medicinal products for which marketing 
authorisations have already been granted 

IO.J. No C 115 of 6.5.821. 

OTHER TEXTS 
Council Directive 78J25/EEC of 12 December 1977 on the 
approximation of the laws of the Member States relating 
to the colouring matters which may be added to medicinal 

products (O.J. No L 11 of 14.1.78). 

Council Directive 90/219IEEC of 23 April 1990 on the 
contained use of genetically modified micro-organisms 



IO.J. No L 117 of 8.5.901. 

Commission Decision 91{448/EEC of 29 July 1991 

concerning the guidelines for classification referred to in 
Article 4 of Directive 90/219/EEC (O.J. No L 239 of 28.8.91), 

Council Directive 90/220/EEC of 23 April 1990 on the 

deliberate release into the environment of genetically modified 
organisms (O.J. No L 117 of 8.5.90). 

Council Directive 90/679/EEC of 26 November 1990 on the pro
tection of workers from risks related to exposure to biological 
agents at work (seventh individual Directive within the meaning 
of Article 16(1) of Directive 89/391/EEC) (O.J. No L 374 of 
31.12.901. 

Council Directive 87/18/EEC of 18 December 1986 on the har
monisation of laws, regulations or administrative provisions 
relating to the application of the principles of good laboratory 

practice and the verification of their applications for tests on 
chemical substances (O.J. No L 15 of 17.1.87J. 

Council Directive 88/320/EEC of 9 June 1988 on the inspection 
and verification of Good Laboratory Practice (GLP) (O.J. No L 

145 of 11.6.881. 

Council Directive 90/18IEEC of 18 December 1989 adapting to 

technical progress the Annex to Council Directive 88!3201EEC 
on the inspection and verification of Good Laboratory Practice 

IGLPIIO.J. No L 11 du 13.1.901. 

Council Directive 86/609/EEC of 24 November 1986 on the 

approximation of laws, regulations and administrative provi

sions of the Member States regarding the protection of animals 
used for experimental and other scientific purposes to.J. No L 

358 of 18.12.861. 

Council Directive 85/374/EEC of 25 July 1985 on the approxima

tion of the laws, regulations and administrative provisions of 
the Member States concerning liability for defective products 

IO.J. No L 210 of 7.8.851. 

Council Directive 83/189/EEC of 28 March 1983 laying down a 
procedure for the provision of information in the field of techni

cal standards and regulations (O.J. No L 109 of 26.4.83J. 

Council Directive 88/182/EEC of 22 March 1988 amending 
Directive 83/189/EEC laying down a procedure for the provision 

of information in the field of technical standards and regula· 

tions IO.J. No L 81 of 26.3.881. 

VETERINARY MEDICINES 

Council Regulation (EEC) No 2309/93 of 22 July 1993 laying 
down Community procedures for the authorisation and super

vision of medicinal products for human and veterinary use and 

establishing a European Agency for the Evaluation of Medicinal 

Products IO.J. No L 214 of 24.8.931. 

Extract from Council Directive 65/65/EEC of 26 January 1965 on 
the approximation of provisions laid down by law, regulation 

or administrative action relating to proprietary medicinal prod
ucts (O.J. No 22 of 9.2.65). 

Council Directive 81/851/EEC of 28 September 1981 on the 
approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to vet
erinary medicinal products (O.J. No L 317 of 6.11.81). 

Council Directive 90/677/EEC of 13 December 1990 extending 
the scope of Directive 81/851/EEC on the approximation of the 
laws of the Member States relating to veterinary medicinal 
products and laying down additional provisions for immuno

logical veterinary medicinal products (O.J. No L 373 of 

31.12.901. 

Council Directive 92!74/EEC of 22 September 1992 widening the 
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scope of Directive 91/851/EEC on the approximation of the 

laws of the Member States relating to veterinary medicinal 
products and laying down additional provisions for homeo

pathic veterinary medicinal products (O.J. No L 297 of 

13.10.921. 

Council Decision 93/41/EEC of 14 June 1993 repealing 
Directive 87/22/EEC on the approximation of national 
measures relating to the placing on the market of high

technology medicinal products, particularly those derived 
from biotechnology (O.J. No L 214 of 24.8.931. 

Council Directive 81/852/EEC of 28 September 1981 on the 
approximation of the laws of the Member States relating 
to analytical, pharmacotoxicological and clinical standards 
and protocols in respect of the testing of veterinary 
medicinal products (O.J. No L 317 of 6.11.81). 

Commission Directive 91/412/EEC of 23 July 1991 laying 
down the principles and guidelines of good manufacturing 

practice for veterinary medicinal products (O.J. No L 228 of 

17.8.911. 

Amending Texts 

Council Directive 87/20/EEC of 22 December 1986 amending 

Directive 81/852/EEC on the approximation of the laws of 

the Member States relating to analytical, pharmacotoxicol
ogical and clinical standards and protocols in respect of 

the testing of veterinary medicinal products 

IO.J. No L 15 of 17.1.871. 

Council Directive 90/676/EEC of 13 December 1990 
amending Directive 81/851/EEC on the approximation of 
the laws of the Member States relating to veterinary 

medicinal products (O.J. No L 373 of 31.12.90J. 

Commission Directive 92118/EEC of 20 March 1992 

modifying the Annex to Council Directive 811852/EEC on 
the approximation of the laws of MemOer States relating 

to analytical, pharmacotoxicological and clinical standards 

and protocols in respect of the testing to veterinary 
medicinal products (O.J. No L 97 of 10.4.92J. 

Council Directive 93/40/EEC of 14 June 1993 amending 
Directives 81/851/EEC and 81/852/EEC on the approximation 

of the laws of the Member States relating to veterinary 
medicinal products (O.J. No L 214 of 24.8.931. 

Maximum residue limits for Veterinary 
Medical Products in Foodstuffs of Animal 
Origin 
Council Regulation (EEC) No 2377/90 of 26 June 1990 

laying down a Community procedure for the establishment 

of maximum residue limits for veterinary medicinal 

products in foodstuffs of animal origin (O.J. No L 224 of 
18.8.901. 

Amending Texts 
Council Regulation tEEC) No 675/92 of 18 March 1992 
amending Annexes I and III to Council Regulation (EEC) No 

2377/90 laying down a Community procedure for the 
establishment of maximum residue limits of veterinary 
medicinal products in foodstuffs of animal origin 
IO.J. No L 73 of 19.3.931. 

Council Regulation (EEC) No 762/92 of 27 March 1992 
modifying Annex V to Council Regulation (EEC) No 2377/90 
laying down a Community procedure for the establishment 
of maximum residue limits of veterinary medicinal products 
in foodstuffs of animal origin (O.J. No L 83 of 28.3.92). 

Council Regulation (EEC) No 3093/92 of 27 October 1992 

amending Annex III to Council Regulation (EEC) No 2377/90 

laying down a Community procedure for the establishment 

of maximum residue limits of veterinary medicinal products 



in foodstuffs of animal origin (O.J. No L 311 of 28.-10.92). 

Council Regulation (EEC) No 895/93 of 16 April 1993 
amending Annexes f, II and III to Council Regulation (EEC) 
No 2377/90 laying down a Community procedure for the 
establishment of maximum residue limits of veterinary 
medicinal products in foodstuffs of animal origin (O.J. L 93 

of 17.4.931. 

Council Regulation (EEC) No 2901/93 of 18 October 1993 
amending Annexes I. II, [II and IV to Council Regulation 
(EEC) No 2377/90 laying down-a Community procedure for 
the establishment of maximum residue limits of veterinary 
medicinal products in foodstuffs of animal origin 
IO.J. No L 264 of 23.10.931. 

Economic Environment for Veterinary 
Medical Products 
Council Regulation (EEC) No 1768/92 of 18 June 1992 concern
ing the creation of a supplementary protection certificate for 
medicinal products (O.J. No L 182 of 2.7.92). 

OTHER TEXTS 

Council Directive 78/25!EEC of 12 December 1977 on the 
approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to the 
colouring matters which may be added to medicinal products 

IO.J. No L" of 14.1.781. 

Council Directive 90/167/EEC of 26 March 1990 laying down the 
conditions governing the preparation, placing on the market 
and use of medicated feedingstuffs in the Community (O.J. No 
L 92 of 7.4.901. 

Council Directive 90/219/EEC of 23 April 1991 on the contained 
use of genetically modified organisms (O.J. No L 117 of 8.5.90). 

Commission Decision 91/448/EEC of 29 July 1991 concerning 
the gui.delines for classification referred to in Article 4 of 
Directive 90/219!EEC IO.J. No L 239 of 28.8.911. 

Council Directive 90/220!EEC of 23 April 1991 on the deliberate 
release into the environment of genetically modified organisms 
IO.J. No L 117 of 8.5.901. 

Council Directive 90/679/EEC of 26 November 1990 on the pro
tection of workers from risks relating to biological agents at 
work IO.J. No L 374 of 31.12.901. 

Council Directive 87118/EEC of 18 December 1986 on the har
monisation of laws, regulations and administrative provisions 
relating to Hie application of the principles of good laboratory 
practice and the verification of their applications for tests on 
chemicals (O.J. No L 15 of 17.1.87), 

Council Directive 88/320/EEC of 9 June 1988 on the inspection 
and verification of Good laboratory Practice (GLP) (O.J. No L 

145 of 11.6.881. 

Commission Directive 90/18/EEC of '8 December 1989 adapting 
to technical progress the annex to Council Directive 88/320/EEC 
on the inspection and verification of Good Laboratory Practice 
IGLPIIO.J. No L 11 of 13.1.901. 

Council Directive 86/609!EEC of 24 November 1986 on the 
approximation of laws, regulations and administrative provi
sions of the Member States regarding the protection of animals 
used for experimental and other scientific purposes (O.J. No L 
358 of 18.12.861. 

Council Directive 83/189/EEC of 28 March 1983 laying down'a 
procedure for the provision of information in the field of techni
cal standards and regulations (as subsequently amended by 
Directive 88/182JEEC and Commission Decision 92/400/EEC) 
IO.J. No L 109 of 26/4.831. 

Council Directive 88/182/EEC of 22 March 1988 amending 
7. 

Directive 83/189/EEC laying down a procedure for the 
provision of information in the field of technical standards 
and regulations (O.J. No L 81 of 26.3.88). 



APPENDIX B 

Abbreviations: 

ADR 

APHA 

CPMP 

CVMP 

EMEA 

ENS 

GLP 

GMO 

GMP 

ICH 

IPHA 

ITCVDR 

IVMP 

MCA 

MRC 

MRL 

NCE 

PA 

PIC 

PMS 

SPC 

VMD 

WHO 

Adverse Drug Reaction 

Animal and Plant Heatthcare Association 

Committee fo-r Proprietary Medicinal Products 

Committee for Veterinary Medicinal Products 

European Medicines Evaluation Agency 

European Network System 

Good Laboratory Practice 

Genetically Modified Organism 

Good Manufacturing Practice 

International Conference on Harmonisation 

Irish Pharmaceutical Healthcare Association 

International Technical Consultation on 

Veterinary Drug Registration 

Immunological Veterinary Medicinal Product 

Medicine.s Control Agency 

Medical Research Council (UK) 

Maximum Residue Limit 

New Chemical Entity 

Product Authorisation 

Pharmaceutical Inspection Convention 

Post-Marketing Surveillance 

Summary of Product Characteristics 

Veterinary Medicines Directorate 

World Health Organisation 
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National Drugs Advisory Board 
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